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General

·

The Tracker Notes (the “securities”) are linked to a basket of three indices and are designed for investors
who seek a return at maturity that offers exposure to 1.0 times any increase or decrease in the level of the
S&P 500® Total Return Index (the “S&P Index”), 1.8 times any increase or decrease in the level of the
Deutsche Bank Equity Risk Premia 5% VT Portfolio — USD — Excess Return Index (the “Portfolio Index”) and
2.2 times any increase or decrease in the level of the Deutsche Bank ProVol Hedge Index (the “ProVol
Hedge Index”). We refer to each of the S&P Index, the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index as a
“Basket Component,” and together, the “Basket Components.” The return of each Basket Component is
reduced by its respective Adjustment Factor.

·The securities will be redeemed early upon the occurrence of a Redemption Trigger Event, in which case investorswill lose a significant portion or all of their investment.

·

The Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index each include embedded costs and fees that will reduce their
respective closing levels. Such embedded costs and fees are separate from, and in addition to, the Adjustment Factors
for the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index and will adversely affect your return on the securities. Moreover,
the adverse effect of such embedded costs and fees will be increased by the securities’ leveraged exposure to the
Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index.

·

The securities do not pay any coupons or dividends and investors should be willing to lose some or all of their initial
investment if the components underlying the Basket Components as a whole decrease or fail to increase sufficiently
to offset the effect of the applicable Adjustment Factors and all costs and fees embedded in such Basket Components.
Any payment on the securities is subject to the credit of the Issuer.

· Senior unsecured obligations of Deutsche Bank AG due August 22, 2018

·Minimum purchase of $1,000. Minimum denominations of $1,000 (the “Face Amount”) and integral multiples thereof.
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·The securities priced on August 17, 2016 (the “Trade Date”) and are expected to settle on August 22, 2016 (the“Settlement Date”).

Key Terms

Issuer: Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Issue
Price: 100% of the Face Amount

Basket: The securities are linked to the performance of a basket consisting of three Basket Components as set forth
in the table below.

Basket Component Ticker
Symbol

Basket Component
Weighting

Initial
Level

S&P 500® Total Return Index (the “S&P Index”) SPTR 100.00% 4,138.419

Deutsche Bank Equity Risk Premia 5% VT Portfolio —
USD — Excess Return Index (the “Portfolio Index”) DBGLRP5U 180.00% 2,726.97

Deutsche Bank ProVol Hedge Index (the “ProVol
Hedge Index”) DBVEPVH 220.00% 796.77

(Key Terms continued on next page)

Investing in the securities involves a number of risks. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 13 of the
accompanying prospectus, page PS-5 of the accompanying prospectus supplement and page PS-13 of this
pricing supplement.

The Issuer’s estimated value of the securities on the Trade Date is $999.00 per $1,000 Face Amount of securities,
which is less than the Issue Price. Please see “Issuer’s Estimated Value of the Securities” on page PS-4 of this
pricing supplement for additional information.

By acquiring the securities, you will be bound by and deemed irrevocably to consent to the imposition of any
Resolution Measure (as defined below) by the competent resolution authority, which may include the write
down of all, or a portion, of any payment on the securities or the conversion of the securities into ordinary
shares or other instruments of ownership. If any Resolution Measure becomes applicable to us, you may lose
some or all of your investment in the securities. Please see “Resolution Measures and Deemed Agreement” on
page PS-5 of this pricing supplement for more information.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of
the securities or passed upon the accuracy or the adequacy of this pricing supplement or the accompanying underlying
supplements, prospectus supplement or prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
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Price to Public Maximum Discounts and Commissions(1) Minimum Proceeds to Us
Per Security $1,000.00 $1.00 $999.00

Total $18,324,326.00 $16,674.00 $18,307,652.00

(1)
For more detailed information about discounts and commissions, please see “Supplemental Plan of Distribution
(Conflicts of Interest)” in this pricing supplement. The securities will be sold with varying underwriting discounts
and commissions in an amount not to exceed $1.00 per $1,000 Face Amount of securities.

The agent for this offering is our affiliate. For more information, see “Supplemental Plan of Distribution (Conflicts of
Interest)” in this pricing supplement.

The securities are not deposits or savings accounts and are not insured or guaranteed by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation or any other U.S. or foreign governmental agency or instrumentality.

Deutsche Bank Securities

August 17, 2016
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Redemption
Amount:

At maturity or upon the occurrence of a Redemption Trigger Event, you will receive a cash payment
per $1,000 Face Amount of securities on the Maturity Date or the Redemption Trigger Payment Date,
as applicable, calculated as follows:

$1,000  x(Final Basket Level )Initial Basket Level

Your investment will be fully exposed to 1.0 times any increase or decrease in the level of the S&P
Index, 1.8 times any increase or decrease in the level of the Portfolio Index and 2.2 times any increase
or decrease in the level of the ProVol Hedge Index. Due to the leverage feature of the securities, any
negative returns of the Basket Components will be combined, resulting in a leveraged loss on your
investment. The return of each Basket Component is reduced by its applicable Adjustment Factor
regardless of whether the level of such Basket Component increases or decreases.

Furthermore, both the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index include embedded costs and fees
that will reduce their respective levels. Such embedded costs and fees are separate from, and in addition
to, the Adjustment Factors for the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index and will adversely affect
your return on the securities. The total annual costs deducted from the level of the Portfolio Index from
October 22, 2013 to, and including, December 31, 2015 have ranged from 1.67% to 1.76% and the
annual index fees deducted from the ProVol Hedge Index from, and including, 2006 to, and including,
2015, have ranged from 0.00% to 6.06%. Because the calculation of the ProVol Hedge Index began on
September 24, 2012, the annual index fees from, and including, 2006 to, and including, September 23,
2012 were retrospectively calculated. The historical costs and fees deducted from the Portfolio Index
and the ProVol Hedge Index should not be taken as an indication of future costs and fees and,
depending on market conditions, such costs and fees could be significantly higher in the future.
Moreover, the adverse effect of such embedded costs and fees will be increased by the securities’
leveraged exposure to the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index. For more information on the
embedded costs and fees for the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index, please see the “Selected
Purchase Considerations” beginning on page PS-11 of this pricing supplement.

You will lose some or all of your initial investment if the components underlying the Basket Components
as a whole decrease or fail to increase sufficiently to offset the effect of the applicable Adjustment
Factors and all costs and fees embedded in such Basket Components. Any payment at maturity or upon
a Redemption Trigger Event is subject to the credit of the Issuer. In no event will the Redemption
Amount be less than zero.

Initial Basket
Level: 100

Final Basket
Level: The Basket Level on the Final Valuation Date or the Redemption Trigger Valuation Date, as applicable

Basket Level:The Basket Level on any trading day will be calculated as follows:
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100 x [1 + S&P Index Performance + (1.8 x Portfolio Index Performance)

+ (2.2 x ProVol Hedge Index Performance)]

The S&P Index Performance, Portfolio Index Performance and ProVol Hedge Index Performance refer
to the Performance of the S&P Index, Portfolio Index and ProVol Hedge Index, respectively.

Performance: The Performance of each Basket Component from its Initial Level to its Final Level will be calculatedas follows:

(  Final Level )xAdjustment Factor  –  1Initial Level

Initial Level:
For each Basket Component, the Closing Level for
such Basket Component on the Trade Date, as set
forth in the table above

Final Level:

For each Basket Component, the Closing Level for
such Basket Component on the Final Valuation Date
or the Redemption Trigger Valuation Date, as
applicable

Closing Level: For each Basket Component, the closing level for
such Basket Component on the applicable trading day

Adjustment Factors: Basket Component Adjustment Factor
S&P Index 0.9990 – (0.0013 x (Days / 365))
Portfolio Index 1 – (0.01 x (Days / 365))
ProVol Hedge Index 1 – (0.0085 x (Days / 365))
where “Days” equals the number of calendar days from,
and including, the Trade Date to, but excluding, the
relevant day of calculation.

Redemption Trigger Event:  

A Redemption Trigger Event occurs if the Basket
Level on any trading day during the period from, but
excluding, the Trade Date to, but excluding, the Final
Valuation Date is less than the Redemption Trigger
Level. If a Redemption Trigger Event occurs, the
securities will be redeemed by the Issuer in whole, but
not in part, on the Redemption Trigger Payment Date
for the Redemption Amount calculated as of the
Redemption Trigger Valuation Date.

Redemption Trigger Level: 40
Trade Date: August 17, 2016

(Key Terms continued on next page)
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(Key Terms continued from previous page)

Settlement Date: August 22, 2016
Final Valuation Date1: August 17, 2018
Redemption Trigger Valuation Date1:The trading day on which a Redemption Trigger Event first occurs

Redemption Trigger Payment Date1: The third business day following the relevant Redemption Trigger ValuationDate
Maturity Date1: August 22, 2018
Listing: The securities will not be listed on any securities exchange.
CUSIP / ISIN: 25152R3U5 / US25152R3U55

1
Subject to adjustment as described under “Description of the Securities — Adjustments to Valuation Dates and Payment
Dates” in this pricing supplement.
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ISSUER’S ESTIMATED VALUE OF THE SECURITIES

The Issuer’s estimated value of the securities is equal to the sum of our valuations of the following two components of
the securities: (i) a bond and (ii) an embedded derivative(s). The value of the bond component of the securities is
calculated based on the present value of the stream of cash payments associated with a conventional bond with a
principal amount equal to the Face Amount of securities, discounted at an internal funding rate, which is determined
primarily based on our market-based yield curve, adjusted to account for our funding needs and objectives for the
period matching the term of the securities. The internal funding rate is typically lower than the rate we would pay
when we issue conventional debt securities on equivalent terms. This difference in funding rate, as well as the agent’s
commissions, if any, and the estimated cost of hedging our obligations under the securities, reduces the economic
terms of the securities to you and is expected to adversely affect the price at which you may be able to sell the
securities in any secondary market. The value of the embedded derivative(s) is calculated based on our internal pricing
models using relevant parameter inputs such as expected interest and dividend rates and mid-market levels of price
and volatility of the assets underlying the securities or any futures, options or swaps related to such underlying assets.
Our internal pricing models are proprietary and rely in part on certain assumptions about future events, which may
prove to be incorrect.

The Issuer’s estimated value of the securities on the Trade Date (as disclosed on the cover of this pricing supplement)
is less than the Issue Price of the securities. The difference between the Issue Price and the Issuer’s estimated value of
the securities on the Trade Date is due to the inclusion in the Issue Price of the agent’s commissions, if any, and the
cost of hedging our obligations under the securities through one or more of our affiliates. Such hedging cost includes
our or our affiliates’ expected cost of providing such hedge, as well as the profit we or our affiliates expect to realize in
consideration for assuming the risks inherent in providing such hedge.

The Issuer’s estimated value of the securities on the Trade Date does not represent the price at which we or any of our
affiliates would be willing to purchase your securities in the secondary market at any time. Assuming no changes in
market conditions or our creditworthiness and other relevant factors, the price, if any, at which we or our affiliates
would be willing to purchase the securities from you in secondary market transactions, if at all, would generally be
lower than both the Issue Price and the Issuer’s estimated value of the securities on the Trade Date. Our purchase price,
if any, in secondary market transactions will be based on the estimated value of the securities determined by reference
to (i) the then-prevailing internal funding rate (adjusted by a spread) or another appropriate measure of our cost of
funds and (ii) our pricing models at that time, less a bid spread determined after taking into account the size of the
repurchase, the nature of the assets underlying the securities and then-prevailing market conditions. The price we
report to financial reporting services and to distributors of our securities for use on customer account statements would
generally be determined on the same basis. However, during the period of approximately three months beginning from
the Trade Date, we or our affiliates may, in our sole discretion, increase the purchase price determined as described
above by an amount equal to the declining differential between the Issue Price and the Issuer’s estimated value of the
securities on the Trade Date, prorated over such period on a straight-line basis, for transactions that are individually
and in the aggregate of the expected size for ordinary secondary market repurchases.

PS-4
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RESOLUTION MEASURES AND DEEMED AGREEMENT

On May 15, 2014, the European Parliament and the Council of the European Union adopted a directive establishing a
framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms (commonly referred to as the
“Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive”). The Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive required each member
state of the European Union to adopt and publish by December 31, 2014 the laws, regulations and administrative
provisions necessary to comply with the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive. Germany adopted the Recovery
and Resolution Act (Sanierungs- und Abwicklungsgesetz, or the “Resolution Act”), which became effective on January
1, 2015. The Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive and the Resolution Act provided national resolution authorities
with a set of resolution powers to intervene in the event that a bank is failing or likely to fail and certain other
conditions are met. From January 1, 2016, the power to initiate resolution measures applicable to significant banking
groups (such as Deutsche Bank Group) in the European Banking Union has been transferred to the European Single
Resolution Board which, based on the European Union regulation establishing uniform rules and a uniform procedure
for the resolution of credit institutions and certain investment firms in the framework of a Single Resolution
Mechanism and a Single Resolution Fund (the “SRM Regulation”), works in close cooperation with the European
Central Bank, the European Commission and the national resolution authorities. Pursuant to the SRM Regulation, the
Resolution Act and other applicable rules and regulations, the securities may be subject to any Resolution Measure by
the competent resolution authority if we become, or are deemed by the competent supervisory authority to have
become, “non-viable” (as defined under the then applicable law) and are unable to continue our regulated banking
activities without a Resolution Measure becoming applicable to us. By acquiring the securities, you will be bound by
and deemed irrevocably to consent to the provisions set forth in the accompanying prospectus, which we have
summarized below.

By acquiring the securities, you will be bound by and deemed irrevocably to consent to the imposition of any
Resolution Measure by the competent resolution authority. Under the relevant resolution laws and regulations as
applicable to us from time to time, the securities may be subject to the powers exercised by the competent resolution
authority to: (i) write down, including to zero, any payment (or delivery obligations) on the securities; (ii) convert the
securities into ordinary shares of (a) the Issuer, (b) any group entity or (c) any bridge bank or other instruments of
ownership of such entities qualifying as common equity tier 1 capital; and/or (iii) apply any other resolution measure
including, but not limited to, any transfer of the securities to another entity, the amendment, modification or variation
of the terms and conditions of the securities or the cancellation of the securities. We refer to each of these measures as
a “Resolution Measure.” A “group entity” refers to an entity that is included in the corporate group subject to a
Resolution Measure. A “bridge bank” refers to a newly chartered German bank that would receive some or all of our
assets, liabilities and material contracts, including those attributable to our branches and subsidiaries, in a resolution
proceeding.

Furthermore, by acquiring the securities, you:

·are deemed irrevocably to have agreed, and you will agree: (i) to be bound by, to acknowledge and to accept any
Resolution Measure and any amendment, modification or variation of the terms and conditions of the securities to
give effect to any Resolution Measure; (ii) that you will have no claim or other right against us arising out of any
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Resolution Measure; and (iii) that the imposition of any Resolution Measure will not constitute a default or an event
of default under the securities, under the senior indenture dated November 22, 2006 among us, Law Debenture Trust
Company of New York, as trustee, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as issuing agent, paying agent,
authenticating agent and registrar, as amended and supplemented from time to time (the “Indenture”), or for the
purposes of, but only to the fullest extent permitted by, the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the “Trust
Indenture Act”);

·

waive, to the fullest extent permitted by the Trust Indenture Act and applicable law, any and all claims against the
trustee and the paying agent, the issuing agent and the registrar (each, an “indenture agent”) for, agree not to initiate a
suit against the trustee or the indenture agents in respect of, and agree that the trustee and the indenture agents will
not be liable for, any action that the trustee or the indenture agents take, or abstain from taking, in either case in
accordance with the imposition of a Resolution Measure by the competent resolution authority with respect to the
securities; and

·

will be deemed irrevocably to have: (i) consented to the imposition of any Resolution Measure as it may be imposed
without any prior notice by the competent resolution authority of its decision to exercise such power with respect to
the securities; (ii) authorized, directed and requested The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) and any direct
participant in DTC or other intermediary through which you hold such securities to take any and all necessary action,
if required, to implement the imposition of any Resolution Measure with respect to the securities as it may be
imposed, without any further action or direction on your part or on the part of the trustee or the indenture agents; and
(iii) acknowledged and accepted that the Resolution Measure provisions described herein and in the “Resolution
Measures” section of the accompanying prospectus are exhaustive on the matters described herein and therein to the
exclusion of any other agreements, arrangements or understandings between you and the Issuer relating to the terms
and conditions of the securities.

This is only a summary, for more information please see the accompanying prospectus dated April 27, 2016, including
the risk factors beginning on page 13 of such prospectus.

PS-5
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ADDITIONAL TERMS SPECIFIC TO THE SECURITIES

You should read this pricing supplement together with underlying supplement No. 1 dated August 17, 2015,
underlying supplement No. 3 dated July 31, 2015, the prospectus supplement dated July 31, 2015 relating to our
Series A global notes of which these securities are a part and the prospectus dated April 27, 2016. When you read the
accompanying underlying supplements and prospectus supplement, please note that all references in such supplements
to the prospectus dated July 31, 2015, or to any sections therein, should refer instead to the accompanying prospectus
dated April 27, 2016 or to the corresponding sections of such prospectus, as applicable, unless otherwise specified or
the context otherwise requires. You may access these documents on the website of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) at.www.sec.gov as follows (or if such address has changed, by reviewing our filings for the
relevant date on the SEC website):

· Underlying supplement No. 1 dated August 17, 2015:
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1159508/000095010315006546/crt_dp58829-424b2.pdf

· Underlying supplement No. 3 dated July 31, 2015:
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1159508/000095010315006054/crt_dp58193-424b2.pdf

·Prospectus supplement dated July 31, 2015:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1159508/000095010315006048/crt-dp58161_424b2.pdf

· Prospectus dated April 27, 2016:
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1159508/000119312516559607/d181910d424b21.pdf

Our Central Index Key, or CIK, on the SEC website is 0001159508. As used in this pricing supplement, “we,” “us” or “our”
refers to Deutsche Bank AG, including, as the context requires, acting through one of its branches.

This pricing supplement, together with the documents listed above, contains the terms of the securities and supersedes
all other prior or contemporaneous oral statements as well as any other written materials including preliminary or
indicative pricing terms, correspondence, trade ideas, structures for implementation, sample structures, brochures or
other educational materials of ours. You should carefully consider, among other things, the matters set forth in this
pricing supplement and in “Risk Factors” in the accompanying prospectus supplement and prospectus, as the securities
involve risks not associated with conventional debt securities. We urge you to consult your investment, legal, tax,
accounting and other advisers before deciding to invest in the securities.

You may revoke your offer to purchase the securities at any time prior to the time at which we accept such
offer by notifying the applicable agent. We reserve the right to change the terms of, or reject any offer to
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purchase, the securities prior to their issuance. We will notify you in the event of any changes to the terms of
the securities and you will be asked to accept such changes in connection with your purchase of any securities.
You may also choose to reject such changes, in which case we may reject your offer to purchase the securities.

PS-6
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HYPOTHETICAL EXAMPLES

The following tables and examples illustrate the hypothetical Redemption Amounts per $1,000 Face Amount of
securities for hypothetical performances of the Basket Components, payable at maturity or upon a Redemption
Trigger Event, as applicable. These examples illustrate that you will lose some or all of your initial investment if the
levels of the Basket Components as a whole decrease or fail to increase sufficiently to offset the effect of the
applicable Adjustment Factors. Your investment will be fully exposed to 1.0 times any increase or decrease in the
level of the S&P Index, 1.8 times any increase or decrease in the level of the Portfolio Index and 2.2 times any
increase or decrease in the level of the ProVol Hedge Index. Due to the leverage feature of the securities, any negative
returns of the Basket Components will be combined, resulting in a leveraged loss on your investment.

The hypothetical Redemption Amounts set forth below are for illustrative purposes only and assume a period of 750
calendar days from the Trade Date to the Final Valuation Date. The actual Initial Levels for each Basket Component
are set forth on the cover of this pricing supplement. The actual amount payable at maturity or upon a Redemption
Trigger Event will be the Redemption Amount, determined based on the performances of the Basket Components on
the Final Valuation Date or the Redemption Trigger Valuation Date, as the case may be. The numbers appearing in the
tables and examples below may have been rounded for ease of analysis.

Redemption Amount at Maturity

The following first five examples illustrate the hypothetical Redemption Amount per $1,000 Face Amount of
securities payable at maturity. For purposes of this table and these examples, it is assumed that a Redemption Trigger
Event does not occur.

Basket Component Performance Excluding
Adjustment Factors

Basket Component Performance Including
Adjustment Factors

Example 1:

S&P Index
50.00% 49.45%

   Portfolio Index 5.00% 2.86%

   ProVol Hedge
Index 10.00% 8.09%

   Final Basket Level – 171.349

Redemption
Amount – $1,713.49
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   Return on the
Securities – 71.349%

Example 2:

S&P Index
1.00% 0.63%

   Portfolio Index 0.50% -1.55%

   ProVol Hedge
Index 1.00% -0.75%

   Final Basket Level – 96.024

Redemption
Amount – $960.24

   Return on the
Securities – -3.976%

Example 3:
   S&P Index 30.00% 29.53%

   Portfolio Index -10.00% -11.84%

   ProVol Hedge
Index -10.00% -11.56%

   Final Basket Level – 82.728

Redemption
Amount – $827.28

   Return on the
Securities – -17.272%

Example 4:

S&P Index
-30.00% -30.26%

   Portfolio Index 10.00% 7.75%

   ProVol Hedge
Index 10.00% 8.09%

   Final Basket Level – 101.437

Redemption
Amount – $1,014.37

   Return on the
Securities – 1.437%

Example 5:

S&P Index
-5.00% -5.35%

   Portfolio Index -10.00% -11.84%

   ProVol Hedge
Index -10.00% -11.56%

   Final Basket Level – 47.856

– $478.56
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Redemption
Amount
   Return on the
Securities – -52.144%

PS-7
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Example 1: The S&P Index increases 50.00%, the Portfolio Index increases 5.00% and the ProVol Hedge Index
increases 10.00% from their respective Initial Levels to their respective Final Levels on the Final Valuation
Date. Assuming a period of 750 calendar days from the Trade Date to the Final Valuation Date, the Final Basket
Level would be 171.349, calculated as follows:

Final Basket Level

=

100 x [1 + S&P Index Performance + (1.8 x Portfolio Index Performance)
+ (2.2 x ProVol Hedge Index Performance)]

=

100 x [1 + (150.00% x (0.9990 – 0.0013 x 750/365) – 1) + (1.8 x (105.00%
x (1 – 0.01 x 750/365) – 1)) + (2.2 x (110.00% x (1 – 0.0085 x 750/365) – 1))]

= 171.349

Accordingly, you would receive a Redemption Amount at maturity of $1,713.49 per $1,000 Face Amount of
securities, calculated as follows:

Redemption Amount =$1,000xFinal Basket LevelInitial Basket Level

=$1,000x171.349100

=$1,713.49

Example 2: The S&P Index increases 1.00%, the Portfolio Index increases 0.50% and the ProVol Hedge Index
increases 1.00% from their respective Initial Levels to their respective Final Levels on the Final Valuation
Date. In this case, even though the Final Level of each Basket Component is greater than its respective Initial Level,
you would receive a Redemption Amount at maturity that is less than $1,000 per $1,000 Face Amount of securities
because the increases in the Final Levels are not sufficient to offset the effect of the respective Adjustment Factors.
Assuming a period of 750 calendar days from the Trade Date to the Final Valuation Date, the Final Basket Level
would be 96.024, calculated as follows:

Final Basket Level

=

100 x [1 + S&P Index Performance + (1.8 x Portfolio Index Performance)

+ (2.2 x ProVol Hedge Index Performance)]
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=

100 x [1 + (101.00% x (0.9990 – 0.0013 x 750/365) – 1) + (1.8 x (100.50%

x (1 – 0.01 x 750/365) – 1)) + (2.2 x (101.00% x (1 – 0.0085 x 750/365) – 1))]

= 96.024

Accordingly, you would receive a Redemption Amount at maturity of $960.24 per $1,000 Face Amount of securities,
calculated as follows:

Redemption Amount =$1,000xFinal Basket LevelInitial Basket Level

=$1,000x96.024100

=$960.24

Example 3: The S&P Index increases 30.00%, the Portfolio Index decreases 10.00% and the ProVol Hedge
Index decreases 10.00% from their respective Initial Levels to their respective Final Levels on the Final
Valuation Date. In this case, even though the Final Level of the S&P Index is greater than its Initial Level, you would
receive a Redemption Amount at maturity that is significantly less than $1,000 per $1,000 Face Amount of securities
because the unleveraged increase in the level of the S&P Index is offset by a greater and leveraged decrease in the
levels of the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index as well as by the effect of the respective Adjustment Factors.
Assuming a period of 750 calendar days from the Trade Date to the Final Valuation Date, the Final Basket Level
would be 82.728, calculated as follows:

PS-8
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Final Basket Level

=

100 x [1 + S&P Index Performance + (1.8 x Portfolio Index Performance)

+ (2.2 x ProVol Hedge Index Performance)]

=

100 x [1 + (130.00% x (0.9990 – 0.0013 x 750/365) – 1) + (1.8 x (90.00%

x (1 – 0.01 x 750/365) – 1)) + (2.2 x (90.00% x (1 – 0.0085 x 750/365) – 1))]

=82.728

Accordingly, you would receive a Redemption Amount at maturity of $827.28 per $1,000 Face Amount of securities,
calculated as follows:

Redemption Amount =$1,000xFinal Basket LevelInitial Basket Level

=$1,000x82.728100

=$827.28

Example 4: The S&P Index decreases 30.00%, the Portfolio Index increases 10.00% and the ProVol Hedge
Index increases 10.00% from their respective Initial Levels to their respective Final Levels on the Final
Valuation Date. In this case, even though the Final Level of the S&P Index is less than its Initial Level, you would
receive a Redemption Amount at maturity that is more than $1,000 per $1,000 Face Amount of securities because the
leveraged increase in the levels of the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index are greater than the unleveraged
decrease in the level of the S&P Index and the effect of the respective Adjustment Factors. Assuming a period of 750
calendar days from the Trade Date to the Final Valuation Date, the Final Basket Level would be 101.437, calculated
as follows:

Final Basket Level

=

100 x [1 + S&P Index Performance + (1.8 x Portfolio Index Performance)

+ (2.2 x ProVol Hedge Index Performance)]

=

100 x [1 + (70.00% x (0.9990 – 0.0013 x 750/365) – 1) + (1.8 x (110.00%

x (1 – 0.01 x 750/365) – 1)) + (2.2 x (110.00% x (1 – 0.0085 x 750/365) – 1))]
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= 101.437

Accordingly, you would receive a Redemption Amount at maturity of $1,014.37 per $1,000 Face Amount of
securities, calculated as follows:

Redemption Amount =$1,000xFinal Basket LevelInitial Basket Level

=$1,000x101.437100

=$1,014.37

Example 5: The S&P Index decreases 5.00%, the Portfolio Index decreases 10.00% and the ProVol Hedge
Index decreases 10.00% from their respective Initial Levels to their respective Final Levels on the Final
Valuation Date. In this case, since the Final Level of each Basket Component is less than its respective Initial Level,
you would receive a Redemption Amount at maturity that is significantly less than $1,000 per $1,000 Face Amount of
securities. Assuming a period of 750 calendar days from the Trade Date to the Final Valuation Date, the Final Basket
Level would be 47.856, calculated as follows:

PS-9
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Final Basket Level

=

100 x [1 + S&P Index Performance + (1.8 x Portfolio Index Performance)

+ (2.2 x ProVol Hedge Index Performance)]

=

100 x [1 + (95.00% x (0.9990 – 0.0013 x 750/365) – 1) + (1.8 x (90.00%

x (1 – 0.01 x 750/365) – 1)) + (2.2 x (90.00% x (1 – 0.0085 x 750/365) – 1))]

= 47.856

Accordingly, you would receive a Redemption Amount at maturity of $478.56 per $1,000 Face Amount of securities,
calculated as follows:

Redemption Amount =$1,000xFinal Basket LevelInitial Basket Level

=$1,000x47.856100

=$478.56

Redemption Amount upon a Redemption Trigger Event

The following table illustrates the hypothetical Redemption Amount per $1,000 Face Amount of securities payable
upon the occurrence of a Redemption Trigger Event. A Redemption Trigger Event occurs if the Basket Level on any
trading day during the period from, but excluding, the Trade Date to, but excluding, the Final Valuation Date is less
than the Redemption Trigger Level of 40. If a Redemption Trigger Event occurs, you will lose a significant portion or
all of your investment in the securities.

The hypothetical Redemption Amount set forth below assumes (i) the Basket Level is greater than or equal to 40 on
each trading day prior to the day on which the Redemption Trigger Event occurs and (ii) a Redemption Trigger Event
occurs on a trading day that is 60 calendar days after the Trade Date.

Basket Component Performance Excluding
Adjustment Factors

Basket Component Performance Including
Adjustment Factors
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Example 6:

S&P Index
-10.00% -10.11%

   Portfolio Index -20.00% -20.13%

   ProVol Hedge
Index -15.00% -15.12%

   Final Basket Level – 19.390

Redemption
Amount – $193.90

   Return on the
Securities – -80.61

Example 6: The S&P Index decreases by 10.00%, the Portfolio Index decreases by 20.00% and the ProVol
Hedge Index decreases by 15.00% from their respective Initial Levels to their respective Final Levels on the
Redemption Trigger Valuation Date, which is 60 calendar days after the Trade Date. The Final Basket Level is
19.390, calculated as follows:

Final Basket Level

=

100 x [1 + S&P Index Performance + (1.8 x Portfolio Index Performance)

+ (2.2 x ProVol Hedge Index Performance)]

=

100 x [1 + (90.00% x (0.9990 – 0.0013 x 60/365) – 1) + (1.8 x (80.00%

x (1 – 0.01 x 60/365) – 1)) + (2.2 x (85.00% x (1 – 0.0085 x 60/365) – 1))]

= 19.390

In this case, your securities will be redeemed early because the Basket Level is less than the Redemption Trigger
Level of 40, causing a Redemption Trigger Event to occur. Accordingly, you would receive a Redemption Amount of
$193.90 per $1,000 Face Amount of securities on the Redemption Trigger Payment Date, calculated as follows.
Although the Redemption Trigger Level is 40, the Basket Level decreased significantly below 40 when the
Redemption Trigger Event occurs. As a result, you would lose more than 60% of your initial investment.

PS-10
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Redemption Amount =$1,000xFinal Basket LevelInitial Basket Level

=$1,000x19.390100

=$193.90

Selected Purchase Considerations

·

APPRECIATION POTENTIAL — The securities provide the opportunity for enhanced returns by offering exposure
to 1.0 times any increase or decrease in the level of the S&P Index, 1.8 times any increase or decrease in the level of
the Portfolio Index and 2.2 times any increase or decrease in the level of the ProVol Hedge Index. The return of each
Basket Component is reduced by its applicable Adjustment Factor and all costs and fees embedded in such Basket
Components. Any payment on the securities is subject to our ability to satisfy our obligations as they become due.

·

ACCELERATED LOSS AND NO PROTECTION AGAINST LOSS — Due to the leverage feature of the
securities, any negative returns of the Basket Components will be combined, resulting in a leveraged loss on your
investment. In the case of the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index, the investor is exposed to 1.8 times and
2.2 times any increase or decrease in the level of each index, respectively. Any negative performance of the S&P
Index, when combined with 1.8 times any negative performance of the Portfolio Index or 2.2 times any negative
performance of the ProVol Hedge Index in calculating the Redemption Amount, will result in an accelerated loss on
your investment. Your payment at maturity or upon a Redemption Trigger Event will be further reduced by the
applicable Adjustment Factor for each Basket Component. You may lose some or all of your investment in the
securities if the levels of the Basket Components as a whole decrease or fail to increase sufficiently to offset the
effect of the applicable Adjustment Factors.

·

THE ADJUSTMENT FACTORS REDUCE THE REDEMPTION AMOUNT AT MATURITY OR UPON A
REDEMPTION TRIGGER EVENT — The payment at maturity or upon a Redemption Trigger Event will be
reduced by the applicable Adjustment Factors. Each Adjustment Factor is applied to its respective Basket Component
on the Final Valuation Date or the Redemption Trigger Valuation Date, as applicable, and will reduce the return on
the securities regardless of whether the Final Level of such Basket Component on the Final Valuation Date or the
Redemption Trigger Valuation Date, as applicable, is greater than, equal to or less than its Initial Level.

·POTENTIAL EARLY EXIT WITH MANDATORY LOSS DUE TO THE REDEMPTION TRIGGER
FEATURE — The securities will be redeemed early by us if a Redemption Trigger Event occurs, in which case you
will lose a significant portion or all of your investment in the securities. Early redemption upon such a Redemption
Trigger Event will be automatic, and you will be entitled only to the Redemption Amount payable on the Redemption
Trigger Payment Date based on the Final Basket Level on the Redemption Trigger Valuation Date, even if the levels
of the Basket Components subsequently increase. If a Redemption Trigger Event occurs, you will not be able to hold
your securities to maturity or benefit from any subsequent increase in the levels of the Basket Components that may
occur after the Redemption Trigger Valuation Date, and you will lose a significant portion or all of your investment
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in the securities.

·

RETURN LINKED TO THE PERFORMANCE OF THREE INDICES — The return on the securities, which may
be positive, zero or negative, is fully exposed to the performance of an unequally weighted basket, consisting of the
S&P Index, the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index, as described herein. Exposure to the Portfolio Index and
the ProVol Hedge Index is on a 1.8 times and 2.2 times leveraged basis, respectively.

The S&P 500® Total Return Index

The S&P 500® Total Return Index (the “S&P Index”) is a measure of the total return of the stocks composing the S&P
500® Index that includes dividends by adding the daily indexed dividend returns on those stocks to the daily price
change of the S&P 500® Index. In calculating the S&P Index, ordinary cash dividends are applied on the ex-dividend
date. “Special dividends” are those dividends that are outside of the normal payment pattern established historically by
the issuing corporation; they are treated as corporate actions with offsetting price and divisor adjustments. The S&P
Index reflects both ordinary and special dividends.

PS-11
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The S&P 500® Index is intended to provide a performance benchmark for the U.S. equity markets. The calculation of
the level of the S&P 500® Index is based on the relative value of the aggregate market value of the shares of 500
companies as of a particular time as compared to the aggregate average market value of the shares of 500 similar
companies during the base period of the years 1941 through 1943. This is only a summary of the S&P Index. For more
information on the S&P Index, including information concerning its composition, calculation methodology and
adjustment policy, please see “The S&P U.S. Indices — The S&P 500® Total Return Index” in the accompanying
underlying supplement No. 1 dated August 17, 2015.

The Deutsche Bank Equity Risk Premia 5% VT Portfolio — USD — Excess Return Index

The Deutsche Bank Equity Risk Premia 5% VT Portfolio — USD — Excess Return Index (the “Portfolio Index”) is
intended to reflect the performance of a monthly rebalanced, volatility controlled, “risk-parity” weighted basket (the
“Portfolio Weighted Basket”) of four indices: the Deutsche Bank Equity Sector-Neutral Value Factor — USD — Excess
Return Index (the “Value Factor Index”), the Deutsche Bank Equity Sector-Neutral Quality Factor — USD — Excess
Return Index (the “Quality Factor Index”), the Deutsche Bank Equity Low Beta Turnover Control Factor — USD —
Excess Return Index (the “Low Beta Factor Index”) and the Deutsche Bank Equity Risk-Adjusted Momentum Factor —
USD — Excess Return Index (the “Momentum Factor Index,” and together with the Value Factor Index, the Quality
Factor Index, the Low Beta Factor Index, the “Risk Premium Indices”).

Each Risk Premium Index is intended to capture the potential return premium associated with a specific characteristic
of equity stocks (the “Risk Premium”). The four Risk Premiums tracked by the respective Risk Premium Indices are:
“value,” as measured by a stock’s EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization) to EV
(enterprise value) ratio and dividend yield; “quality,” as measured by a stock’s return on invested capital and accruals
ratio; “low beta,” as measured by the beta of a stock compared to a reference index; and “momentum,” as measured by a
stock’s price momentum, risk-adjusted for idiosyncratic volatility. Each of the Value Factor Index, Quality Factor
Index and Low Beta Factor Index comprises a notional long position in a portfolio of stocks ranked as high value,
high quality or low beta stocks, respectively, and a notional short position in a portfolio of stocks ranked as low value,
low quality or high beta stocks, respectively. The Momentum Factor Index comprises a notional long position in a
portfolio of stocks ranked as high momentum stocks and a notional short position in the MSCI World — Gross Total
Return — USD Index.

Using the volatility of each Risk Premium Index over the last year, the Portfolio Index adjusts each Risk Premium
Index’s weight in the Portfolio Weighted Basket on a monthly basis such that the risk associated with each Risk
Premium Index is approximately equal. Once the Portfolio Weighted Basket has been reweighted, the Portfolio Index
also adjusts its notional exposure to the Portfolio Weighted Basket at the same monthly rebalancing with the aim of
maintaining an intended target volatility of 5%, calculated by reference to the realized volatility of the Portfolio
Weighted Basket (weighted in its then-current form) over the last year, subject to a maximum notional exposure of
200% and a minimum notional exposure of 50% to the Portfolio Weighted Basket.
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In calculating the level of the Portfolio Index, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, as the index sponsor (the “Portfolio
Index Sponsor”), will deduct the cost of hypothetically implementing the volatility controlled, “risk-parity” Portfolio
Weighted Basket. Furthermore, the calculation of each Risk Premium Index includes a daily deduction for the sum of
the cost of hypothetically implementing, as well as the cost in connection with the monthly reconstitution of, the
notional long position and short position (if applicable). The total annual costs deducted from the level of the Portfolio
Index (i.e., the cost deducted from the level of the Portfolio Index plus the costs deducted from the levels of the Risk
Premium Indices) from October 22, 2013 to, and including, December 31, 2015 have ranged from 1.67% to 1.76%.
The historical costs deducted from the Portfolio Index should not be taken as an indication of future costs and,
depending on market conditions, such costs could be significantly higher in the future. For more information on the
deduction of such costs, please see the description of such costs in “The Deutsche Bank Equity Risk Premia 5% VT
Portfolio — USD — Excess Return Index” on page PS-42 of this pricing supplement.

This is only a summary of the Portfolio Index and the Risk Premium Indices. For more information on the Portfolio
Index and the Risk Premium Indices, including information concerning their composition, calculation methodology
and adjustment policy, please see “The Deutsche Bank Equity Risk Premia 5% VT Portfolio — USD — Excess Return Index”
in this pricing supplement.

PS-12
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The Deutsche Bank ProVol Hedge Index

The Deutsche Bank ProVol Hedge Index (the “ProVol Hedge Index”) is one of three versions of the Deutsche Bank
ProVol Indices (the “ProVol Indices”). The ProVol Indices reflect the economic performance over time, less costs, of a
strategy designed to generate returns from the expected volatility of the S&P 500® Index by taking a daily rebalanced
notional long or short position in the Deutsche Bank Short-Term VIX Futures Index (the “VIX Futures Index”). The
VIX Futures Index tracks the market expectation of short-term volatility (i.e., implied volatility) by means of a
daily-rolling notional long position in first month and second month futures contracts (the “VIX futures contracts”) on
the CBOE Volatility Index® (the “VIX Index”).

Each ProVol Index dynamically adjusts its long and short exposure to the VIX Futures Index based on the size and
direction of a signal (the “Signal”) calculated using three volatility indicators and a resulting allocation to the VIX
Futures Index (the “Allocation”) based on the Signal; provided that a weak Signal between 0.1 and -0.1 will not result in
any Allocation and the Allocation will not exceed the maximum Allocation of 0.3 or -0.3. The three volatility
indicators are: (i) the probability of being in a high-volatility environment as measured by Deutsche Bank’s proprietary
Volatility Regime Model, (ii) three-month implied volatility as measured by the CBOE S&P 500® 3-Month Volatility
Index (the “VXV Index”) and (iii) the “steepness” of the implied volatility curve as measured by the ratio of the VXV
Index to the VIX Index. In addition to the three volatility indicators, the Signal also takes into account the prior day’s
Allocation.

Together, the Signal and Allocation are designed generally to seek to have long exposure to the VIX Futures Index
during periods of high realized volatility, when there is a high probability that implied volatility will increase and/or
the cost of carrying VIX futures contracts is low, and generally to seek to have short exposure during periods of low
realized volatility, when implied volatility is likely to decrease and/or the cost of carrying VIX futures contracts is
high. By dynamically allocating its exposure, each ProVol Index seeks to capture returns from both high and low
volatility markets and keep costs and risk lower by holding VIX futures contracts only when it is expected to be
advantageous to do so. The ProVol Hedge Index aims to capture more returns from increases in implied volatility than
from high carrying costs by applying a leverage factor of 200% (2 times) when the Allocation is positive, generating
leveraged long exposure and unleveraged short exposure. In calculating the levels of the ProVol Indices, Deutsche
Bank AG, as the index sponsor (the “ProVol Hedge Index Sponsor”), will deduct an index fee (the “Index Fee”). From,
and including, 2006 to, and including, 2015, the annual Index Fees for the ProVol Hedge Index have ranged from
0.00% to 6.06%. Because the calculation of the ProVol Hedge Index began on September 24, 2012, the annual Index
Fees from, and including, 2006 to, and including, September 23, 2012 were retrospectively calculated. The historical
Index Fees deducted from the ProVol Hedge Index should not be taken as an indication of future Index Fees and,
depending on market conditions, such Index Fees could be significantly higher in the future. For more information on
the deduction of the Index Fees, please see the description of the Index Fees in “The Deutsche Bank ProVol Indices” on
page US-12 of the accompanying underlying supplement No. 3 dated July 31, 2015.

This is only a summary of the ProVol Hedge Index. For more information on the ProVol Hedge Index, including
information concerning its composition, calculation methodology and adjustment policy, please see “The Deutsche
Bank ProVol Indices” in the accompanying underlying supplement No. 3 dated July 31, 2015.
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·TAX CONSIDERATIONS — You should review carefully the section in this pricing supplement entitled “U.S. Federal
Income Tax Consequences.”

Under current law, the United Kingdom will not impose withholding tax on payments made with respect to the
securities.

For a discussion of certain German tax considerations relating to the securities, you should refer to the section in the
accompanying prospectus supplement entitled “Taxation by Germany of Non-Resident Holders.”

You should consult your tax adviser regarding the U.S. federal tax consequences of an investment in the securities, as
well as tax consequences arising under the laws of any state, local or non-U.S. taxing jurisdiction.

Risk Factors

An investment in the securities involves significant risks. Investing in the securities is not equivalent to investing
directly in the components underlying the Basket Components. You should consider carefully the following

PS-13
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discussion of risks together with the risk information contained in the accompanying prospectus supplement and
prospectus before you decide that an investment in the securities is suitable for you.

·

YOUR INVESTMENT IN THE SECURITIES MAY RESULT IN A LOSS ON AN ACCELERATED BASIS —
The securities do not guarantee any return of your initial investment. The return on the securities at maturity or upon
a Redemption Trigger Event is linked to the performance of the Basket Components and will depend on whether, and
the extent to which, the Final Basket Level is greater than the Initial Basket Level. Your investment will be fully
exposed to 1.0 times any increase or decrease in the level of the S&P Index, 1.8 times any increase or decrease in the
level of the Portfolio Index and 2.2 times any increase or decrease in the level of the ProVol Hedge Index. Because
the securities provide leveraged exposure to the Basket Components on a combined basis, your investment will be
fully exposed to any decrease in the levels of the Basket Components on a combined basis, resulting in a leveraged
loss on your investment. As the return on the securities is linked to the 1.8 times leveraged performance of the
Portfolio Index and 2.2 times leveraged performance of the ProVol Hedge Index, a decrease in the level of either the
Portfolio Index or the ProVol Hedge Index could have a significant negative impact on the Basket Level even though
the Basket Level is based on the increase or decrease in the levels of the Basket Components as a whole. In
particular, any positive performance of any Basket Component may be offset by 1.8 times the negative performance
of the Portfolio Index or 2.2 times the negative performance of the ProVol Hedge Index. The Basket Level could
decrease very rapidly if the levels of all the Basket Components decrease simultaneously. In addition, the Adjustment
Factors will reduce the Redemption Amount payable in respect of the securities, regardless of whether the
performance of any Basket Component is positive, zero or negative. Even if the level of the Basket does not decline,
you will lose some of your initial investment if the levels of the Basket Components as a whole do not increase
sufficiently to offset the effect of the applicable Adjustment Factors. Any payment on the securities is subject to our
ability to satisfy our obligations as they become due.

·

THE INCLUSION OF THE ADJUSTMENT FACTORS AND EMBEDDED COSTS AND FEES REDUCES
THE PAYMENT AT MATURITY OR UPON A REDEMPTION TRIGGER EVENT — The payment at maturity
or upon a Redemption Trigger Event will be reduced because of the inclusion of an Adjustment Factor in the
calculation of the performance of each Basket Component. The Adjustment Factor for the S&P Index reduces the
performance of that Basket Component by approximately 10 basis points (0.10%), regardless of how long the
securities remain outstanding, and by an additional 13 basis points (0.13%) for each year the securities remain
outstanding. In addition, the Adjustment Factor for the Portfolio Index reduces the performance of the Portfolio Index
by approximately 100 basis points (1.00%) for each year the securities remain outstanding, and the Adjustment
Factor for the ProVol Hedge Index reduces the performance of the ProVol Hedge Index by approximately 85 basis
points (0.85%) for each year the securities remain outstanding. Because of the 1.8 times leveraged exposure to the
Portfolio Index and the 2.2 times leveraged exposure to the ProVol Hedge Index, the effect of the Adjustment Factor
for each of these Basket Components is magnified, resulting in an overall reduction of 1.80% for the Portfolio Index
and 1.87% for the ProVol Hedge Index for each year the securities remain outstanding. The aggregate dollar amount
by which the Adjustment Factors reduce the Redemption Amount increases as the Final Levels of the Basket
Components increase relative to their respective Initial Levels. The Adjustment Factor for each Basket Component is
applied to the performance of such Basket Component on the Final Valuation Date or Redemption Trigger Valuation
Date, as applicable, and will reduce the return on the securities regardless of whether or not the Final Level of such
Basket Component is greater than, equal to or less than its Initial Level.
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Separate from, and in addition to, the Adjustment Factors for the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index, both
indices include embedded costs and fees that will reduce their respective levels. Such embedded costs and fees will
adversely affect your return on the securities and the adverse effect of such embedded costs and fees will be increased
by the securities’ leveraged exposure to the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index. For more information on the
deduction of costs from the Portfolio Index, please see the risk factor entitled “The Portfolio Index and the Risk
Premium Indices Contain Embedded Costs” as well as the description of such costs in “The Deutsche Bank Equity Risk
Premia 5% VT Portfolio — USD — Excess Return Index” on page PS-42 of this pricing supplement. For more information
on the deduction of the Index Fee from the ProVol Hedge Index, please see the risk factor entitled “The ProVol Hedge
Index Contains Embedded Costs” as well as the description of the Index Fees in “The Deutsche Bank ProVol Indices” on
page US-12 in the accompanying underlying supplement No. 3 dated July 31, 2015.

You will lose some or all of your initial investment if the components underlying the Basket Components as a whole
decrease or fail to increase sufficiently to offset the effect of the applicable Adjustment Factors and all embedded
costs and fees.

PS-14

Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT - Form 424B2

28



·

WE WILL REDEEM THE SECURITIES PRIOR TO THE MATURITY DATE IF A REDEMPTION
TRIGGER EVENT OCCURS — If the Basket Level is less than the Redemption Trigger Level on any trading day
from, but excluding, the Trade Date to, but excluding, the Final Valuation Date, a Redemption Trigger Event has
occurred. Upon the occurrence of a Redemption Trigger Event, we will redeem the securities on the Redemption
Trigger Payment Date for the Redemption Amount calculated using the Final Basket Level on the Redemption
Trigger Valuation Date. Such Redemption Amount will be substantially less than your initial investment in the
securities, and could be zero. If a Redemption Trigger Event occurs, you will not be able to hold your securities to
maturity or benefit from any subsequent increase in the levels of the Basket Components that may occur after the
Redemption Trigger Valuation Date, and you will lose a significant portion or all of your investment in the securities.

·

YOUR SECURITIES ARE EXPOSED TO 1.0 TIMES THE PERFORMANCE OF THE S&P INDEX, 1.8
TIMES THE PERFORMANCE OF THE PORTFOLIO INDEX AND 2.2 TIMES THE PERFORMANCE OF
THE PROVOL HEDGE INDEX — The Redemption Amount payable at maturity or upon a Redemption Trigger
Event will reflect 1.0 times any increase or decrease in the level of the S&P Index, 1.8 times any increase or decrease
in the level of the Portfolio Index and 2.2 times any increase or decrease in the level of the ProVol Hedge Index, in
each case as measured from the Trade Date to the Final Valuation Date or the Redemption Trigger Valuation Date, as
applicable, and each Basket Component is reduced by its applicable Adjustment Factor. The performance of each
Basket Component is combined in calculating the Redemption Amount, with the effect of magnifying losses if the
levels of the Basket Components decrease, or offsetting gains if the level of one Basket Component increases and the
levels of the other Basket Components decrease. Because the securities are linked to the Portfolio Index and the
ProVol Hedge Index on a 1.8 times and 2.2 times leveraged basis, respectively, any negative performance of either
the Portfolio Index or the ProVol Hedge Index will have a substantial effect on your return, even though the
performance of the Basket is based on any increase or decrease in the level of the Basket as a whole.

·

THE RETURN ON THE SECURITIES MAY BE LOWER THAN THE YIELD ON DEBT SECURITIES OF
COMPARABLE MATURITY AND MAY BE ZERO OR NEGATIVE — The return on the securities may be
lower than the yield on our conventional debt securities of a comparable maturity and credit rating. If a Redemption
Trigger Event does not occur, at maturity, you will receive a positive return on your investment only if the Final
Basket Level as measured on the Final Valuation Date exceeds the Initial Basket Level. Even if the Final Basket
Level on the Final Valuation Date is greater than the Initial Basket Level, the return may not fully compensate you
for any opportunity cost, taking into account inflation and other factors relating to the time value of money.

·THE SECURITIES DO NOT PAY ANY COUPONS — Unlike ordinary debt securities, the securities do not pay
any coupons and do not guarantee any return of your investment at maturity.

·

THE SECURITIES ARE SUBJECT TO THE CREDIT OF DEUTSCHE BANK AG — The securities are senior
unsecured obligations of Deutsche Bank AG and are not, either directly or indirectly, an obligation of any third party.
Any payment(s) to be made on the securities depends on the ability of Deutsche Bank AG to satisfy its obligations as
they become due. An actual or anticipated downgrade in Deutsche Bank AG’s credit rating or increase in the credit
spreads charged by the market for taking Deutsche Bank AG’s credit risk will likely have an adverse effect on the
value of the securities. As a result, the actual and perceived creditworthiness of Deutsche Bank AG will affect the
value of the securities and, in the event Deutsche Bank AG were to default on its obligations or become subject to a
Resolution Measure, you might not receive any amount(s) owed to you under the terms of the securities and you
could lose your entire investment.
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·

THE SECURITIES MAY BE WRITTEN DOWN, BE CONVERTED INTO ORDINARY SHARES OR
OTHER INSTRUMENTS OF OWNERSHIP OR BECOME SUBJECT TO OTHER RESOLUTION
MEASURES. YOU MAY LOSE SOME OR ALL OF YOUR INVESTMENT IF ANY SUCH MEASURE
BECOMES APPLICABLE TO US — Pursuant to the SRM Regulation, the Resolution Act and other applicable rules
and regulations described above under “Resolution Measures and Deemed Agreement,” the securities are subject to the
powers exercised by the competent resolution authority to impose Resolution Measures on us, which may include:
writing down, including to zero, any claim for payment on the securities; converting the securities into ordinary
shares of (i) the Issuer, (ii) any group entity or (iii) any bridge bank or other instruments of ownership of such entities
qualifying as common equity tier 1 capital; or applying any other resolution measure including, but not limited to,
transferring the securities to another entity, amending, modifying or varying the terms and conditions of the securities
or cancelling the securities. The competent resolution authority may apply Resolution Measures individually or in
any combination.

PS-15
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The German law on the mechanism for the resolution of banks of November 2, 2015
(Abwicklungsmechanismusgesetz, or the “Resolution Mechanism Act”) provides that, in a German insolvency
proceeding of the Issuer, certain specifically defined senior unsecured debt instruments would rank junior to, without
constituting subordinated debt, all other outstanding unsecured unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and be
satisfied only if all such other senior unsecured obligations of the Issuer have been paid in full. This prioritization
would also be given effect if Resolution Measures are imposed on the Issuer, so that obligations under debt
instruments that rank junior in insolvency as described above would be written down or converted into common
equity tier 1 instruments before any other senior unsecured obligations of the Issuer are written down or converted. A
large portion of our liabilities consist of senior unsecured obligations that either fall outside the statutory definition of
debt instruments that rank junior to other senior unsecured obligations according to the Resolution Mechanism Act or
are expressly exempted from such definition.

Among those unsecured unsubordinated obligations that are expressly exempted are money market instruments and
senior unsecured debt instruments whose terms provide that (i) the repayment or the amount of the repayment depends
on the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event which is uncertain at the point in time when the senior unsecured
debt instruments are issued or is settled in a way other than by monetary payment, or (ii) the payment of interest or the
amount of the interest payments depends on the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event which is uncertain at the
point in time when the senior unsecured debt instruments are issued unless the payment of interest or the amount of
the interest payments solely depends on a fixed or floating reference interest rate and is settled by monetary payment.
This order of priority introduced by the Resolution Mechanism Act would apply in German insolvency proceedings
instituted, or when Resolution Measures are imposed, on or after January 1, 2017 with effect for debt instruments of
the Issuer outstanding at that time. In a German insolvency proceeding or in the event of the imposition of Resolution
Measures with respect to the Issuer, the competent regulatory authority or court would determine which of our senior
debt securities issued under the prospectus have the terms described in clauses (i) or (ii) above, referred to herein as
the “Structured Debt Securities,” and which do not, referred to herein as the “Non-Structured Debt Securities.” We
expect the securities offered herein to be classified as Structured Debt Securities, but the competent regulatory
authority or court may classify the securities differently. In a German insolvency proceeding or in the event of the
imposition of Resolution Measures with respect to the Issuer, the Structured Debt Securities are expected to be among
the unsecured unsubordinated obligations that would bear losses after the Non-Structured Debt Securities as described
above. Nevertheless, you may lose some or all of your investment in the securities if a Resolution Measure
becomes applicable to us. Imposition of a Resolution Measure would likely occur if we become, or are deemed by
the competent supervisory authority to have become, “non-viable” (as defined under the then applicable law) and are
unable to continue our regulated banking activities without a Resolution Measure becoming applicable to us. The
Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive and the Resolution Act are intended to eliminate the need for public support
of troubled banks, and you should be aware that public support, if any, would only potentially be used by the
competent supervisory authority as a last resort after having assessed and exploited, to the maximum extent
practicable, the resolution tools, including the bail-in tool.

By acquiring the securities, you would have no claim or other right against us arising out of any Resolution Measure
and we would have no obligation to make payments under the securities following the imposition of a Resolution
Measure. In particular, the imposition of any Resolution Measure will not constitute a default or an event of default
under the securities, under the Indenture or for the purposes of, but only to the fullest extent permitted by, the Trust
Indenture Act. Furthermore, because the securities are subject to any Resolution Measure, secondary market trading in
the securities may not follow the trading behavior associated with similar types of securities issued by other financial
institutions which may be or have been subject to a Resolution Measure.
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In addition, by your acquisition of the securities, you waive, to the fullest extent permitted by the Trust Indenture Act
and applicable law, any and all claims against the trustee and the indenture agents for, agree not to initiate a suit
against the trustee or the indenture agents in respect of, and agree that the trustee and the indenture agents will not be
liable for, any action that the trustee or the indenture agents take, or abstain from taking, in either case in accordance
with the imposition of a Resolution Measure by the competent resolution authority with respect to the securities.
Accordingly, you may have limited or circumscribed rights to challenge any decision of the competent
resolution authority to impose any Resolution Measure.

·
THE ISSUER’S ESTIMATED VALUE OF THE SECURITIES ON THE TRADE DATE WILL BE LESS
THAN THE ISSUE PRICE OF THE SECURITIES — The Issuer’s estimated value of the securities on the Trade
Date (as disclosed on the cover of this pricing supplement) is less than the Issue Price of the securities. The
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difference between the Issue Price and the Issuer’s estimated value of the securities on the Trade Date is due to the
inclusion in the Issue Price of the agent’s commissions, if any, and the cost of hedging our obligations under the
securities through one or more of our affiliates. Such hedging cost includes our or our affiliates’ expected cost of
providing such hedge, as well as the profit we or our affiliates expect to realize in consideration for assuming the risks
inherent in providing such hedge. The Issuer’s estimated value of the securities is determined by reference to an
internal funding rate and our pricing models. The internal funding rate is typically lower than the rate we would pay
when we issue conventional debt securities on equivalent terms. This difference in funding rate, as well as the agent’s
commissions, if any, and the estimated cost of hedging our obligations under the securities, reduces the economic
terms of the securities to you and is expected to adversely affect the price at which you may be able to sell the
securities in any secondary market. In addition, our internal pricing models are proprietary and rely in part on certain
assumptions about future events, which may prove to be incorrect. If at any time a third party dealer were to quote a
price to purchase your securities or otherwise value your securities, that price or value may differ materially from the
estimated value of the securities determined by reference to our internal funding rate and pricing models. This
difference is due to, among other things, any difference in funding rates, pricing models or assumptions used by any
dealer who may purchase the securities in the secondary market.

·

NO DIVIDEND PAYMENTS, VOTING RIGHTS OR OWNERSHIP RIGHTS — As a holder of the securities,
you will not have any voting rights or rights to receive cash dividends or other distributions or other rights that
holders of the stocks composing the S&P Index would have, and you will have no ownership rights in any of the
components underlying the Basket Components.

·

THE CORRELATION AMONG THE BASKET COMPONENTS COULD CHANGE UNPREDICTABLY —
Correlation is the extent to which the levels of the Basket Components increase or decrease to the same degree at the
same time. The value of the securities may be adversely affected by increased positive correlation among the Basket
Components, in particular when one or more Basket Components decrease. The value of the securities may also be
adversely affected by increased negative correlation between the Basket Components, meaning the positive
performance of one or more Basket Components could be entirely offset by the negative performance of one or more
other Basket Components.

·

THE BASKET COMPONENTS ARE UNEQUALLY WEIGHTED — The Basket Components are unequally
weighted. Accordingly, performances by the Basket Components with higher weightings will influence the
Redemption Amount to a greater degree than the performances of Basket Components with lower weightings. If one
or more of the Basket Components with higher weightings perform poorly, that poor performance could negate or
diminish the effect on the Redemption Amount of any positive performance by the lower-weighted Basket
Components.

·THE PORTFOLIO INDEX MAY NOT ALWAYS SUCCESSFULLY MAINTAIN THE TARGET
VOLATILITY OF 5% — The Portfolio Index is intended to reflect the performance of a dynamic allocation strategy
that adjusts the Portfolio Index’s notional exposure to the Portfolio Weighted Basket with the aim of maintaining an
intended target volatility of 5% each day, calculated by reference to the realized volatility of the Portfolio Weighted
Basket (weighted in its then-current form) over the last year (which we refer to as the hypothetical volatility of the
Portfolio Weighted Basket). Because the Portfolio Index is subject to a maximum notional exposure of 200% and a
minimum notional exposure of 50% to the Portfolio Weighted Basket, the Portfolio Index may not be able to
maintain an intended target volatility of 5% each day. For example, if the hypothetical volatility of the Portfolio
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Weighted Basket were to be less than 2.50% and consequently the notional exposure to the Portfolio Weighted
Basket were to be reset to the maximum notional exposure of 200%, the target volatility would be less than 5%.
Similarly, if the hypothetical volatility of the Portfolio Weighted Basket were to be greater than 10% and
consequently the notional exposure to the Portfolio Weighted Basket were to be reset to the minimum notional
exposure of 50%, the target volatility would be greater than 5%.

In addition, the Portfolio Index’s notional exposure to the Portfolio Weighted Basket is calculated based on the
hypothetical volatility of the Portfolio Weighted Basket over the last year. However, there can be no assurance that
historical trends in volatility will continue in the future. Accordingly, there is no assurance that the hypothetical
volatility of the Portfolio Weighted Basket’s over the past year will be an effective way to (i) accurately assess
volatility of the Portfolio Weighted Basket at the given time or (ii) predict patterns of volatility in the future. Thus, the
realized volatility of the Portfolio Index at any time in the future could differ significantly from the target volatility of
5%. Furthermore, because the Portfolio Index adjusts its notional exposure to the Portfolio Weighted Basket only once
a month, the Portfolio Index will not be able to adjust its notional exposure
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to the Portfolio Weighted Basket to account for any change in volatility until the next monthly rebalancing date. As a
result, the Portfolio Index may not achieve its target volatility of 5%, which may adversely affect the level of the
Portfolio Index and the return on the securities.

·

THE PORTFOLIO INDEX AND THE RISK PREMIUM INDICES CONTAIN EMBEDDED COSTS — The
Portfolio Index is subject to a deduction for the cost of hypothetically implementing the volatility controlled,
“risk-parity” Portfolio Weighted Basket. As a result of this deduction, the level of the Portfolio Index will be lower than
would otherwise be the case if such cost were not included. Because the Portfolio Index is linked to the performance
of the Portfolio Weighted Basket, which is composed of the four Risk Premium Indices, the deduction of costs from
the levels of the Risk Premium Indices will also lower the level of the Portfolio Index. The calculation of each Risk
Premium Index includes a daily deduction for the sum of the cost of hypothetically implementing, as well the cost in
connection with the monthly reconstitution of, the notional long position and short position (if applicable). As a result
of these deductions, the levels of the Risk Premium Indices will be lower than would otherwise be the case if such
costs were not included. The reconstitution costs will be deducted separately from each Risk Premium Index. It is
possible that one of the Risk Premium Indices will take a notional long position in a component stock while another
Risk Premium Index will take a notional short position in the same component stock. Even if the Portfolio Index as a
whole takes both a notionally long and short position in the same component stock, the reconstitution cost will be
deducted for both the long and short positions without offsetting such reconstitution costs against each other. These
deductions of costs from the levels of the Risk Premium Indices are in addition to the deduction of costs at the
Portfolio Index level.

The total annual costs deducted from the level of the Portfolio Index (i.e., the costs deducted from the level of the
Portfolio Index plus the costs deducted from the levels of the Risk Premium Indices) from October 22, 2013 to, and
including, December 31, 2015 have ranged from 1.67% to 1.76%. The historical costs deducted from the Portfolio
Index should not be taken as an indication of future costs and, depending on market conditions, such costs could be
significantly higher in the future. The adverse effect of such cost deductions will be increased by the securities’ 1.8
times exposure to the Portfolio Index, and are separate from, and in addition to, the reduction based on the Adjustment
Factor for the Portfolio Index provided in the securities. For more information on the deduction of such costs, please
see the description of such costs in “The Deutsche Bank Equity Risk Premia 5% VT Portfolio — USD — Excess Return
Index” on page PS-42 of this pricing supplement.

·

THE PORTFOLIO INDEX’S TARGET VOLATILITY FEATURE CAN EXPOSE THE PORTFOLIO
INDEX TO GREATER LOSSES OR REDUCED GAINS — When the hypothetical volatility of the Portfolio
Weighted Basket is less than the target volatility of 5%, the Portfolio Index will employ leverage to increase the
notional exposure of the Portfolio Index to the Portfolio Weighted Basket, up to a maximum notional exposure of
200%. When the Portfolio Weighted Basket is leveraged, any movements in the levels of the Risk Premium Indices
will result in greater changes in the level of the Portfolio Index than if leverage were not used. In particular, the use
of leverage will magnify any negative performance of the Portfolio Weighted Basket. Conversely, when the
hypothetical volatility of the Portfolio Weighted Basket is greater than the target volatility of 5%, the Portfolio Index
will reduce its notional exposure to the Portfolio Weighted Basket, down to a minimum exposure of 50%. At a time
when the Portfolio Index’s exposure to the Portfolio Weighted Basket is less than 100%, any movements in the levels
of the Risk Premium Indices will result in lesser changes in the level of the Portfolio Index. In this circumstance,
because you will not participate fully in the increases in the levels of the Risk Premium Indices, the effect of any
gains achieved from holding such position will be reduced.
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·

THE PORTFOLIO WEIGHTED BASKET MAY NOT BE ABLE TO MAINTAIN “RISK-PARITY” AMONG
THE RISK PREMIUM INDICES — The Portfolio Weighted Basket is rebalanced monthly by weighting the notional
exposure to the Risk Premium Indices such that the risk associated with each Risk Premium Index is approximately
equal. This is accomplished by measuring the volatility of each Risk Premium Index over the last year and setting the
weight of such Risk Premium Index in inverse proportion to its volatility. Therefore, a Risk Premium Index with a
high historical volatility will be assigned a lower weight on the monthly rebalancing date, and a Risk Premium Index
with a low historical volatility will be assigned a higher weight.

However, there can be no assurance that historical trends in volatility will continue in the future. Thus, the realized
volatility of the Risk Premium Indices in the future could differ significantly from their historical volatility.
Furthermore, because the Portfolio Weighted Basket adjusts its notional exposure to the Risk Premium Indices only
once a month, the Portfolio Weighted Basket will not be able to adjust its notional exposure to the Risk Premium
Indices to account for any change in volatility until the next monthly rebalancing date. As a result, the Portfolio
Weighted Basket may not successfully weight the notional exposure to the Risk Premium Indices such that the risk
associated with each Risk Premium Index is approximately equal. In this circumstance, the Portfolio
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Weighted Basket may not be able to maintain “risk-parity” among the Risk Premium Indices between monthly
rebalancing dates, which may adversely affect the level of the Portfolio Index and the return on the securities.

·

THE PORTFOLIO WEIGHTED BASKET WILL LIKELY BE UNEQUALLY WEIGHTED — In seeking to
achieve “risk-parity” among the four Risk Premium Indices in the Portfolio Weighted Basket, the Risk Premium
Indices will likely be unequally weighted. Accordingly, the performance of the Risk Premium Indices with the higher
weightings will influence the performance of the Portfolio Index to a greater degree than the performance of the Risk
Premium Indices with lower weightings. If the Risk Premium Indices with the higher weightings perform poorly,
their poor performance could negate or diminish the effect on the performance of the Portfolio Index of any positive
performance by the lower-weighted Risk Premium Indices.

·

THE RISK PREMIUM INDICES ARE SUBJECT TO STRATEGY RISK — The Risk Premium Indices aim to
generate returns by identifying persistent Risk Premiums in the equity markets and implementing systematic
strategies to access them. The four Risk Premiums tracked by the respective Risk Premium Indices are: “value,” as
measured by a stock’s EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization) to EV (enterprise value)
ratio and dividend yield; “quality,” as measured by a stock’s return on invested capital and accruals ratio; “low beta,” as
measured by the beta of a stock compared to a reference index; and “momentum,” as measured by a stock’s price
momentum, risk-adjusted for idiosyncratic volatility. Each of the Value Factor Index, Quality Factor Index and Low
Beta Factor Index comprises a notional long position in a portfolio of stocks ranked as high value, high quality or low
beta stocks, respectively, and a notional short position in a portfolio of stocks ranked as low value, low quality or
high beta stocks, respectively. The Momentum Factor Index comprises a notional long position in a portfolio of
stocks ranked as high momentum stocks and a notional short position in the MSCI World — Gross Total Return — USD
Index. Generally, the performance of a Risk Premium Index will be positive, reflecting the premium an investor
would earn, if the selected high value, high quality, low beta or high momentum stocks outperform the low value,
low quality, high beta or benchmark stocks, respectively. However, such Risk Premiums may not persist in the future
and the Risk Premium Indices may fail to generate positive returns associated with such Risk Premiums, which
would adversely affect the level of the Portfolio Index and the return on the securities.

·

SUB-INDICES MAY BE ADDED OR REMOVED FROM ANY OF THE RISK PREMIUM INDICES
DURING THE TERM OF THE SECURITIES — Each of the Risk Premium Indices currently consists of one
sub-index. However, if there are changes in the aggregate outstanding notional investment of financial products
(including the securities) linked to any of the Risk Premium Indices during the term of the securities, one or more
additional sub-indices may be created and added to the relevant Risk Premium Index. Similarly, sub-indices may be
removed from a Risk Premium Index, subject to the requirement that each Risk Premium Index must have at least
one sub-index at all times.

While each sub-index of a Risk Premium Index will be reconstituted on a monthly basis and its constituents will be
selected at the same as the other sub-indices of such Risk Premium Index, each sub-index of a Risk Premium Index
will have its own reconstitution date. As a result, each sub-index will measure the performance of its constituents for a
different period of time than the other sub-indices in such Risk Premium Index and the unit weightings of the
constituents in each sub-index may be different than the unit weighting of the same constituents in the other
sub-indices. Such differences may cause the performance of such sub-index to deviate from the other sub-indices.
Therefore, the addition or removal of a sub-index from a Risk Premium Index may have an adverse effect on the level
of the Portfolio Index and the return on the securities.
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·

THE SECURITIES ARE SUBJECT TO CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATE RISK — Because some or all of the
securities underlying the Portfolio Index are denominated in foreign currencies but the Portfolio Index is calculated in
U.S. dollars, changes in currency exchange rates may negatively impact the returns of the Portfolio Index. Of
particular importance to currency exchange rate risk are:

· existing and expected rates of inflation;

· existing and expected interest rates;

· political, civil or military unrest;

· the balance of payments between the countries represented in the Portfolio Index and the United States; and
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· the extent of governmental surpluses or deficits in the countries represented in the Portfolio Index and the UnitedStates.

All of these factors are in turn sensitive to the monetary, fiscal and trade policies pursued by the governments of the
countries represented in the Portfolio Index, the United States and other countries important to international trade and
finance. An investor’s net exposure to currency exchange rate risk will depend on the extent to which the currencies
represented in the Portfolio Index strengthen or weaken against the U.S. dollar and the relative weight of each
currency represented in the Portfolio Index. If, taking into account such weighting, the U.S. dollar strengthens against
the component currencies as a whole, the level of the Portfolio Index will be adversely affected and the value of the
securities will be reduced. Additionally, the volatility and/or the correlation (including the direction and the extent of
such correlation) of the exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the currencies represented in the Portfolio Index
could adversely affect the value of the securities.

·

THERE ARE RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES LINKED TO THE VALUES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES ISSUED BY NON-U.S. COMPANIES — Some or all of the securities underlying the
Portfolio Index are issued by companies incorporated outside of the U.S. Because the underlying securities also trade
outside the U.S., the securities are subject to the risks associated with non-U.S. securities markets. Generally,
non-U.S. securities markets may be less liquid and more volatile than U.S. securities markets and market
developments may affect non-U.S. securities markets differently than U.S. securities markets, which may adversely
affect the level of the Portfolio Index and the value of your securities. Furthermore, there are risks associated with
investments in securities linked to the values of equity securities issued by non-U.S. companies. There is generally
less publicly available information about non-U.S. companies than about those U.S. companies that are subject to the
reporting requirements of the SEC, and non-U.S. companies are subject to accounting, auditing and financial
reporting standards and requirements that differ from those applicable to U.S. reporting companies. In addition, the
prices of equity securities issued by non-U.S. companies may be adversely affected by political, economic, financial
and social factors that may be unique to the particular countries in which the non-U.S. companies are incorporated.
These factors include the possibility of recent or future changes in a non-U.S. government’s economic and fiscal
policies (including any direct or indirect intervention to stabilize the economy and/or securities market of the country
of such non-U.S. government), the presence, and extent, of cross shareholdings in non-U.S. companies, the possible
imposition of, or changes in, currency exchange laws or other non-U.S. laws or restrictions applicable to non-U.S.
companies or investments in non-U.S. securities and the possibility of fluctuations in the rate of exchange between
currencies. Moreover, certain aspects of a particular non-U.S. economy may differ favorably or unfavorably from the
U.S. economy in important respects, such as growth of gross national product, rate of inflation, capital reinvestment,
resources and self-sufficiency.

·

THE SECURITIES ARE SUBJECT TO EMERGING MARKETS RISK — The value of the securities is subject
to the political and economic risks of emerging market countries by linking to the performance of the Portfolio Index.
Some or all of the securities underlying the Portfolio Index include stocks of companies that are located in emerging
market countries and whose securities trade on the exchanges of emerging market countries. In recent years, some
emerging markets have undergone significant political, economic and social upheaval. Such far-reaching changes
have resulted in constitutional and social tensions and, in some cases, instability and reaction against market reforms
has occurred. With respect to any emerging market nation, there is the possibility of nationalization, expropriation or
confiscation, political changes, government regulation and social instability. Future political changes may adversely
affect the economic conditions of an emerging market nation. Political or economic instability could affect the value
of the securities and the amount payable to you at maturity.
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·

THE PROVOL HEDGE INDEX IS SUBJECT TO STRATEGY RISK — The strategy of the ProVol Hedge Index
is to seek to generate returns from the expected volatility of the S&P 500® Index by dynamically adjusting a long or
short position in the VIX Futures Index based on the size and direction of the Signal and the resulting Allocation
based on that Signal. The Signal aims to determine the likely short-term direction of implied volatility and the level
of carrying costs. The methodology for determining the Signal is based on limited past data and that may not be
predictive of future implied volatility and/or the level of carrying costs. If the Signal is not successful in determining
the likely short-term direction of implied volatility and/or the level of carrying costs, then the resulting Allocation
based on that Signal may result in a notional long or short position in the VIX Futures Index that decreases in value
and causes the levels of the ProVol Hedge Index to decrease. Furthermore, because the ProVol Hedge Index aims to
capture more returns from increases in implied volatility than from high carrying costs by applying a leverage factor
of 200% when the Allocation is positive, if the Signal causes a positive Allocation, any decrease in the level of the
VXV Futures Index will be leveraged two times.
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Because a weak Signal between 0.1 and -0.1 will not result in any Allocation, if the Signal stays between 0.1 and -0.1
for an extended period of time, the level of the ProVol Hedge Index may remain unchanged during such period.

·

THE PROVOL HEDGE INDEX CONTAINS EMBEDDED COSTS — In calculating the level of the ProVol
Hedge Index, the ProVol Hedge Index Sponsor will deduct an Index Fee. The Index Fee takes into account changes
in the notional VIX futures contracts position measured by the ProVol Hedge Index associated both with the daily
rolling from the first month to the second month VIX futures contracts underlying the VIX Futures Index as well as
with any changes in the size of the notional position in the VIX Futures Index. Thus, large or more frequent shifts in
the Signal or greater or more frequent changes in VIX futures contracts prices will require greater reallocation and
will result in higher costs. Additionally, lower VIX futures contracts prices, which require a greater number of
contracts to be notionally traded in order to achieve the same value, will also result in higher costs. Because the
ProVol Hedge Index takes a leveraged long position in the VIX Futures Index when the Allocation is positive, the
Index Fee will be leveraged in the ProVol Hedge Index.

Deutsche Bank AG expects the Index Fee to average between 1.5 basis points and 2 basis points (0.015% and 0.02%)
per trading day. However, the actual Index Fee may be substantially higher on days when there is a substantial change
in the Allocation or prices of the VIX futures contracts, resulting in a substantial number or value of VIX futures
contracts notionally traded. From, and including, 2006 to, and including, 2015, the annual Index Fees for the ProVol
Hedge Index have ranged from 0.00% to 6.06%. Because the calculation of the ProVol Hedge Index began on
September 24, 2012, the annual Index Fees from, and including, 2006 to, and including, September 23, 2012 were
retrospectively calculated. The historical Index Fees deducted from the ProVol Hedge Index should not be taken as an
indication of future Index Fees and, depending on market conditions, such Index Fees could be significantly higher in
the future. The adverse effect of the Index Fee will be increased by the securities’ 2.2 times exposure to the ProVol
Hedge Index, and the Index Fee is separate from, and in addition to, the reduction based on the Adjustment Factor for
the ProVol Hedge Index provided in the securities. For more information on the deduction of the Index Fees, please
see the description of the Index Fees in “The Deutsche Bank ProVol Indices” on page US-12 of the accompanying
underlying supplement No. 3 dated July 31, 2015.

·

THERE MAY BE SIGNIFICANT FLUCTUATIONS IN THE LEVEL OF THE PROVOL HEDGE INDEX,
WHICH COULD AFFECT THE VALUE OF THE SECURITIES — The performance of the ProVol Hedge Index
is dependent on the performance of the notional long or short positions in the VIX Futures Index. As a consequence,
investors should understand that their investment is exposed to the performance of the notional long or short positions
in VIX futures contracts. The prices of the VIX futures contracts can be volatile and move dramatically over short
periods of time. There can be no assurance that the relevant notional long or short exposure will not be subject to
substantial negative returns. The performance of the ProVol Hedge Index may therefore be reduced due to
movements in market parameters.

·VIX FUTURES CONTRACTS HAVE LIMITED HISTORICAL INFORMATION — VIX futures contracts have
traded freely only since March 26, 2004 and not all future contracts to all relevant maturities have traded at all times
since that date. Because the VIX futures contracts that underlie the ProVol Hedge Index are of recent origin and
limited historical information data exists with respect to them, your investment in the securities may involve a greater
risk than investing in alternative securities linked to one or more financial measures with an established record of
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performance. The liquidity of trading in VIX futures contracts could decrease in the future, which could adversely
affect the value of the securities.

·

THE VIX INDEX AND VXV INDEX ARE BASED ON THEORETICAL CALCULATIONS AND ARE NOT
TRADABLE INDICES — The VIX Index and the VXV Index (used to calculate the second and third volatility
indicators of the ProVol Hedge Index) are theoretical calculations and cannot be traded on a spot price basis. The
settlement price at maturity of the VIX futures contracts reflected in the VIX Futures Index is based on this
theoretically derived calculation. As a result, the behavior of the VIX futures contracts may be different from futures
contracts whose settlement prices are based on a comparable tradable asset.

·

THE SECURITIES ARE NOT LINKED TO THE VIX INDEX AND THE VALUE OF THE SECURITIES
MAY BE LESS THAN IT WOULD HAVE BEEN HAD THE SECURITIES BEEN LINKED TO THE VIX
INDEX — The value of the securities will be linked, in part, to the value of the ProVol Hedge Index, and your ability
to benefit from any rise or fall in the level of the VIX Index is limited. The ProVol Hedge Index is based upon
holding a notional long or short position in the VIX Futures Index, which holds a rolling long position in VIX futures
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contracts. The VIX futures contracts will not necessarily track the performance of the VIX Index. The VIX Futures
Index may not benefit from increases or decreases in the level of the VIX Index because such increases or decreases
will not necessarily cause the price of the relevant VIX futures contracts to rise or fall. Thus, the ProVol Hedge Index
may not benefit from increases or decreases in the level of the VIX Index either. Accordingly, a hypothetical
investment that was linked directly to the performance of the VIX Index could generate a higher return than the
securities.

·

THE PORTFOLIO INDEX AND THE PROVOL HEDGE INDEX HAVE LIMITED PERFORMANCE
HISTORY — Calculation of the Portfolio Index began on October 22, 2013 and calculation of the ProVol Hedge Index
began on September 24, 2012. Therefore, both the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index have limited
performance history and no actual investment which allowed tracking of the performance of the Portfolio Index or
the ProVol Hedge Index was possible before their respective inception dates.

The performance of the Portfolio Index prior to October 22, 2013 shown in this pricing supplement has been
retrospectively calculated using the same methodology as described herein except that the levels of each Risk
Premium Index prior to its respective live date were calculated by the Portfolio Index Sponsor based on historical
stock prices (adjusted to reflect historical corporate events) provided by dbGrade which uses FAME (database). Such
adjustments to the historical stock prices provided by dbGrade may be different from the adjustments for corporate
events set forth below in the description of each Risk Premium Index, and the levels of the Portfolio Index prior to
October 22, 2013 may have been lower had the adjustments for corporate events set forth in the description of each
Risk Premium Index been applied. Although the Portfolio Index Sponsor believes that these retrospective calculations
fairly represent how these indices would have performed before their respective live dates, the Portfolio Index and the
Risk Premium Indices did not, in fact, exist prior to their respective live dates.

Furthermore, the index methodologies of both the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index, as well as each of the
Risk Premium Indices underlying the Portfolio Index, were designed, constructed and tested using historical market
data and based on knowledge of factors that may have possibly affected their performance. The returns prior to their
respective live dates were achieved by means of a retroactive application of such back-tested index methodologies
designed with the benefit of hindsight. It is impossible to predict whether the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge
Index will rise or fall. The actual performance of these indices may bear little relation to their retrospectively
calculated performance.

·

PAST PERFORMANCE OF THE BASKET COMPONENTS IS NO GUIDE TO FUTURE PERFORMANCE
— The actual performance of the Basket Components over the term of the securities may bear little relation to the
historical closing levels of such Basket Components and/or the hypothetical return examples set forth elsewhere in
this pricing supplement. We cannot predict the future performance of the Basket Components or whether the
performance of the Basket will result in the return of any of your investment.

·ASSUMING NO CHANGES IN MARKET CONDITIONS AND OTHER RELEVANT FACTORS, THE
PRICE YOU MAY RECEIVE FOR YOUR SECURITIES IN SECONDARY MARKET TRANSACTIONS
WOULD GENERALLY BE LOWER THAN BOTH THE ISSUE PRICE AND THE ISSUER’S ESTIMATED
VALUE OF THE SECURITIES ON THE TRADE DATE — While the payment(s) on the securities described in
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this pricing supplement is based on the full Face Amount of securities, the Issuer’s estimated value of the securities on
the Trade Date (as disclosed on the cover of this pricing supplement) is less than the Issue Price of the securities. The
Issuer’s estimated value of the securities on the Trade Date does not represent the price at which we or any of our
affiliates would be willing to purchase your securities in the secondary market at any time. Assuming no changes in
market conditions or our creditworthiness and other relevant factors, the price, if any, at which we or our affiliates
would be willing to purchase the securities from you in secondary market transactions, if at all, would generally be
lower than both the Issue Price and the Issuer’s estimated value of the securities on the Trade Date. Our purchase
price, if any, in secondary market transactions would be based on the estimated value of the securities determined by
reference to (i) the then-prevailing internal funding rate (adjusted by a spread) or another appropriate measure of our
cost of funds and (ii) our pricing models at that time, less a bid spread determined after taking into account the size of
the repurchase, the nature of the assets underlying the securities and then-prevailing market conditions. The price we
report to financial reporting services and to distributors of our securities for use on customer account statements
would generally be determined on the same basis. However, during the period of approximately three months
beginning from the Trade Date, we or our affiliates may, in our sole discretion, increase the purchase price
determined as described above by an amount equal to the declining differential between the Issue Price and the
Issuer’s estimated value of the
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securities on the Trade Date, prorated over such period on a straight-line basis, for transactions that are individually
and in the aggregate of the expected size for ordinary secondary market repurchases.

In addition to the factors discussed above, the value of the securities and our purchase price in secondary market
transactions after the Trade Date, if any, will vary based on many economic and market factors, including our
creditworthiness, and cannot be predicted with accuracy. These changes may adversely affect the value of your
securities, including the price you may receive in any secondary market transactions. Any sale prior to the Maturity
Date could result in a substantial loss to you. The securities are not designed to be short-term trading instruments.
Accordingly, you should be able and willing to hold your securities to maturity.

·

THE SECURITIES WILL NOT BE LISTED AND THERE WILL LIKELY BE LIMITED LIQUIDITY — The
securities will not be listed on any securities exchange. There may be little or no secondary market for the securities.
We or our affiliates intend to act as market makers for the securities but are not required to do so and may cease such
market making activities at any time. Even if there is a secondary market, it may not provide enough liquidity to
allow you to sell the securities when you wish to do so or at a price advantageous to you. Because we do not expect
other dealers to make a secondary market for the securities, the price at which you may be able to sell your securities
is likely to depend on the price, if any, at which we or our affiliates are willing to buy the securities. If, at any time,
we or our affiliates do not act as market makers, it is likely that there would be little or no secondary market for the
securities. If you have to sell your securities prior to maturity, you may not be able to do so or you may have to sell
them at a substantial loss, even in cases where the level of the Basket has increased since the Trade Date.

·

MANY ECONOMIC AND MARKET FACTORS WILL AFFECT THE VALUE OF THE SECURITIES —
While we expect that, generally, the levels of the Basket Components will affect the value of the securities more than
any other single factor, the value of the securities prior to maturity will also be affected by a number of other factors
that may either offset or magnify each other, including:

· the expected volatility of the Basket Components;

· the time remaining to the maturity of the securities;

· the market prices and dividend rates, if any, of the components underlying the Basket Components;

· the composition of the Basket Components;

· the exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the non-U.S. currencies that the securities underlying the PortfolioIndex are traded in;

· interest rates and yields in the markets generally;
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·geopolitical conditions and economic, financial, political, regulatory or judicial events that affect the BasketComponents or the markets generally;

· supply and demand for the securities; and

· our creditworthiness, including actual or anticipated downgrades in our credit ratings.

During the term of the securities, it is possible that their value may decline significantly due to the factors described
above even if the levels of the Basket Components remain unchanged from their respective Initial Levels, and any sale
prior to the Maturity Date could result in a substantial loss to you. You must hold the securities to maturity to receive
the stated payout from the Issuer.

·

TRADING AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS BY US OR OUR AFFILIATES IN THE EQUITY AND
EQUITY DERIVATIVE MARKETS MAY IMPAIR THE VALUE OF THE SECURITIES — We or our
affiliates expect to hedge our exposure from the securities by entering into equity and equity derivative transactions,
such as over-the-counter options, futures or exchange-traded instruments. In addition to the securities, we or our
affiliates may issue or underwrite other securities or financial or derivative instruments with returns linked or related
to the Basket Components or their underlying components. We or our affiliates may establish, adjust or unwind
hedge positions with respect to the securities and such other securities or instruments by, among other things,
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purchasing or selling at any time the underlying components of the Basket Components or instruments whose value is
derived from the Basket Components or their underlying components. This hedging activity could adversely affect the
levels of the Basket Components and the value of the securities. For example, on or prior to the Trade Date, we or our
affiliates may purchase the underlying components of the Basket Components or instruments whose value is derived
from such Basket Components or their underlying components as part of our or our affiliates’ hedge. Such hedging
activity could potentially increase the levels of the Basket Components prior to the close of trading on the Trade Date
and effectively establish higher levels that the Basket Components must achieve for you to obtain a positive return on
your investment or avoid a loss of some or all of your initial investment. In addition, during the term of the securities,
we or our affiliates may adjust our or their hedge positions in connection with the reweighting, rebalancing or
reconstitution of the Basket Components by selling some or all of the existing underlying components and/or
purchasing new or existing underlying components of the Basket Components at or in advance of the time the values
and weightings of the underlying components are determined for purposes of such reweighting, rebalancing or
reconstitution. This hedging activity could potentially decrease the prices at which the Basket Components notionally
sell existing underlying components and increase the prices at which the Basket Components notionally purchase new
or existing underlying components, and thus adversely affect the levels of the Basket Components. Finally, unwinding
any hedge positions on or prior to the Final Valuation Date by us or our affiliates could potentially decrease the levels
of the Basket Components prior to the close of trading on the Final Valuation Date and adversely affect the value of
the securities. We or our affiliates may also engage in trading in instruments linked or related to the Basket
Components on a regular basis as part of our or their general broker-dealer and other businesses, for proprietary
accounts, for other accounts under management or to facilitate transactions for customers, including block
transactions. Such trading and hedging activities may adversely affect the levels of the Basket Components and,
therefore, make it less likely that you will receive a positive return on your investment in the securities. Such trading
and hedging activities may also lead to the occurrence of a Redemption Trigger Event, in which case investors will
lose a significant portion or all of their investment in the securities. It is possible that we or our affiliates could receive
substantial returns from these hedging and trading activities while the value of the securities declines. To the extent
we or our affiliates serve as issuer, agent or underwriter for other securities or financial or derivative instruments with
returns linked or related to the Basket Components or their underlying components, our or our affiliates’ interests with
respect to such products may be adverse to those of the holders of the securities. Introducing competing products
linked to or related to the Basket Components or their underlying components into the marketplace could also
adversely affect the levels of the Basket Components and the value of the securities. Any of the foregoing activities
described in this paragraph may reflect trading strategies that differ from, or are in direct opposition to, investors’
trading and investment strategies related to the securities.

Furthermore, because Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. (“DBSI”) or one of its affiliates is expected to conduct trading and
hedging activities for us in connection with the securities, DBSI or such affiliate may profit in connection with such
trading and hedging activities and such profit, if any, will be in addition to any compensation that DBSI receives for
the sale of the securities to you. You should be aware that the potential to earn a profit in connection with hedging
activities may create a further incentive for DBSI to sell the securities to you in addition to any compensation they
would receive for the sale of the securities.

·POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST EXIST BECAUSE THE ISSUER, THE CALCULATION
AGENT AND THE SPONSOR OF THE PORTFOLIO INDEX AND THE PROVOL HEDGE INDEX ARE
THE SAME LEGAL ENTITY — Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch is the Issuer of the securities, the calculation
agent for the securities and the sponsor of the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index. We, as the calculation
agent, will maintain some discretion in making decisions relating to the securities, including whether there has been a
Market Disruption Event (as defined below) with respect to each Basket Component. If a Market Disruption Event
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occurs on the Final Valuation Date, the calculation agent can postpone the determination of, or under some
circumstances, use an alternate method to calculate the Closing Level of the disrupted Basket Component. As both
the Portfolio Index Sponsor and the ProVol Hedge Index Sponsor, we carry out calculations necessary to promulgate
the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index, respectively, and we maintain some discretion as to how such
calculations are made. In particular, we have discretion in selecting among methods of how to calculate the Portfolio
Index and the ProVol Hedge Index in the event the regular means of calculating the Portfolio Index and the ProVol
Hedge Index, respectively, are unavailable at the time a calculation is scheduled to take place. There can be no
assurance that any determinations and/or calculations made by Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch in these various
capacities will not affect the value of the securities and the levels of the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index.
Because determinations made by Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as the calculation agent for the securities and
the sponsor of the Portfolio Index and the ProVol Hedge Index may affect the Redemption Amount you receive at
maturity or upon a Redemption
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Trigger Event, potential conflicts of interest may exist between Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch and you, as a
holder of the securities.

·

WE OR OUR AFFILIATES MAY PUBLISH RESEARCH, EXPRESS OPINIONS OR PROVIDE
RECOMMENDATIONS THAT ARE INCONSISTENT WITH INVESTING IN OR HOLDING THE
SECURITIES. ANY SUCH RESEARCH, OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS COULD ADVERSELY
AFFECT THE LEVEL OF THE BASKET AND THE VALUE OF THE SECURITIES — We or our affiliates
may publish research from time to time on financial markets and other matters that could adversely affect the level of
the Basket and the value of the securities, or express opinions or provide recommendations that are inconsistent with
purchasing or holding the securities. Any research, opinions or recommendations expressed by us or our affiliates
may not be consistent with each other and may be modified from time to time without notice. You should make your
own independent investigation of the merits of investing in the securities and the Basket Components.

·

POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST — We and our affiliates play a variety of roles in connection with the
issuance of the securities, including acting as the Calculation Agent, hedging our obligations under the securities and
determining the Issuer’s estimated value of the securities on the Trade Date and the price, if any, at which we or our
affiliates would be willing to purchase the securities from you in secondary market transactions. In performing these
roles, our economic interests and those of our affiliates are potentially adverse to your interests as an investor in the
securities. The Calculation Agent will determine, among other things, all values, prices and levels required to be
determined for the purposes of the securities on any relevant date or time. The Calculation Agent will also be
responsible for determining whether a Market Disruption Event has occurred and, in some circumstances, the levels
or prices related to the Basket Components that affect whether a Redemption Trigger Event has occurred. Any
determination by the Calculation Agent could adversely affect the return on the securities.

·

THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE SECURITIES
ARE UNCERTAIN — There is no direct legal authority regarding the proper U.S. federal income tax treatment of the
securities, and we do not plan to request a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”). Consequently,
significant aspects of the tax treatment of the securities are uncertain, and the IRS or a court might not agree with the
treatment of the securities as prepaid financial contracts that are not debt, as described in the section of this pricing
supplement entitled “U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences.” If the IRS were successful in asserting an alternative
treatment, the tax consequences of your ownership and disposition of the securities could be materially and adversely
affected. In addition, in 2007 the U.S. Treasury Department and the IRS released a notice requesting comments on
various issues regarding the U.S. federal income tax treatment of “prepaid forward contracts” and similar instruments.
Any Treasury regulations or other guidance promulgated after consideration of these issues could materially and
adversely affect the tax consequences of an investment in the securities, possibly with retroactive effect. You should
review the discussion under “U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences” and consult your tax adviser regarding
the U.S. federal tax consequences of an investment in the securities, as well as tax consequences arising under
the laws of any state, local or non-U.S. taxing jurisdiction.
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HISTORICAL INFORMATION

The S&P Index

The following graph sets forth the historical performance of the S&P Index from August 17, 2011 through August 17,
2016. The closing level of the S&P Index on August 17, 2016 was 4,138.419. We obtained the historical closing
levels of the S&P Index from Bloomberg L.P. and we have not participated in the preparation of, or verified, such
information. The historical closing levels of the S&P Index should not be taken as an indication of future
performance and no assurance can be given as to the Final Level of the S&P Index on the Final Valuation Date
or the Redemption Trigger Valuation Date, as applicable. We cannot give you assurance that the performance
of the S&P Index will result in the return of any of your initial investment.

Portfolio Index

The following graph sets forth the retrospective and historical performance of the Portfolio Index based on its daily
closing levels from August 17, 2011 through August 17, 2016. The Portfolio Index has existed only since October 22,
2013 and publication of the Portfolio Index began on October 22, 2013. The historical performance data below from
October 22, 2013 through August 17, 2016 represent the actual performance of the Portfolio Index. The performance
data prior to October 22, 2013, as indicated by the vertical line in the graph below, has been retrospectively calculated
using the same methodology as described herein except that the levels of each Risk Premium Index prior to its
respective live date were calculated by the Portfolio Index Sponsor based on historical stock prices (adjus"
style="border-bottom: 1 solid
#000000">2002 2002 2001 (Unaudited) ASSETS Current Cash$4,831,220 $5,323,564 $4,022,422 Accounts
receivable 163,965 197,673 176,912 Prepaid expenses and
deposits 2,595 16,887 27,389 4,997,780 5,538,124 4,226,723 Deposits- reclamation
bonds 30,000 30,000 30,000 Investments - quoted market value of $nil           (2001 - $61,933) (note
8) -  -  43,353 Deferred exploration expenditure (note 3) 8,781,564 7,705,865 4,551,072 Property, plant and
equipment (note
4) 3,893,658 3,896,461 96,870 $17,703,002 $17,170,450 $8,948,018 LIABILITIES Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities$1,355,103 $316,914 $387,963 SHAREHOLDERS'
EQUITY Capital stock (note 5) 25,499,004 24,314,504 14,813,154 Contributed
surplus 537,005 537,005 537,005 Deficit (9,688,110) (7,997,973) (6,790,104) 16,347,899 16,853,536 8,560,055 $17,703,002 $17,170,450 $8,948,018 Nature
of operations and going concern (note 1) Commitments (note 10) APPROVED BY THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS (signed) JOHN H. WRIGHT, Director (signed) ROSS J.
BEATY, Director
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CORNER BAY SILVER INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND DEFICIT

 (expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated)

For the six months ended For the years ended
December 31, June 30,

2002 2001 2002 2001 2000

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

OTHER INCOME
Interest $ 61,361 $ 49,739 $94,013 $ 127,474 $ 48,611
Other 14,500 73,001 201,831 97,500 64,900

75,861 122,740 295,844 224,974 113,511
OTHER EXPENSES

General and
administrative 1,765,998 497,9251,467,007 798,073 521,338

Amortization - 9,109 - 25,312 19,251
1,765,998 507,0341,467,007 823,385 540,589

Gain on disposal of assets - - - - (14,465)
Gain on disposal of investments - - (5,805) - -
Write-down of investments - - - - 22,606
Write-down of property,
plant and equipment - - 42,511 95,833 -

Write-down of deferred
exploration expenditure - - - 373,627 1,088,239

1,765,998 507,0341,503,713 1,292,845 1,636,969
Loss for the period (1,690,137) (384,294)(1,207,869) (1,067,871) (1,523,458)
Deficit, beginning of
period (7,997,973) (6,790,104)(6,790,104) (5,722,233) (4,198,775)
Deficit, end of period $ (9,688,110) $ (7,174,398) $(7,997,973) $ (6,790,104) $ (5,722,233)

Basic and diluted loss
per share ($0.09) ($0.02) ($0.07) ($0.08) ($0.14)

Weighted average
number of shares
outstanding

19,385,808 15,876,05316,697,807 13,912,182 10,760,945
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CORNER BAY SILVER INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 (expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated)

For the six months ended For the years ended
December 31, June 30,

2002 2001 2002 2001 2000

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN)
Operating activities

Loss for the period $ (1,690,137) $ (384,294) $ (1,207,869) $ (1,067,871) $ (1,523,458)
Write-off of deferred
exploration

expenditure - - - 373,627 1,088,239
Write-down of

investments - - - - 22,606
Amortization - 9,109 - 25,312 19,251
Write-off of property,

plant
and equipment - - 42,511 95,833 -

Gain on disposal of
investments - - (5,805) - -

Gain on disposal of
assets - - - - (14,465)

(1,690,137) (375,185) (1,171,163) (573,099) (407,827)
Net (increase) decrease in
non-cash

working capital balances
related to

operations (note 11) 1,086,189 (184,805) (81,308) 82,054 237,610
(603,948) (559,990) (1,252,471) (491,045) (170,217)

Investing activities
Deferred exploration

expenditure
and property, plant

and equipment
Expenditures (1,072,896) (1,415,279) (3,147,522) (1,460,057) (2,185,566)
Option receipts - - - 5,975 25,000
Proceeds on disposal

of assets - - - - 28,057
Proceeds on disposal

of
investments - - 49,158 - 73,486

Purchase of assets
under construction - - (400,000) - -

Purchase of equipment - - (6,873) - -
(1,072,896) (1,415,279) (3,505,237) (1,454,082) (2,059,023)
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Financing activities
Issue of common shares 1,184,500 350,849 6,058,850 5,038,397 2,499,391

Increase (decrease) in cash
during
the period (492,344) (1,624,420) 1,301,142 3,093,270 270,151

Cash, beginning of the
period 5,323,564 4,022,422 4,022,422 929,152 659,001
Cash, end of the period $ 4,831,220 $ 2,398,002 $ 5,323,564 $ 4,022,422 $ 929,152

        Supplemental cash flow information (note 11)
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CORNER BAY SILVER INC.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 31, 2002 and 2001 (unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

The Company is in the process of exploring its mineral properties and is establishing the amount of ore reserves that are economically
recoverable from the Mexico property.  The recoverability of amounts shown for these properties and related deferred exploration expenditures
are dependent upon the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the preservation of the Company's interest in the underlying mineral
claims, the ability of the Company to obtain the financing necessary to complete the development of the properties, and future profitable
production or, alternatively, upon the Company's ability to dispose of its interest on an advantageous basis.  Changes in future conditions could
require material writedowns of the carrying amounts of deferred exploration expenditure.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
 Significant differences from United States accounting principles are disclosed in Note 15.

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Corner Bay Resources Inc. and
Pan MacKenzie Resources Inc. (including its wholly owned subsidiary Minera Corner Bay S.A. de C.V.).

Deferred exploration expenditure
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The deferred exploration expenditure is recorded at cost, net of incidental revenues generated from the particular properties.  These net costs are
deferred until the properties to which they relate are placed into production, sold or abandoned.

In March 2000, the Accounting Standards Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) issued Accounting Guideline No.
11 entitled, "Enterprises in the Development Stage" (AcG 11), and subsequently, on March 12, 2002, issued Emerging Issues Committee (EIC)
126 "Accounting by Mining Enterprises for Exploration Costs."  These guidelines address three distinct issues: (i) capitalization of
costs/expenditures (ii) impairment and (iii) disclosure.  Prior to their issuance, development state entities were exempt from following certain
aspects of Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  EIC 126 and AcG 11 require that all companies account for transactions
based on the underlying characteristics of the transactions rather than the maturity of the enterprise.  In addition, EIC 126 and AcG 11 require
specific disclosure of information by development stage companies.  These guidelines were effective for financial periods beginning on or after
April 1, 2000, which affects the Company's financial years ended on or after June 30, 2001.

F-7

Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT - Form 424B2

56



CORNER BAY SILVER INC.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 31, 2002 and 2001 (unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

EIC 126 and AcG 11 affect mining companies with respect to the deferral of exploration costs.  The appropriate accounting guidance is
contained in Section 3061, "Property, Plant and Equipment" of the CICA Handbook which permits, but does not require, exploration costs to be
capitalized as part of a mining property, if the Company considers that such costs have the characteristics of property, plant and equipment.
 Under this view, deferred exploration expenditure would not automatically be subject to regular assessment of recoverability, unless conditions
such as those discussed in EIC 126 and AcG 11 exist.

There would need to be an assessment of deferred exploration expenditure.  Assessment of the probability of recoverability of deferred
exploration expenditure from future operations will require the preparation of a projection based on objective evidence of economic reserves
such as a feasibility study.

The status of the Company's operations is such that, like most mining companies in the exploration stage, it would not be practical to obtain a
feasibility study or provide other information that could be used to support capitalization of deferred exploration expenditure under the
alternative view.

EIC 126 and AcG 11 did not have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment

Land and exploration equipment are recorded at cost.  Exploration equipment is amortized on a reducing balance basis at various rates from 14%
to 33%.  Amortization relating to equipment used on the mineral properties is capitalized as part of the deferred exploration expenditure balance.

Assets under construction

Assets under construction consist of equipment to be commissioned at the Mexico property site.  The assets will be included as part of the
equipment balance once refurbished and transferred to the site.  These assets are not being amortized, as they are not currently ready for use.

Financial instruments
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The carrying amounts of cash, receivables, prepaid expenses and deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate the fair values of
those financial instruments due to the short-term maturities of such instruments.  Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash.  The Company places its cash with high credit quality financial institutions.
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CORNER BAY SILVER INC.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 31, 2002 and 2001 (unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

Income taxes

The provision for future income taxes is based on the liability method.  Future income taxes arise from the recognition of the tax consequences
of temporary differences by applying statutory income tax rates applicable to future years to differences between the financial statements'
carrying amounts and the income tax bases of certain assets and liabilities.  The Company records a valuation allowance against any portion of
those future income tax assets that it believes is not, more likely than not, to be realized.

Stock-based compensation plan

The Company has one stock option plan, which is described in note 5.  No compensation expense is recognized for this plan when stock or stock
options are issued to employees.  Any consideration paid on exercise of stock options or purchase of stock is credited to capital stock.

Effective July 1, 2002, the Company adopted the new recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook Section
3870, Stock-based Compensation and Other Stock-based Payments.  This section establishes standards for the recognition, measurement and
disclosure of stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments in exchange for goods and services.  The section requires that all
stock-based awards made to non-employees be measured and recognized using a fair-value based method.  The section encourages a fair-value
based method for all awards granted to directors, officers and employees, but only requires the use of a fair value based method for direct awards
of stock, stock appreciation rights and awards that call for settlement in cash or other assets.

For stock options granted to directors, officers and employees, the Company has adopted the intrinsic value method of accounting for
stock-based compensation.  Under this method compensation expense is recognized for the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the
Company's common shares over the common share option exercise price on the day that options are granted.

Loss per share

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the loss for the year by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
year, including contingently issuable shares that are included when the conditions necessary for issuance have been met.  Diluted earnings per
share are calculated in a manner similar to basic earnings per share, except the weighted average number of shares outstanding are increased to
include potential common shares from the assumed exercise of options and warrants, if dilutive.  The number of additional shares included in the
calculation is based on the treasury stock method for options and warrants and on the as if converted method for convertible securities.
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During the year ended June 30, 2001, the Company changed its method of accounting for earnings per share to comply with the revised standard
issued by the CICA Handbook, Section 3500, "Earnings per share".  There was no difference between the loss per share calculated under the
new standard and the amount that would have been calculated using the previous standard.
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CORNER BAY SILVER INC.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 31, 2002 and 2001 (unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Translation of foreign currencies

As the Company considers all of its foreign operations to be fully integrated, all items denominated in foreign currencies have been translated
using the temporal method.  Under this method, monetary assets and liabilities and non-monetary items carried at market values are translated at
the year and period end exchange rate.  Other non-monetary items and revenue and expenses are translated at approximate rates in effect at the
dates of the transactions, except depletion and amortization, which are translated at the same rates as the related assets.

3.

MINERAL PROPERTIES

MexicoMaritimes Chibougamau Total Balance - June 30,
1999$1,018,492 $401,611 $1,097,825 $2,517,928 Expenditures 2,114,901 1,411  -  2,116,312 Option
receipts -  (25,000) (9,586) (34,586) Writedown -  -  (1,088,239) (1,088,239) Balance - June 30,
2000 3,133,393 $378,022 $- $3,511,415 Expenditures 1,388,451 1,580  -  1,390,031 Option
receipts -  (5,975)  -  (5,975) Amortization of equipment
capitalized 29,228  -  -  29,228 Writedown -  (373,627)  -  (373,627) Balance - June 30,
2001 4,551,072  -  -  4,551,072 Expenditures 3,147,522  -  -  3,147,522 Amortization of equipment
capitalized 7,271  -  -  7,271 Balance - June 30, 2002 7,705,865  -  -  7,705,865 Expenditures
(Unaudited) 534,911  -  -  534,911 Purchase of concessions (Unaudited) 537,985  -  -  537,985 Amortization of
equipment capitalized (Unaudited) 2,803  -  -  2,803 Balance - December 31, 2002
(Unaudited)$8,781,564 $- $- $8,781,564

The Alamo Dorado silver/gold property is located in the northwestern state of Sonora, Mexico.  Paved roads connect the state capital of
Hermosillo to the town of Alamos, which is 67 kilometers northwest of the Alamo Dorado Project.
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The 5,369 hectare property consists of the 504 hectare Alamo Ocho concession held under option by the Company, and the 4,865 hectare Alamo
Dorado concession, which is owned 100% by the Company and surrounds the Alamo Ocho concession.  The Company can earn a 100% interest
in Alamo Ocho by paying US$800,000 over six years.  Payments are made semi-annually, of which US$441,000 (unaudited) was paid to
December 31, 2002 (June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were US$450,000, $325,000 and $nil, respectively).

F-10

Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT - Form 424B2

62



CORNER BAY SILVER INC.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 31, 2002 and 2001 (unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

During the year ended June 30, 2002, the Company incurred $131,147 (2001 and 2000 - $nil) in rental payments, and is committed to annual
rental payments of $114,150.  During the six-month periods ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company incurred $35,906 and $23,491
(unaudited), respectively, in rental payments.

4.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

June 30 June
30 Accumulated 2002 Accumulated 2001 Cost Amortization Net CostAmortization NetEquipment$66,683 $14,722 $53,961 $129,415$32,545$96,870Assets
under Construction 3,842,500  -  3,842,500  - - -                 $3,911,183 $14,722 $3,896,461 $129,415$32,545$96,870 December
31 Accumulated 2002 (Unaudited) Cost Amortization Net Equipment$139,917 $88,759 $51,158 Assets
under Construction 3,842,500  -  3,842,500 $3,982,417 $88,759 $3,893,658

During the six months ended December 31, 2002, the Company wrote off $nil (December 31, 2001 - $nil; years ended June 30, 2002, 2001 and
2000 of $42,511, $95,833 and $nil, respectively) of property, plant and equipment.

During the six months ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded amortization of $2,803 (years ended June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000 of
$7,271, $29,228 and $nil, respectively), which were capitalized as deferred exploration expenditure.
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CORNER BAY SILVER INC.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 31, 2002 and 2001 (Unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

5.

CAPITAL STOCK

Authorized

Unlimited number of common shares, without nominal or par value.

Issued and outstanding - common shares

Number of
shares Net

outstanding Proceeds
Balance - June 30, 1999 9,899,115 $ 7,275,366
Shares issued for cash in private placement
September 21, 1999 596,540 773,976
December 20, 1999 400,000 1,198,435
Warrants exercised for cash during the year 545,454 409,080
Options exercised for cash during the year 393,000 117,900
Balance - June 30, 2000 11,834,109 9,774,757
Shares issued in prospectus offering - December 14, 2000 3,666,667 4,978,397
Options exercised for cash 200,000 60,000
Balance - June 30, 2001 15,700,776 14,813,154
Shares issued for cash in private placement - February 19, 2002 1,830,000 4,575,000
Warrants exercised for cash 183,333 275,000
Options exercised for cash 612,000 1,208,850
Shares issued for assets under construction
purchased - June 18, 2002 (note 11) 850,000 3,442,500
Balance - June 30, 2002 19,176,109 24,314,504
Options exercised for cash (unaudited) 465,000 1,184,500
Balance - December 31, 2002 (unaudited) 19,641,109 $ 25,499,004

On September 21, 1999, the Company completed a private placement of 596,540 shares at a price of $1.30 per share.

Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT - Form 424B2

64



On December 20, 1999, the Company completed a private placement of 400,000 units.  Each unit consists of one common share at $3.00 and
one-half common share purchase warrant.  Each whole purchase warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional common share at a price
of $4.00 per common share at anytime until December 20, 2001.  Effective December 20, 2001, all options that had not been exercised prior to
this date expired.

On December 14, 2000, the Company publicly offered 3,666,667 units.  Each unit consisted of one common share at $1.50 and one-half
common share purchase warrant.  Each whole purchase warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional common share at $2.25 per share
at anytime until December 14, 2001.  In connection with the December 14, 2000 offering, the underwriters received 183,333 warrants of the
Company.  Each warrant entitles the underwriter to purchase one common share for $1.50 at any time until December 14, 2001.  Effective
December 14, 2001, all warrants that had not been exercised prior to this date expired.  Refer to the following warrants table.

On February 19, 2002, the Company completed a private placement of 1,830,000 shares at a price of $2.50 per share.
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CORNER BAY SILVER INC.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 31, 2002 and 2001 (unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

Warrants

Weighted Number of average Warrants price Balance - June 30, 1999- 

          $                    -

Issued - December 20, 1999200,000 4.00 Balance - June 30, 2000200,000 4.00 Issued - December 14,

20002,016,666 2.18 Balance - June 30, 20012,216,666 2.34 Expired(2,033,333) 2.42 Exercised(183,333) 1.50

Balance - June 30, 2002- - Expired- - Exercised- - Balance - December 31, 2002 (unaudited)- 

$                      -

Options

On December 15, 1995, the shareholders of the Company approved the amended stock option plan (dated November 1, 1995) (the Plan) which
provides for the issuance of 1.0 million stock options under the terms of the Plan.  On December 20, 1999 and December 15, 2000, the
shareholders approved an amendment to provide for the further issuance of an additional 1.4 and 2.0 million common share options,
respectively, under the terms of the Plan.

Under the Plan, the Company provides options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, officers and service providers.  The board of
directors grants such options for periods of up to ten years at prices not lower than the market price at the date of granting.

No compensation expense is recognized when stock options are issued to employees and directors.  All consideration paid by employees from
the exercise of stock options or purchase of stock is credited to capital stock.
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Compensation expense is recorded when stock options are issued to non-employees and is recognized over the vesting period of the options.
 Compensation expense is determined as the fair value of the options at the date of grant using an option-pricing model.  During the six months
ended December 31, 2002 and year ended June 30, 2002, no stock options were issued to non-employees.
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CORNER BAY SILVER INC.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 31, 2002 and 2001 (unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

As at June 30, 2002, the Company had outstanding and exercisable stock options as follows:

Exercise Expiry
Price Date

500,000 $ 2.65 12/20/02
660,000 3.00 06/30/03
380,000 1.75 10/02/04
40,000 1.80 12/12/04
60,000 $ 3.00 02/28/05

As at June 30, 2002, the Company had outstanding and exercisable stock options as follows:

2002 2001 2000 NumberWeighted NumberWeighted NumberWeighted

of average of average of average options price options price options price

Outstanding -Beginning of
year1,607,000 $2.60 1,707,000 $2.38 700,000 $0.30 Granted645,000 1.95 100,000 1.70 1,400,000 2.84 Exercised(612,000) 1.98 (200,000) 0.30 (393,000) 0.30 Outstanding -End

of year1,640,000 $2.57 1,607,000 $2.60 1,707,000 $2.38

As at December 31, 2002, the Company had outstanding and exercisable stock options as follows:

December 31, 2002
Number Weighted

of average
Options price

Outstanding - Beginning of period 1,640,000 $ 2.57
Exercised (unaudited) (465,000) 2.55
Outstanding - End of period (unaudited) 1,175,000 $ 2.59
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6.

INCOME TAXES

As at December 31, 2002, the Company has non-capital loss carry-forwards of approximately $4,200,000, unaudited, (June 30, 2002 -
$2,500,000) available to reduce future taxable income.  These losses will expire between 2003 and 2009.  In addition, the Company has
$7,300,000 in unclaimed exploration and development expenses in Canada.  No recognition is given in these consolidated financial statements to
any potential benefit from the utilization of these non-capital losses or unclaimed exploration and development expenses.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 31, 2002 and 2001 (unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

7.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain geological, consulting and corporate services were provided to the Company and its subsidiaries by seven directors and/or officers,
and/or companies controlled by directors and/or officers.  The cost of such services (including salaries) for the six months ended December 31,
2002 was $nil, unaudited, (years ended June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $680,213, $354,989 and $230,279, respectively).  The services
provided were at rates similar to those charged to non-related parties.

The Company, as prime tenant of share corporate offices with the above-mentioned related party companies, charge rent of $nil for the six
months ended December 31, 2002 (years ended June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $6,000, $51,400 and $46,800, respectively) and had
overhead recoveries of $nil for the six months ended December 31, 2002 (years ended June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $7,500, $97,575 and
$71,913, respectively).

8.

INVESTMENT

As at December 31, 2002, the Company held nil (unaudited) (June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000 - nil, 309,665 and 309,665, respectively) shares of
MSV Resources Inc.  The investment was disposed of during the year ended June 30, 2002.

9.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Working capital balances are retained in Canada and principal property balances are located as described in note 3.

10.

COMMITMENTS
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The Company leases office space under leases expiring November 30, 2004.  Future minimum lease payments are as follows:

Year ended June 30
2003 $ 69,660
2004 69,660
2005 29,025

$ 168,345

11.

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

During the six months ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the years ended June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company paid no income
taxes or interest.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

December 31, 2002 and 2001 (unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

Net (increase) decrease in non-cash working capital balances related to operations:

Six months ended
December 31, Years ended December 31,

2002 2001 2002 2001 2000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Receivables $ 33,708 $ (150,298) $ (20,761) $ (17,438) $ 32,625
Prepaid expenses and
deposits 14,292 18,147 10,502 (1,452) (21,502)
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 1,038,187 (52,654) (71,049) 100,944 226,487

$ 1,086,189 $ (184,805) $ (81,308) $ 82,054 $ 237,610

On June 18, 2002, assets under construction were acquired for $3,442,500, through issuance of common shares (note 4).  The purchase price was
based on the value of the common shares.

12.

ACQUISITION OF COMPANY BY PAN AMERICAN SILVER CORP.

On May 21, 2002, the Company and Pan American Silver Corp. (Pan American) announced a proposed plan of arrangement whereby Pan
American would acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company.  On June 28, 2002, both companies announced amended terms
to the proposed plan of arrangement.  The amended proposal for a plan of arrangement is subject to approval of the shareholders of the Company
and Pan American and approval by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice and various regulatory authorities.  The shareholders of the Company
and Pan American approved the plan of arrangement on September 4 and 5, 2002, respectively.  If remaining approvals are obtained and all
material covenants are satisfied in a timely fashion, the plan of arrangement would become effective in September 2002.
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Under the terms of the amended plan of arrangement, each Corner Bay Silver Inc. common share would be exchanged for 0.3846 of a Pan
American common share and 0.1923 of a Pan American common share purchase warrant.  Each whole Pan American common share purchase
warrant (the Pan American Warrant) provides the holder with the rights to purchase a Pan American common share at CAN$12 for a five-year
period after the effective date of the plan of arrangement ("Plan of Arrangement").  The Pan American Warrants will trade on the Toronto Stock
Exchange.

13.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In July 2002, the principal mineral concession, which hosts the Alamo Dorado concession, was purchased outright from the concession owners
by paying the remaining option payments in a final lump sum payment of US$345,000 (US$300,000 plus Impuesto Al Valor Agregado (IVA)
taxes).

SUBSEQUENT EVENT (UNAUDITED)

The Company received regulatory approval on the plan on arrangement and on February 20, 2003 the Company and Pan American Silver Corp.
completed the Plan of Arrangement.
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(expressed in Canadian dollars)

14.

COMPARATIVES

Certain prior years' comparative numbers have been restated to reflect the current year's presentation.

15.

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (GAAP)

Canadian GAAP varies in certain significant respects from the principles and practices generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP").
 The effect of these principal measurement differences on the Company's consolidated financial statements are quantified below and described in
the accompanying notes.

Consolidated statement of operations

Six months ended
December 31 Years ended June 30,

2002 2001 2002 2001 2000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Loss for the period
reported under
Canadian GAAP

$ (1,690,137) $ (384,294) $(1,207,869) $ (1,067,871) $ (1,523,458)

Exploration
expenses
adjustment

(537,714) (1,415,279) (3,154,793) (1,039,657) (993,487)
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Loss for the period
reported under U.S.
GAAP

$ (2,227,851) $ (1,799,573) $(4,362,662) $ (2,107,528) $ (2,516,945)

a)

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the Company would be required to charge all costs of deferred exploration expenditures to earnings as operating
expenses as incurred until proven economic reserves are established.  As a result of accounting for these expenditures in this manner, the
unaudited loss for the six months ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 would be increased by $537,714 and $1,415,279, respectively, and loss for
the years ended June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000 would be increased by $3,154,793, $1,039,657 and $993,487, respectively.

b)

The Company accounts for its share options using the intrinsic value method, which in the Company's circumstances amounts does not result in
different from the amounts that would be determined under the provisions of the Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25,
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," (APB 25) and related interpretations.  Accordingly, no compensation expense for its share option
plan has been recognized or recorded in the consolidated statement of operations and deficit for any of the years presented.  A company that
does not adopt the fair value method must disclose the cost of the stock compensation awards at their fair value at the date the award is granted.
 The unaudited value of the Company's options that were granted during six months ended December 31, 2002 was $nil (2001 - $17,846) (three
years ended June 30, 2002 were $447,952, $37,605 and $878,747, respectively).  The fair value for 2002 was estimated using the Black-Scholes
model with assumptions of a three-year expected term volatility ranging from 50% to 56% and interest rates from 3.75% to 4.04%.  The fair
value for 2001 and 2000 was estimated using the Black-Scholes model with assumptions of a two-year expected term, 60% volatility and interest
rates ranging from 6.0% to 6.5%.
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December 31, 2002 and 2001 (unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

Basic loss per share

Six months ended
December 31, Years ended June 30,

2002 2001 2002 2001 2000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Loss for the period
under
U.S. GAAP $ (2,227,851) $ (1,799,573) $ (4,362,662) $ (2,107,528) $ (2,516,945)

Weighted average
number of
Common shares

outstanding 19,385,808 15,876,053 16,697,807 13,912,182 10,760,945

Loss per share under
U.S. GAAP ($0.11) ($0.11) ($0.26) ($0.15) ($0.23)

Consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss

Six months ended
December 31, Years ended June 30,

2002 2001 2002 2001 2000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Loss for the period
under
U.S. GAAP $ (2,227,851) $ (1,799,573) $ (4,362,662) $ (2,107,528) $ (2,516,945)

Other comprehensive
earnings, net
of income taxes
Unrealized gain on

marketable
securities - - - 18,580 9,290

Realized (gain) loss
on sale of

marketable
securities - - (18,580) - 33,948

Writedown to fair
value - - - - 22,606

Comprehensive loss for
the period $ (2,227,851) $ (1,799,573) $ (4,381,242) $ (2,088,948) $ (2,451,101)
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The consolidated statements of comprehensive loss provide a measure of all changes in equity of the Company that result from transactions,
other than those with shareholders, and other economic events that occurred during the period.

Under U.S. GAAP, the Company's holding of marketable securities with quoted market values that would be marked to market with the
resulting unrealized gain or loss being taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss in the relevant period.
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(expressed in Canadian dollars)

Consolidated statement of
cash flows

Six months ended
December 31 Years ended June 30,

2002 2001 2002 2001 2000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Operating activities $

(1,138,859)

 $(1,975,269) $(4,399,993) $(1,900,413) $(2,258,579) Investing
activities (537,985) -  (357,715) (44,714) 29,339 Financing

activities 1,184,500 350,849 6,058,850 5,038,397 2,499,391 Increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalent during the period (492,344) (1,624,420) 1,301,142 3,093,270 270,151 Opening cash and
cash equivalents 5,323,564 4,022,422 4,022,422 929,152 659,001 Closing cash and cash equivalents$4,831,220$

2,398,002 $5,323,564 $4,022,422 $929,152 Consolidated balance sheets

December 31 June 30,
2002 2002 2001

(Unaudited)
Investments under Canadian GAAP $ - $  - $ 43,353
Unrealized gain on marketable securities -  - 18,580

Investments under US GAAP $ - $ - $ 61,933

Deferred exploration expenditure under
Canadian GAAP $  8,781,564 $ 7,705,865 $ 4,551,072 

Deferred exploration expenditure  (8,243,579) (7,705,865) (4,551,072)
Deferred exploration expenditure under
U.S. GAAP $ 537,985 $ - $ -

Deficit under Canadian GAAP $ (9,688,110) $ (7,997,973) $ (6,790,104)
Exploration expenditures (8,243,579) (7,705,865) (4,551,072)

Deficit under U.S. GAAP $ (17,931,689) $ (15,703,838) $ (11,341,176)

Cumulative comprehensive other income
under Canadian GAAP $ - $  - $ -

Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities -  - 18,580
Cumulative comprehensive other income
under U.S. GAAP $ - $  - $ 18,580
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December 31, 2002 and 2001 (unaudited) and June 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

New standards for U.S. GAAP

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 142,
"Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets".  This new standard features new accounting rules for goodwill and intangible assets.  The Company
does not foresee any impact on a cumulative effect of an accounting change or on the carrying value of assets and liabilities recorded in the
consolidated balance sheets upon adoption.  SFAS No. 142 will be adopted on July 1, 2002.

Also issued in June 2001 was SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations."  This statement addresses financial accounting
and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs.  It requires that
the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of a fair
value can be made.  The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset.  The Company is
analyzing the impact of SFAS No. 143 and will adopt this standard on July 1, 2002.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets."  This statement supersedes
SFAS No. 121 and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB 30, and also amends ARB 51.  This statement will require one accounting
model be used for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale, whether previously held and used or newly acquired, and will broaden the
presentation of discontinued operations to include more disposal transactions.  The Company is analyzing the impact of SFAS No. 144 and will
adopt this standard on July 1, 2002.

Effective July 1, 2002, the Company will adopt, for United States reporting purposes, SFAS No. 145, "Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44
and 64, Amendments of SFAS No. 13, and Technical Corrections as of April 2002."  This statement rescinds SFAS No. 4, "Reporting Gains and
Losses from Extinguishment of Debt," and an amendment of that statement, SFAS No. 64, "Extinguishment of Debt Made to Satisfy
Sinking-Fund Requirements".

This statement also rescinds SFAS No. 44, "Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers."  This statement amends SFAS No. 13,
"Accounting for Leases", to eliminate an inconsistency between the required accounting for sale-leaseback transactions and the required
accounting for certain lease modifications that have economic effects that are similar to sale-leaseback transactions.  This statement also amends
other existing authoritative pronouncements to make various technical corrections, clarify meanings or describe their applicability under
changed conditions.  The adoption of the new standard is not currently expected to have a significant impact on the Company's results of
operations or financial position.

New Standards for U.S. GAAP, unaudited to December 31, 2002
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The Company adopted the following standards on July 1, 2002:

i)

the adoption of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, did not have a material affect on the Company's consolidated financial
position or results of operations.
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ii)

the adoption of SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, did not have a material impact on the Company's results of
operations or shareholders' equity.

iii)

the adoption of SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets, did not have a material affect on the
Company's consolidated financial position or results of operations.

iv)

the adoption of SFAS No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendments of SFAS No. 13, and Technical Corrections as of
April 2002, did not have a material affect on the Company's results of operations or its financial position.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)

On July 30, 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities."  The standard requires
companies to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit
or disposal plan.  Examples of costs covered by the standard include lease termination costs and certain employee severance costs that are
associated with a restructuring, discontinued operation, plant closing or other exit or disposal activity.  SFAS No. 146 is to be applied
retroactively to exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002.  The adoption of the new standard is not currently expected to have
a significant impact on the Company's result of operations or financial position.

New Standard for Canadian GAAP

The CICA approved a new Handbook Section 3062, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," which require intangible assets with an indefinite
life and goodwill to be tested for impairment on annual basis.  Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets will no longer be amortized.
 Intangible assets with definite lives will continue to be amortized over their useful lives.  The new section is consistent with those recently
approved by the FASB (SFAS No. 142).  The adoption of this new standard is not expected to have any material effect on the Company's
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  Section 3026 was adopted on July 1, 2002 and the Company does not expect this adoption
to have a significant impact on the Company's results of operations or financial position.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Statement of Operations of

PAN AMERICAN SILVER CORP.

F-22
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COMPILATION REPORT

To the Directors of

Pan American Silver Corp.

We have read the accompanying unaudited pro forma statement of operations of Pan American Silver Corp. (the "Company") for the year ended
December 31, 2003 and have performed the following procedures.

1.

Compared the figures in the columns captioned "Pan American Silver Corp." to the audited financial statements of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 2003 and found them to be in agreement.

2.

Made enquiries of certain officials of the Company who have responsibility for financial and accounting matters about:

a)

the basis for determination of the pro forma adjustments; and

b)

whether the pro forma financial statements comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable securities acts and the related
regulations.

The officials:

a)

described to us the basis for determination of the pro forma adjustments; and

b)

stated that the pro forma statements comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable securities acts and the related regulations.  

3.

Read the notes to the pro forma statements, and found them to be consistent with the basis described to us for determination of the pro forma
adjustments.
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4.

Recalculated the application of the pro forma adjustments to the aggregate of the amount in the column captioned "Pro Forma Adjustment" for
the year ended December 31, 2003, and found the amounts in the column captioned "Pro Forma Pan American Silver Corp." to be arithmetically
correct.

A pro forma financial statement is based on management's assumptions and adjustments which are inherently subjective.  The foregoing
procedures are substantially less than either an audit or a review, the objective of which is the expression of assurance with respect to
management's assumptions, the pro forma adjustments, and the application of the adjustments to the historical financial information.
 Accordingly, we express no such assurance.  The foregoing procedures would not necessarily reveal matters of significance to the pro forma
financial statements, and we therefore make no representation about the sufficiency of the procedures for the purposes of a reader of such
statements.

(signed) DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, Canada

March 19, 2004

Comments for United States Readers on differences between Canadian and United States reporting standards.

The above report, provided solely pursuant to Canadian requirements, is expressed in accordance with standards of reporting generally accepted
in Canada.  To report in conformity with the United States standards on the reasonableness of the pro forma adjustments and their application to
the pro forma financial statements requires an examination or review substantially greater in scope than the review we have conducted. 
Consequently, we are unable to express any opinion in accordance with standards of reporting generally accepted in the United States with
respect to the compilation of the accompanying unedited pro forma financial information.

(signed) DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, Canada

March 19, 2004
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PAN AMERICAN SILVER CORP.

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2003

(Unaudited)

(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars)

Pro Forma
Pan American Pro forma Pan American

Silver Corp. Note
4 adjustment Silver Corp.

REVENUE

$

45,122 -$45,122 EXPENSES Operating 39,778 - 39,778 General and
administration 2,732a)297 3,029 Stock-based compensation 2,893 - 2,893 Depreciation

and 3,325 - 3,325 amortization Reclamation 303 - 303 Exploration 2,543b)343 2,886 Interest and
financing costs 1,156 - 1,156 52,730 640 53,370 LOSS FROM

OPERATIONS (7,608) (640) (8,248) INTEREST INCOME 403 - 403 OTHER INCOME 411a)12 423 NET LOSS
FOR THE YEAR$(6,794) (628) (7,422) LOSS PER SHARE Basic and fully

diluted$(0.20) -$(0.21) WEIGHTED-AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING 51,058,212 - 52,125,252
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Notes to the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2003

(Unaudited)
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(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars)
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1.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations of Pan American Silver Corp. ("Pan American") as at December 31, 2003 has
been prepared by management after giving effect to the acquisition by Pan American of Corner Bay Silver Inc. ("Corner Bay"). 

The pro forma statement of operations combines the audited statements of operations of Pan American for the year ended December 31, 2003
with the results of operations of Corner Bay for the 50 day period ended February 20, 2003.  (The Corner Bay results of the 50 day period ended
February 20, 2003 were prepared from internal unaudited financial statements.)

It is management's opinion that the pro forma consolidated statement of operations includes all adjustments necessary for the fair presentation of
the transactions described in Note 3 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles applied on a basis consistent with Pan
American's accounting policies.  The pro forma consolidated statement of operations is not intended to reflect the results of operations of Pan
American which would have actually resulted had the proposed transactions been effected on the dates indicated.  Further, the pro forma
financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that may be obtained in the future.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations has been compiled using the significant accounting policies as set out in the
audited financial statements of Pan American for the year ended December 31, 2003.  The significant accounting policies of Corner Bay
conform in all material respects to those of Pan American, except as described in and adjusted for in Note 4.

3.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

Acquisition of Corner Bay

On February 20, 2003, Pan American completed its proposed merger with Corner Bay.  Under the terms of the acquisition common shares of
Corner Bay were, directly or indirectly, exchanged for common shares of Pan American and warrants to purchase Pan American common
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shares, on the basis of one Pan American common share for every 2.60 Corner Bay shares and one Pan American warrant for every 5.20 Corner
Bay common shares.  Pan American also agreed to issue 553,846 stock options to replace 960,000 fully vested stock options currently held by
Corner Bay employees and directors.

Each whole Pan American warrant will allow the holder to purchase a Pan American common share for a price of Cdn.$12 for a five-year period
ended February 20, 2008.

Pan American issued 7,636,659 common shares to the shareholders of Corner Bay, and 3,818,330 warrants to purchase common shares valued at
$54,203,000 and $8,889,000, respectively.  The value of the stock options granted was determined to be $1,136,000.
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3.

BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

The business combination has been accounted for as an acquisition by Pan American of Corner Bay and the purchase method of accounting has
been applied.  The consideration given has been allocated to the fair value of net assets acquired as follows:

As at
February 20,

2003
Fair value of net assets acquired
Current assets $ 2,512,000
Plant and equipment 2,500,000
Mineral properties 79,008,000
Other assets 29,000

84,049,000
Less: Current liabilities (104,000)

Provision for future income tax liability (19,035,000)
$ 64,910,000

Consideration given by Pan American
Issue of 7,636,659 common shares $ 54,203,000
Issue of 3,818,330 share purchase warrants 8,889,000
Issue of 553,846 replacement stock options 1,136,000

64,228,000
Add: Costs of acquisition 682,000

$ 64,910,000

The purchase consideration of $64,228,000 for 100% of Corner Bay exceeds the carrying value of the net assets at February 20, 2003 by
$54,108,000 which has been applied to increase the carrying value of mineral properties.  The resulting future income tax liability of
$19,035,000 has also been applied to increase the carrying value of mineral properties.

4.
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PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS

The pro forma consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003 has been adjusted as follows:

(a)

record general and administration expenses of Corner Bay for the 50 day period ended February 20, 2004; and  

(b)

write off deferred exploration expenditures in Corner Bay to comply with Pan American's accounting policy.
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5.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The pro forma consolidated statement of operations is prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada
("Canadian GAAP") which differ in certain respects with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("US GAAP").

Material differences between Canadian and US GAAP and their effect on the pro forma consolidated statement of operations are summarized
below and more fully discussed in Note 18 of the Company's 2003 annual audited consolidated financial statements.

Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations

Pro forma loss for the year under Canadian GAAP  $                 (7,422)

Unrealized loss on short-term investments                           80

Amortization of mineral property                     (1,700)

SFAS 150 adjustments

Interest expense                     (1,887)

Interest accretion                         595

Amortization of debt issue costs                        (454)

                  (10,788)

Future income tax provision                         595

Pro forma net loss under US GAAP                   (10,193)

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities                          (80)

Comprehensive pro forma net loss under US GAAP  $               (10,273)

Basic pro forma loss per share under US GAAP  $                  (0.20)

The information in this Prospectus is not complete and may be changed. These securities may not be sold until the registration statement filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective.  This Prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer
to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED TO BE

DELIVERED TO OFFEREES OR PURCHASERS

Indemnification.

Section 128 of the Company Act (British Columbia) (the "BCCA") authorizes a company, with the approval of the court, to indemnify past and
present directors and officers of the company and past and present directors and officers of a corporation of which the company is or was a
shareholder, against liabilities incurred in connection with the provision of their services as such if the director or officer acted honestly and in
good faith with a view to the best interests of the company and, in the case of a criminal or administrative proceeding, if he or she had
reasonable grounds for believing that his or her conduct was lawful.  Section 128 of the BCCA provides that a company may purchase and
maintain liability insurance for the benefit of such directors and officers.

In accordance with the BCCA, the Articles of the Registrant provide that the Registrant will indemnify its directors, former directors, Secretary
or Assistant Secretary, and may indemnify its officers, employees or agents and those of its subsidiaries, and directors and former directors of its
subsidiaries, and each of their respective heirs and representatives, against all losses, charges and expenses howsoever incurred by them as a
result of their actions in such capacities.  The Registrant has entered into agreements with each of its directors confirming this indemnity.  The
failure of a director or officer of the Registrant to comply with the provisions of the BCCA or the Registrant's Memorandum or Articles,
however, will invalidate any indemnity which he or she is entitled to.

A policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance is maintained by the Registrant which insures directors and officers for losses as a result of
claims against the directors and officers of the Registrant in the indemnity provisions under the Articles and the BCCA.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act") may be permitted to directors, officers or
persons controlling the Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the Registrant has been informed that in the opinion of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore
unenforceable.

II-1
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Exhibits.

The following exhibits have been filed or incorporated by reference as part of the Registration Statement:

Exhibit

Number

Description

4.1

Annual Information Form of the Registrant, dated May 19, 2004. (1)

4.2

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003. (1)

4.3

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Registrant and the notes thereon as at and for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003,
together with the auditors' report thereon.(2)

4.4

Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Registrant and the notes thereto as at and for the nine months ended September 30, 2004,
together with management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations for the nine months ended September 30,
2004.(3)

4.5

Information Circular of the Registrant, dated April 6, 2004, in connection with the Registrant's May 11, 2004 annual meeting of members, other
than the sections titled "Corporate Governance", "Executive Compensation - Compensation Committee", " Executive Compensation - Report on
Executive Compensation" and " Executive Compensation - Performance Graph".(4)

4.6

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated January 8, 2004 relating to the filing of a prospectus. (5)

4.7

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated February 10, 2004, relating to an agreement to purchase 92.014% of the voting shares of
Compañia Minera Argentum S.A. (6)

4.8

Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT - Form 424B2

97



Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated February 18, 2004, relating to financial and operational results for the fourth quarter and year
ended December 31, 2003. (3)

4.9

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated February 27, 2004, relating to an offering of common shares. (7)

4.10

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated February 27, 2004, relating to its intention to make an offer to encourage early conversion of its
outstanding 5.25% convertible debentures. (7)

4.11

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated March 30, 2004, relating to the offer to encourage conversion by holders of its 5.25%
convertible debentures. (8)

4.12

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated May 11, 2004, relating to financial and operational results for the first quarter of 2004. (9)

4.13

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated July 23, 2004, relating the Registrant's offer to purchase the voting shares of Compañia Minera
Argentum S.A. (10)

4.14

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated August 23, 2004, relating to the filing of a prospectus supplement. (11)

4.15

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated August 26, 2004, relating to the purchase of an 88% interest in the Morococha mine. (11)

4.16

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated November 22, 2004, relating to the sale of its interest in the Dukat mine. (12)

4.16

Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Registrant and the notes, including a US GAAP reconciliation, for the nine months ended
September 30, 2004 (13)

5.1

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

5.2

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

6.1

Powers of Attorney (included on page III-3 of this Registration Statement)

7.1
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Form of Indenture

_______________

(1)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 40-F, filed with the Commission on May 20, 2004.

(2)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on March 18, 2004.

(3)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on December 22, 2004.

II-2

(4)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on April 22, 2004.
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(5)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on January 9. 2004.

(6)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on February 11, 2004.

(7)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on March 1, 2004.

(8)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form F-10 (File No. 333-113806) filed with the Commission on March
30, 2004.

(9)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on May 13, 2004.

(10) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on July 27, 2004.

(11) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on December 13, 2004.

(12) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on November 22, 2004.

(13) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on January 18, 2005.
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PART III

UNDERTAKING AND CONSENT TO SERVICE OF PROCESS

Item 1.

Undertaking.

The Registrant undertakes to make available, in person or by telephone, representatives to respond to inquiries made by the Commission staff,
and to furnish promptly, when requested to do so by the Commission staff, information relating to the securities registered pursuant to Form
F-10 or to transactions in such securities.

Item 2.

Consent to Service of Process.

(a)

Concurrently with the filing of this Registration Statement on Form F-10, the Registrant is filing with the Commission a written irrevocable
consent and power of attorney on Form F-X.  

(b)

Pursuant to Section 305(b)(2) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, the Registrant will designate a trustee under the indenture
included as exhibit 7.1 hereto at a later date and will file an application for determining such trustee's eligibility, if required, under such section
or, if required, will have the Trustee file with the Commission a written irrevocable consent and power of attorney on Form F-X at such time.  

(c)

Any change to the name or address of the agent for service of the Registrant or the Trustee will be communicated promptly to the Commission
by amendment to Form F-X referencing the file number of the relevant registration statement.

III-1
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the Registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the
requirements for filing on Form F-10 and has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized, in the City of Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada on January 18, 2005.

PAN AMERICAN SILVER CORP.

By: /s/ Geoffrey A. Burns                                  

Geoffrey A. Burns

President and Chief Executive Officer

III-2
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN AND WOMEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each officer or director of Pan American Silver Corp. whose signature appears
below constitutes and appoints Geoffrey A. Burns and A. Robert Doyle, and each of them, with full power to act without the other, his or her
true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full and several power of substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in
any and all capacities, to sign any or all amendments, including post-effective amendments, and supplements to this Registration Statement on
Form F-10, and registration statements filed pursuant to Rule 429 under the Securities Act and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and
other documents in connection there-with, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full
power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all
intents and purposes as they or he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or
his or her or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this Registration Statement has been signed below by or on behalf of the following persons in
the capacities indicated on January 18, 2005

Signature

Title

 /s/ Geoffrey A. Burns     

Geoffrey A. Burns                                                           President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

 /s/  A. Robert Doyle       

A. Robert Doyle                                                              Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and 
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                                                                                           Principal Accounting Officer)

 /s/ Ross J. Beaty             

Ross J. Beaty                                                                    Director

William A. Fleckenstein                                                 Director

Michael Larson                                                                Director

Michael J.J. Maloney                                                       Director

 /s/  Paul B. Sweeney          

Paul B. Sweeney                                                              Director
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/s/ John M. Willson            

John M. Willson                                                              Director

/s/ John H. Wright               

John H. Wright                                                                Director

III-3
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AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 6(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, the Authorized Representative has duly caused this Registration
Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, solely in its capacity as the duly authorized representative of Pan American Silver Corp.
in the United States, in the City of Reno, State of Nevada on January 18, 2005.

PAN AMERICAN MINERALS INC.

(Authorized Representative)

By:  /s/ Ross J. Beaty

Ross J. Beaty

Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number

Description

Page No.

4.1

Annual Information Form of the Registrant, dated May 19, 2004. (1)

4.2

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003. (1)

4.3

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Registrant and the notes thereon as at and for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003,
together with the auditors' report thereon.(2)

4.4

Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Registrant and the notes thereto as at and for the nine months ended September 30, 2004,
together with management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations for the nine months ended September 30,
2004.(3)

4.5

Information Circular of the Registrant, dated April 6, 2004, in connection with the Registrant's May 11, 2004 annual meeting of members, other
than the sections titled "Corporate Governance", "Executive Compensation - Compensation Committee", " Executive Compensation - Report on
Executive Compensation" and " Executive Compensation - Performance Graph".(4)

4.6

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated January 8, 2004 relating to the filing of a prospectus. (5)

4.7

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated February 10, 2004, relating to an agreement to purchase 92.014% of the voting shares of
Compañia Minera Argentum S.A. (6)

4.8
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Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated February 18, 2004, relating to financial and operational results for the fourth quarter and year
ended December 31, 2003. (3)

4.9

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated February 27, 2004, relating to an offering of common shares. (7)

4.10

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated February 27, 2004, relating to its intention to make an offer to encourage early conversion of its
outstanding 5.25% convertible debentures. (7)

4.11

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated March 30, 2004, relating to the offer to encourage conversion by holders of its 5.25%
convertible debentures. (8)

4.12

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated May 11, 2004, relating to financial and operational results for the first quarter of 2004. (9)

4.13

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated July 23, 2004, relating the Registrant's offer to purchase the voting shares of Compañia Minera
Argentum S.A.(10)

4.14

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated August 23, 2004, relating to the filing of a prospectus supplement. (11)

4.15

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated August 26, 2004, relating to the purchase of an 88% interest in the Morococha mine. (11)

4.16

Material Change Report of the Registrant, dated November 22, 2004, relating to the sale of its interest in the Dukat mine. (12)

4.17

Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Registrant and the notes, including a US GAAP reconciliation, for the nine months ended
September 30, 2004 (13)

5.1

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

5.2

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

6.1

Powers of Attorney (included on page III-3 of this Registration Statement)

7.1
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Form of Indenture

_______________

(1)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 40-F, filed with the Commission on May 20, 2004.

(2)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on March 18, 2004.

(3)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on December 22, 2004.
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(4)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on April 22, 2004.

(5)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on January 9. 2004.

(6)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on February 11, 2004.

(7)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on March 1, 2004.

(8)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form F-10 (File No. 333-113806) filed with the Commission on March
30, 2004.

(9)

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on May 13, 2004.

(10) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on July 27, 2004.

(11) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on December 13, 2004.

(12) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on November 22, 2004.

(13) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 6-K, furnished to the Commission on January 18, 2005.
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Exhibit 7.1

Dated as of •

PAN AMERICAN SILVER CORP.

- and -

·

_______________________________________________

TRUST INDENTURE

PROVIDING FOR THE CREATION

AND

ISSUANCE OF DEBT SECURITIES

ISSUABLE IN SERIES

_______________________________________________
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TRUST INDENTURE

THIS TRUST INDENTURE dated •

BETWEEN:

PAN AMERICAN SILVER CORP., a corporation existing under the laws of the Province of British Columbia

(hereinafter called the "Issuer")

AND:

·, a trust company organized under the laws of Canada and duly authorized to carry on the trust of business in each province of Canada,

(hereinafter called the "Trustee")

WITNESSES THAT WHEREAS the Issuer wishes to issue from time to time Debt Securities in the manner provided for in this Indenture;

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged by the Issuer and the Trustee,
it is agreed as follows:

ARTICLE 1
INTERPRETATION

1.1

Definitions

In this Indenture, the following terms shall have the meanings set out below and grammatical variations of such terms shall have corresponding
meanings:

"Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that is considered to be an affiliated entity of such Person pursuant to Ontario
Securities Commission Rule 45-501;

"Applicable Law" means, at any time, with respect to any Person, property, transaction, event or other matter, as applicable, all laws, rules,
statutes, regulations, treaties, orders, judgments and decrees, and, whether or not having the force of law, all official requests, directives, rules,
guidelines, orders, policies, practices and other requirements of any Governmental Authority relating or applicable at such time to such Person,
property, transaction, event or other matter, and shall also include, whether or not having the force of law, any interpretation thereof by any
Person having jurisdiction over it or charged with its administration or interpretation;

"Applicable Securities Law" means any Applicable Law in any jurisdiction regulating, or regulating disclosure with respect to, any sale or
distribution of securities in, or to residents of, such jurisdiction;

"Authorized Newspaper" means a newspaper, in an official language of the place of publication or in the English language, customarily
published on each day that is a Business Day in the place of publication, whether or not published on days that are not Business Days in the
place of publication, and of general circulation in each place in connection with which the term is used or in the financial
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community of each such place. Where successive publications are required to be made in Authorized Newspapers, the successive publications
may be made in the same or in different newspapers in the same city meeting the foregoing requirements and, in each case, on any day that is a
Business Day in the place of publication;

"Bankruptcy Law" means the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) or any other Canadian federal or provincial law relating to bankruptcy,
insolvency, winding up, liquidation, reorganization or relief of debtors or Title 11, United States Code or any similar United States federal or
state law for the relief of debtors;

"Bankruptcy Order" means any court order made in a proceeding pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law, containing an
adjudication of bankruptcy or insolvency, or providing for liquidation, winding up, dissolution, arrangement or reorganization, or appointing a
Custodian of a debtor or of all or any substantial part of a debtor's property, or providing for a moratorium of indebtedness or other relief of a
debtor;

"Book-Based System" means, in relation to the Global Securities of a Series, the debt clearing, record entry, transfer and pledge systems and
services established and operated by or on behalf of the related Depositary for such Series (including where applicable pursuant to one or more
agreements between such Depositary and its Participants establishing the rules and procedures for such systems and services);

"Bearer Debt Security" means a Debt Security issued in bearer form and which is payable to the bearer from time to time of such Debt
Security, and shall include, where the context so requires, the coupons of such Debt Security;

"Business Day" means each Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday which (a) is not a day on which chartered banks in the City of
Vancouver or, in connection with a particular Series, in any Place of Payment relative to such Series are authorized or required under Applicable
Law to remain closed, and (b) in connection with a particular Series, is a day in any Place of Payment relative to such Series on which the
related Depositary, if any, for such Series processes transactions under its Book-Based System;

"CDS" means The Canadian Depository for Securities Limited, together with its successors from time to time;

"Certificate of the Issuer" means a certificate signed by a Responsible Officer of the Issuer;

"Clearing Agency" means, in relation to a Series issuable in whole or in part in the form of one or more Global Debt Securities: (i) CDS, or (ii)
any other organization recognized as a "clearing agency" pursuant to Applicable Securities Law specified for such purpose in the related Series
Supplement;

"Counsel" means, in the case of Counsel to the Trustee, any barrister, solicitor or other lawyer or firm of barristers, solicitors or other lawyers
retained or employed by the Trustee (who may, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Indenture, also be Counsel to the Issuer) and, in
the case of Counsel to the Issuer, any barrister, solicitor or other lawyer or firm of barristers, solicitors or other lawyers retained or employed by
the Issuer;

"Covenant Defeasance" has the meaning set out in Section 13.1(c);

"Custodian" means any receiver, interim receiver, receiver and manager, trustee, assignee, liquidator, sequestrator or similar official under any
Bankruptcy Law or any other person with like powers;

- 2 -
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"Debt Instrument" means any bond, debenture, note or other evidence of indebtedness of any kind, nature or description whatsoever, each of
which is a "Type" of Debt Instrument;

"Debt Security" means any Debt Instrument executed by the Issuer and certified and delivered by the Trustee from time to time pursuant to this
Indenture, and "Type" of Debt Security shall mean the Type of Debt Instrument so issued and certified;

"Declaration of Acceleration" means, in relation to a Series, an automatic acceleration with respect to such Series under Section 6.2(a) or a
declaration of acceleration with respect to such Series under Section 6.2(b) or the related Series Supplement;

"Default" means, with respect to a Series, any occurrence that is, or with notice or the lapse of time or both would become, an Event of Default
with respect to such Series;

"Default Interest" has the meaning set out in Section 4.2(c);

"Defeasance" has the meaning set out in Section 13.1(b);

"Definitive Bearer Debt Security" means, with respect to a Series, a Bearer Debt Security in the definitive form specified or provided for in the
related Series Supplement;

"Definitive Debt Security" means, with respect to a Series, a Debt Security, whether in bearer or registered form, in the definitive form
specified or provided for in the related Series Supplement;

"Depositary" means, with respect to a Series issuable in whole or in part in the form of one or more Global Debt Securities, the Clearing
Agency or Clearing Agencies designated in or pursuant to the related Series Supplement as the Depositary or Depositaries for such Series,
together with their respective successors in such capacity;

"Equivalent Amount" means, with respect to any two currencies, the amount obtained in one such currency when an amount in the other
currency is translated into the first currency using the spot wholesale transactions buying rate of the Bank of Canada for the purchase of the
applicable amount of the first currency with the other currency in effect as of 12:00 noon on the Business Day with respect to which such
computation is required for the purpose of this Indenture or the other applicable Series Specific Document or, in the absence of such a buying
rate on such date, using such other rate as the Trustee, the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent, as the case may be, may reasonably
select;

"Event of Default" means, with respect to a Series, any of the events identified in Section 6.1, or in the related Series Supplement, as being an
Event of Default with respect to such Series;

"Global Debt Security" means a Debt Security of a Series in global form, whether in bearer or registered form;

"Governmental Authority" means, when used with respect to any Person, any government, parliament, legislature, regulatory authority,
agency, tribunal, department, commission, board, instrumentality, court, arbitration board or arbitrator or other law, regulation or rule making
entity (including a Minister of the Crown, any central bank, Superintendent of Financial Institutions or other comparable authority or agency)
having or purporting to have jurisdiction on behalf of, or pursuant to the laws of, Canada or any country in which such Person is incorporated,
continued, amalgamated, merged or otherwise created or established or in which such Person has an undertaking, carries on business or holds
property, or any

- 3 -
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province, territory, state, municipality, district or political subdivision of any such country or of any such province, territory or state of such
country;

"Holder" means, with respect to a Bearer Debt Security, including a coupon of a Bearer Debt Security, the Person having possession of such
Bearer Debt Security or coupon, and, with respect to a Registered Debt Security, the Person in whose name such Registered Debt Security is
registered in the relevant Register in accordance with this Indenture (and including, for greater certainty, in the case of any Global Debt Security,
the applicable Depositary or its nominee which has possession of such Global Debt Security or in whose name such Global Debt Security is
registered, as the case may be);

"Holder Action" means any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action of any nature or kind given, made
or taken, or to be given, made or taken, by one or more Holders under or in respect of this Indenture or any Debt Securities;

"Holder Direction" means:

(a)

in respect of a Holder Action by Holders of a Series solely in relation to such Series:

(i)

an approval of or direction to make, give or take such Holder Action given by Holders of more than 50% of the unpaid principal amount of such
Series voted at a duly constituted meeting of such Holders; or

(ii)

an approval of or direction to make, give or take such Holder Action given pursuant to an instrument in writing signed in one or more
counterparts by Holders of more than 50% of the unpaid principal amount of such Series; or

(b)

in respect of a Holder Action by Holders of more than one Series in relation to more than one Series:

(i)

an approval of or direction to make, give or take such Holder Action given by Holders of more than 50% of the aggregate unpaid principal
amount of all such Series voted at a duly constituted meeting of such Holders; or

(ii)

an approval of or direction to make, give or take such Holder Action given pursuant to an instrument in writing signed in one or more
counterparts by the Holders of more than 50% of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all such Series;

"Including" means including without limitation; and "include" or "includes" shall mean, respectively, include without limitation or includes
without limitation;

"Indenture" means (i) this trust indenture as originally executed, including the Schedules to this Indenture, as the same may be supplemented
(other than by a Series Supplement), amended (other than by a Series Supplement), consolidated or restated from time to time, and (b) with
respect to a particular Series, this Indenture as defined in clause (i) above as supplemented by the related Series Supplement; and the expressions
"hereto", "herein", "hereof", "hereby", "hereunder", and similar expressions refer to this Indenture and not to any particular Article, Section or
other part of this Indenture;

"Indenture Amendment" has the meaning set out in Section 12.2(a);
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"Interest Payment Date" means, with respect to any accrued interest on any Debt Security, the Stated Maturity of such interest;

"Issued" means, in relation to a Debt Security, that such Debt Security has been executed by the Issuer, certified by the Trustee as provided
herein, and delivered by or on behalf of the Issuer;

"Issuer" has the meaning set out in the first Section of this Indenture, and shall include its successors from time to time pursuant to the
applicable provisions of this Indenture;

"Issuer Order" or "Issuer Request" means a written order or request signed in the name of the Issuer by a Responsible Officer;

"Mandatory Sinking Fund Payment" has the meaning set out in Section 3.2(a);

"Material Subsidiary" means the following Subsidiaries of the Issuer:

(a)

Pan American Silver (Barbados) Corp.;

(b)

Compania Minera Huaron S.A.;

(c)

Pan American Silver S.A.C. Mina Quiruvilca;

(d)

Pan American Silver (Peru) S.A.;

(e)

Plata Panamericana S.A. de C.V.;

(f)

Compania Minera Altovalle S.A.;

(g)

Minera Triton Argentina S.A.;

(h)
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Pan American Silver (Bolivia) S.A.;

(i)

Corner Bay Silver Inc.;

(j)

Pan MacKenzie Resources Inc.;

(k)

Minera Corner Bay S.A. de C.V.; and

(l)

Compania Minera Argentum S.A.;

"Maturity" means, with respect to any principal of a Debt Security, the date on which such principal becomes due and payable, whether at
Stated Maturity or by Declaration of Acceleration, call for redemption or otherwise;

"Notice" has the meaning set out in Section 9.1;

"Offering Document" means, with respect to a Series, any prospectus, offering memorandum or similar disclosure document prepared by or on
behalf of the Issuer for delivery to purchasers, or prospective purchasers, of such Series in connection with the initial sale of such series;

"Office" or "Agency" means, with respect to a Series, an office or agency of the Issuer, the Trustee, the related Registrar or the related Paying
Agent, as the case may be, maintained or designated in the Place of

- 5 -

Payment for such Series pursuant to this Indenture or the related Series Supplement or any other office or agency of the Issuer, the Trustee, the
related Registrar or the related Paying Agent, as the case may be, maintained or designated for such Series pursuant to this Indenture and the
related Series Supplement;

"Opinion of Counsel" means a written opinion addressed to the Trustee (among other addressees) by legal counsel who may, except as
otherwise expressly provided in this Indenture, be Counsel for the Issuer, and who shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee;

"Optional Sinking Fund Payment" has the meaning set out in Section 3.2(a);

"Original Currency" has the meaning set out in Section 4.3;

"Other Currency" has the meaning set out in Section 4.3;

"Other Series Agent" means, with respect to any Series, a Person appointed in or pursuant to the related Series Supplement to act in any agency
or other identified capacity (other than as Depositary, Registrar or Paying Agent) for such Series, together with such Person's successors from
time to time in such capacity;

Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT - Form 424B2

133



"Outstanding" means, in relation to a Series, all Debt Securities of such Series issued under this Indenture on or prior to the date of
determination, except:

(a)

any such Debt Securities cancelled by the Trustee, or delivered to the Trustee, the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent for cancellation,
on or prior to such date;

(b)

any such Debt Securities for which funds in the necessary amount to repay such Debt Securities have been deposited on or prior to such date
with the Trustee, the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent (other than the Issuer) in trust or set aside and segregated in trust by the Issuer
(if the Issuer shall act as its own Paying Agent) for the Holders of such Debt Securities; provided that, if such Debt Securities are to be
redeemed, notice of such redemption has been duly given pursuant to this Indenture or provision for such notice satisfactory to the Trustee has
been made;

(c)

Debt Securities as to which Defeasance has been effected pursuant to Section 13.1; and

(d)

Debt Securities which have been paid and satisfied in full or in exchange for or in lieu of which other Debt Securities of such Series have been
issued other than any such Debt Securities in respect of which there shall have been presented to the Trustee proof satisfactory to the Trustee that
such Debt Securities are held by a bona fide purchaser in whose hands such Debt Securities are valid obligations of the Issuer;

provided, however, that in determining whether Holders of the requisite principal amount of outstanding Debt Securities have given, made or
taken any Holder Action as of any date, (i) the principal amount of a Debt Security shall be the principal of such Debt Security which would be
due and payable as of such date upon acceleration of the Maturity of such Debt Security to such date pursuant to a Declaration of Acceleration,
(ii) if, as of such date, the principal amount of a Debt Security payable at its Stated Maturity is not determinable, the principal amount thereof
which shall be deemed to be outstanding shall be the amount as specified in or determined pursuant to the related Series Supplement, (iii) the
principal amount of a Debt Security denominated in one or more foreign currencies which shall be deemed to be outstanding shall be the
Equivalent Amount in United States Dollars, determined as of such date, of the principal amount of such Debt Security (or, in the case of a Debt
Security described in clause (i) or (ii) above, of the amount determined as provided in such clause), and (iv) Debt Securities beneficially owned

- 6 -

by the Issuer or any other obligor upon such Debt Securities or any Affiliate of the Issuer or of such other obligor shall be disregarded and
deemed not to be outstanding, except that, in determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying upon any such Holder Action, only
Debt Securities which a Responsible Officer of the Trustee knows to be so owned shall be so disregarded. Debt Securities so owned which have
been pledged in good faith may be regarded as outstanding if the pledgee establishes to the satisfaction of the Trustee the pledgee's right so to act
with respect to such Debt Securities and that the pledgee is not the Issuer or any other obligor upon such Debt Securities or any Affiliate of the
Issuer or of such other obligor, provided that the outstanding principal amount of any such pledged Debt Securities as at any date shall be
deemed to be only the aggregate of the indebtedness and liabilities of the Issuer secured by such pledge that are outstanding on such date or
which the pledgee thereof (or Person on whose behalf the pledgee thereof is acting) is committed on such date to permit the Issuer to incur;

"Participant" means, in relation to a Depositary, a broker, dealer, bank or other financial institution or other Person on whose behalf such
Depositary or its nominee holds Debt Securities pursuant to a Book-Based System operated by such Depositary;
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"Paying Agent" means, in relation to a Series, the Person or Persons appointed in or pursuant to the related Series Supplement as the paying
agent or paying agents for such Series, in such capacity, together with such Persons' successors from time to time in such capacity;

"Person" means any natural person, corporation, firm, partnership, limited liability corporation, joint venture or other unincorporated
association, trust, government or Governmental Authority and pronouns have a similar extended meaning;

"Place of Payment" means, in relation to a Series, the place or places where the principal of and any premium, interest and other amounts on
such Series are payable as specified in the related Series Supplement;

"Principal Terms" has the meaning set out in Section 2.2;

"Privacy Laws" has the meaning set out in Section 8.15;

"Proceeding" means any suit, action or other judicial or administrative proceeding;

"Property" means any asset, revenue or any other property or property right or interest, whether tangible or intangible, real or personal,
including any right to receive income;

"Quorum" means, in relation to a meeting of Holders of one or more Series, a quorum of such Holders determined in accordance with Section
10.2(c)(i);

"Redemption Date" means, with respect to a Debt Security to be redeemed, the date fixed for such redemption by or pursuant to the related
Series Supplement;

"Replacement Agent" has the meaning set out in Section 2.14(a);

"Redemption Price" means, with respect to a Debt Security to be redeemed, the price (including any applicable premium) at which such Debt
Security is to be, or may be, redeemed, as specified in the related Series Supplement;

"Register" has the meaning set out in Section 2.9(a);

- 7 -

"Registered Debt Security" means a Debt Security issued in registered form and which is payable to the registered Holder thereof;

"Registrar" means, in relation to a Series, the Person or Persons appointed in or pursuant to the related Series Supplement as the registrar or
registrars for such Series, in such capacity, together with such Persons' successors from time to time in such capacity;

"Regular Interest Record Date" means, with respect to a Series and related Interest Payment Date, the date specified in or determined pursuant
to the related Series Supplement as the record date for the determination of the Holders to whom interest on such Series is payable on such
Interest Payment Date, provided that, if the related Series Supplement does not contain any provision specifying or setting out the manner to
determine such date, the Regular Interest Record Date for such Series shall mean (i) the fifteenth day of the month immediately preceding the
month in which such Interest Payment Date occurs, if such Interest Payment Date is the fourteenth or any preceding day of a month, and (ii) the
last day of the month immediately preceding the month in which such Interest Payment Date occurs, if such Interest Payment Date is the
fifteenth or any subsequent day of a month;

"Responsible Officer" means, with respect to: (i) the Trustee, any Vice President, any Assistant Vice President, any Assistant Secretary, any
Assistant Treasurer, any Senior Manager or any Manager, and any other officer of the Trustee customarily performing functions similar to any
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such office within the corporate trust department of the Trustee and also, with respect to a particular matter, any other officer to whom such
matter is referred because of such officer's knowledge of and familiarity with that relevant subject; or (ii) the Issuer, the Chairman, the Chief
Executive Officer, the President, the Chief Financial Officer, any Executive Vice President, any Vice President, any Secretary, and any other
officer of the Issuer customarily performing functions similar to any such office with the Issuer;

"Series" means all Debt Securities of the same Type issued pursuant to the same Series Supplement, the Principal Terms of which are, subject to
the last sentence of Section 2.2, identical, whether or not such Debt Securities have been or are to be issued on the same date;

"Series Issuance Date" means, with respect to a Series, the date specified as such in the related Series Supplement;

"Series Specific Documents" means, in relation to a Series: (a) this Indenture including the related Series Supplement; (b) all Debt Securities of
such Series; (c) all other documents and agreements, including those creating any Series Specific Lien for such Series identified in the related
Series Supplement as a Series Specific Document for such Series; and (d) all other agreements, documents, certificates and instruments
delivered by the Issuer to the Trustee pursuant to, or in respect of, any of the agreements, documents, certificates or instruments referred to in
any of the preceding clauses of this definition, in each case as the same may from time to time be supplemented, amended, consolidated or
restated;

"Series Specific Lien" has the meaning set out in Section 4.4(c);

"Series Supplement" means, with respect to a Series, a supplement to this Indenture establishing the Principal Terms of, and other terms and
conditions applicable to, such Series, as such supplement may be amended, modified, supplemented, consolidated or restated from time to time;

"Special Interest Record Date" has, with respect to the payment of any Default Interest on a Series, the meaning set out in Section 4.2(c)(i);

- 8 -
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"Special Quorum" means, with respect to a Special Holder Direction to be considered at a meeting of Holders, a quorum of such Holders
determined in accordance with Section 10.2(c)(ii);

"Special Holder Direction" means:

(a)

in respect of a Holder Action by Holders of a Series solely in relation to such Series:

(i)

an approval of or direction to make, give or take such Holder Action given by Holders of 100% of the unpaid principal amount of such Series
voted at a duly constituted meeting of such Holders; or

(ii)

an approval of or direction to make, give or take such Holder Action given pursuant to an instrument in writing signed in one or more
counterparts by the Holders of 100% of the unpaid principal amount of such Series; or

(b)

in respect of a Holder Action by Holders of more than one Series in relation to more than one Series:

(i)

an approval of or direction to make, give or take such Holder Action given by Holders of 100% of the unpaid principal amount of all such Series
voted at a duly constituted meeting of such Holders; or

(ii)

an approval of or direction to make, give or take such Holder Action given pursuant to an instrument in writing signed in one or more
counterparts by the Holders of 100% of the unpaid principal amount all such Series;

"Stated Maturity" means, with respect to any principal of or accrued interest on a Debt Security, the fixed date or dates specified in the related
Series Supplement on which such principal or interest is due and payable;

"Subsidiary" means any company or other business entity of which the Issuer owns or controls (either directly or through one or more other
Subsidiaries) more than 50% of the issued share capital or other ownership interest, in each case having ordinary voting power to elect directors,
managers or trustees of such company or other business entity (whether or not capital stock or other ownership interest or any other class or
classes shall or might have voting power upon the occurrence of any contingency);

"TIA" means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939;

"Transfer Agent" has the meaning set out in Section 2.10;

"Trustee" has the meaning set out in the first Section of this Indenture and shall include any successor Trustee appointed pursuant to this
Indenture;

"Trust Indenture Legislation" means, at any time, (i) the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), (ii) the provisions of
any other applicable statute of Canada or any province thereof and (iii) the TIA and regulations thereunder, but only to the extent applicable
under Rule 4d-9 under the TIA, in each case, relating to trust indentures and to the rights, duties, and obligations of Trustee under trust
indentures and of corporations issuing debt obligations under trust indentures to the extent that such provisions are at such time in force and
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applicable to this Indenture; and

"Type" has the meaning set out in the definition of "Debt Security".

- 9 -

1.2

Accounting Principles

As used in this Indenture and in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant to this Indenture, accounting terms not defined in
this Indenture, (including with respect to a particular Series, in the related Series Supplement) or in any such certificate or other document, and
accounting terms partly defined in this Indenture (including with respect to a particular Series, in the related Series Supplement) or in any such
certificate or other document to the extent not defined, shall have the respective meanings given to them under Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.  To the extent that the definitions of accounting terms in this Indenture, (including any Series Supplement) or in any such
certificate or other document are inconsistent with the meanings of such terms under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, the
definitions contained in this Indenture, (including such Series Supplement) or in any such certificate or other document shall prevail.

1.3

Headings and Table Of Contents

The division of this Indenture, a Series Supplement or a Debt Security into Articles, Sections and other subdivisions, the provision of a table of
contents and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this
Indenture, such Series Supplement or such Debt Security.

1.4

Section and Schedule References

Unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith, references in this Indenture to Articles, Sections, or other
subdivisions are to Articles, Sections or other subdivisions of this Indenture.

1.5

Governing Law

This Indenture, each Series Supplement and each Debt Security shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province
of British Columbia and the federal laws of Canada applicable in such Province, and each of the Issuer, the Trustee and, by their acceptance of
Debt Securities and the benefits of this Indenture and the related Series Supplement, the Holders from time to time submit to the non-exclusive
jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of British Columbia.

1.6
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Currency

Unless expressly provided to the contrary in this Indenture or in any Debt Security, all monetary amounts in this Indenture or in such Debt
Security refer to United States Dollars.

1.7

Non-Business Days

Unless expressly provided to the contrary in this Indenture or in any Debt Security, whenever any payment shall be due, any period of time
would begin or end, any calculation is to be made or any other action is to be taken on, or as of, or from a period ending on, a day other than a
Business Day, such payment shall be made, such period of time shall begin or end, such calculation shall be made and such other actions shall be
taken, as the case may be, on, or as of, or from a period ending on, the next succeeding Business Day.

- 10 -

1.8

Time

Unless otherwise expressly stated in this Indenture or in any Debt Security, all references to a time will mean Vancouver, British Columbia local
time. Time shall be of the essence in this Indenture and all other Series Specific Documents.

1.9

Reference to Statutes

Unless expressly provided to the contrary in this Indenture or in any Debt Security, all references to any statute or any provision of any statute
shall include all regulations or policies made under such statute or in connection with such statute from time to time, and shall include such
statute, provision, regulation or policies as the same may be amended, restated, re-enacted or replaced from time to time.

1.10

Severability

In the event that one or more provisions in this Indenture, any Series Supplement or any Debt Security shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable
in any respect under any Applicable Law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof or thereof shall not be
affected or impaired thereby. Each of the provisions of this Indenture and the other Series Specific Documents is declared to be separate and
distinct.

1.11

Number, Gender and Expressions
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Words importing the singular number only will include the plural and vice versa, words importing gender will include all genders and words
importing any type or category of Persons will include all types and categories of Persons. Where any term or expression is defined in this
Agreement, derivations of such term or expression will have a corresponding meaning.

1.12

Independence of Covenants

Each covenant contained in this Indenture or any other Series Specific Document shall be construed (absent an express provision to the contrary)
as being independent of each other covenant, so that compliance with any one covenant shall not (absent such an express contrary provision) be
deemed to excuse compliance with any other covenant.

1.13

Interest Payments and Calculations

(a)

All interest payments to be made under this Indenture or any Debt Security will be paid without allowance or deduction for deemed
re-investment or otherwise, both before and after maturity and before and after default or judgment, if any, until payment of the amount on
which such interest is accruing, and, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, interest will accrue on overdue interest.

(b)

For the purposes of the Interest Act (Canada), if in this Indenture or in any Debt Security a rate of interest is or is to be calculated on the basis of
a period which is less than a full calendar year, the yearly rate of interest to which such rate is equivalent is such rate multiplied by the actual
number of days in the calendar year for which such calculation is made and divided by the number of days in such period.

(c)

The rates of interest stipulated in this indenture or in any Debt Security will be calculated using the nominal rate method of calculation, and will
not be calculated using the effective rate method of calculation or on any other basis that gives effect to the principle of deemed reinvestment of
interest.

- 11 -

(d)

In calculating interest or fees payable under this Indenture or under a Debt Security for any period, unless otherwise specifically stated, the first
day of such period shall be included and the last day of such period shall be excluded.

1.14

English Language
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The Issuer, the Trustee and, by their acceptance of Debt Securities and the benefits of this Indenture and the related Series Supplement, the
Holders acknowledge that this Indenture, each Debt Security and each document related hereto and thereto (whether or not any of such
documents is also drawn up in French) has been drawn up in English at the express will of such Persons. Les parties a ces présentes conviennent
que ces présentes ainsi que tout document qui s'y rattache (incluant tout document rédige en francais et en anglais) soient rédigés en langue
anglaise a la volonté expresse des parties.

1.15

No Conflict With Series Supplements

The terms and provisions of a Series Supplement for a Series may eliminate, modify, amend or add to any of the terms and provisions of this
Indenture, but solely as applied to such Series. The insertion of the phrase "IN ANY SERIES SUPPLEMENT", "UNLESS OTHERWISE
SPECIFIED IN THE RELATED SERIES SUPPLEMENT" or similar phrases in this Indenture, or the absence of any such phrase, shall not limit
the scope of or otherwise affect the preceding sentence or Section 2.2. For greater certainty, if a term or provision contained in this Indenture
shall conflict or be inconsistent with a term or provision of a Series Supplement for a Series, such Series Supplement shall govern with respect to
such Series; provided, however, that the terms and provisions of such Series Supplement may eliminate, modify, amend or add to the terms and
provisions of this Indenture solely as applied to such Series.

1.16

Certificate and Opinion as to Conditions Precedent

Upon any request or application by the Issuer to the Trustee to take any action under this Indenture or any other Series Specific Document or
otherwise upon the demand of the Trustee, the Issuer shall furnish to the Trustee:

(a)

a Certificate of the Issuer stating that all conditions, if any, provided for in this Indenture relating to the proposed action have been complied
with; and

(b)

an Opinion of Counsel stating that, in the opinion of such counsel, all such conditions, if any, have been complied with in accordance with the
terms of the Indenture,

except that in the case of any such application or request as to which the furnishing of such documents is specifically required by any provision
of this Indenture relating to such particular application or request, no additional certificate or opinion need be furnished.

1.17

Statements Required in Certificate or Opinion

Each certificate or opinion, including any Certificate of the Issuer or Opinion of Counsel, with respect to compliance with a covenant or
condition provided for in this Indenture shall include:

(a)

a statement that each person making such certificate or opinion has read and understands such covenant or condition;

- 12 -
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(b)

a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which the statements or opinions contained in such
certificate or opinion are based;

(c)

a statement that, in the opinion of each such person, he has made such examination or investigation as is necessary to enable such person to
make the statement or express an informed opinion as to whether or not such covenant or condition has been complied with; and

(d)

a statement that, in the opinion of such person, such covenant or condition has been complied with or satisfied.

1.18

Form of Documents Delivered to Trustee

In any case where several matters are required to be certified by, or covered by the opinion of, only one Person, or certified or covered by only
one document, one such Person may certify or give an opinion with respect to some matters and one or more other such Persons as to other
matters, and any such Person may certify or give an opinion as to such matters in one or several documents.

Any certificate or opinion of an officer of the Issuer may be based, insofar as it relates to legal matters, upon a certificate or opinion of, or
representations by, counsel, unless such officer knows, or in the exercise of reasonable care should know, that the certificate or opinion or
representations with respect to the matters upon which his certificate or opinion is based are erroneous. Any such certificate or Opinion of
Counsel may be based, insofar as it relates to factual matters, upon a certificate or opinion of, or representations by, an officer of officers of the
Issuer stating that the information with respect to such factual matters is in the possession of the Issuer, unless such counsel knows, or in the
exercise of reasonable care should know, that the certificate or opinion or representations with respect to such matters are erroneous.

Where any Person is required to make, give or execute two or more applications, requests, consents, certificates, statements, opinions or other
instruments under this Indenture, they may, but need not, be consolidated and form one instrument

ARTICLE 2
THE DEBT SECURITIES

2.1

No Limit on Issue

The aggregate principal amount of Debt Securities which may be issued under this Indenture is unlimited, and the aggregate principal amount of
any Series which may be issued under this Indenture will be specified or determined in the manner provided for in the related Series Supplement
(which amount, for greater certainty, may be unlimited). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Debt Securities may be issued only upon and subject to
the conditions specified in this Indenture.

2.2

Principal Terms of a Series
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Prior to the initial issuance of any Debt Securities of a Series, the Issuer will establish, pursuant to a separate Series Supplement, the principal
terms of such Series (the "Principal Terms"), which may include the following:

(a)

the name, title or designation of such Series (which will distinguish such Series from all other Series);
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(b)

the Type of Debt Securities that will comprise such Series;

(c)

the aggregate principal amount of such Debt Securities that may be issued (except for Debt Securities issued upon a transfer of, or in exchange
for, or in lieu of, other Debt Securities of such Series);

(d)

the date or dates of payment (or the method for determining the date or dates of such payment) of principal of and any premium and other
amounts on such Debt Securities;

(e)

the currency of such Debt Securities and whether the Holder of any such Debt Security or the Issuer may elect the currency in which payments
on such Debt Security are to be made and, if so, the manner of such election;

(f)

the denominations in which such Debt Securities may be issued;

(g)

the manner of payment (including whether payment will be made in cash, securities or a combination thereof) and the Place of Payment for such
Debt Securities and any special provisions for the payment of principal of and any premium and other amounts on such Debt Securities;

(h)

whether such Debt Securities are to be interest bearing and, if so, the rate or rates of interest, the date from which interest on such Debt
Securities will accrue, the Interest Payment Dates and the Regular Interest Record Dates (or the method of determining any of the foregoing), the
manner of payment of interest (including whether interest will be paid in cash, securities or a combination thereof) and any special provisions for
the payment of additional interest with respect to such Debt Securities;

(i)
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the price at which the Debt Securities will be issued (or the manner of determination, thereof, if offered on a non-fixed price basis) and whether
at par, at a discournt or at a premium;

(j)

the right of the Issuer, if any, to extend the Interest Payment Dates, and the duration of any such extension, with respect to such Debt Securities;

(k)

the right of the Issuer, if any, to prepay, redeem or purchase such Debt Securities and, in relation to any such right, the period or periods within
which, the price or prices at which and the terms and conditions upon which, such Debt Securities are to be so prepaid, redeemed or purchased,
in whole or in part;

(l)

the right of the Holders, if any, to cause the Issuer to prepay, redeem or repurchase such Debt Securities and, in relation to any such right, the
details of the obligation, if any, of the Issuer to prepay, redeem or repurchase such Debt Securities and the period or periods within which, the
price or prices at which, and the terms and conditions upon which, such Debt Securities are to be so prepaid, redeemed or purchased, in whole or
in part;

(m)

the rights or obligations of the Issuer, if any, to establish and fund a sinking fund or other analogous arrangement with respect to such Debt
Securities, and in relation to any such right or obligation the details of the right or obligation, if any, of the Issuer to establish and fund such
sinking fund or analogous arrangement and the terms and conditions upon which such sinking fund or analogous arrangement may or shall be
established and funded;
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(n)

the definitive form or forms of such Debt Securities including the form of the certificate of the Trustee relative thereto;

(o)

whether such Debt Securities will be issued as Bearer Debt Securities or Registered Debt Securities or both;

(p)

whether such Debt Securities will be issued as either Definitive Debt Securities or Global Debt Securities or both, and the Depositary for any
such Global Debt Securities, the terms and conditions, if any, upon which any such Global Debt Securities may be exchanged, in whole or in
part, for Definitive Debt Securities, and the manner in which any interest payable on such Global Debt Securities will be paid;

(q)

the purpose, if any, for which the net proceeds from the issue of such Debt Securities are to be used by the Issuer;
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(r)

the terms, if any, pursuant to which such Debt Securities are subject to defeasance;

(s)

the subordination provisions, if any, to be applicable to such Debt Securities;

(t)

the terms and conditions, if any, pursuant to which such Debt Securities are to be guaranteed or secured;

(u)

whether such Debt Securities will be convertible into any other security of the Issuer and, if so, the terms and conditions of conversion including
the conversion price, the conversion period and any provisions pursuant to which the number of securities of the Issuer to be received by the
Holders of such Debt Securities would be subject to adjustment;

(v)

if the amount of principal of or any premium, interest or other amount on such Debt Securities may be determined with reference to an index or
an identifiable security, commodity or other asset, the description of such index, security, commodity or other asset and the manner in which
such amounts shall be determined;

(w)

if other than the full principal amount thereof, the portion of the principal amount of such Debt Securities which shall be payable upon a
Declaration of Acceleration;

(x)

any restrictions on the transfer or exchange of the Debt Securities;

(y)

the identity of the Trustee;

(z)

whether the Debt Securities will be listed on a national exchange;

(aa)

whether a Registrar, Paying Agent or Other Series Agent will be appointed for such Debt Securities and, if so, the identity of, or the manner for
determining the identity of such Registrar, Paying Agent and Other Series Agent;

(bb)

any provisions with respect to those definitions specified in Article 1, and those other provisions of this Indenture, which require or permit
further specification in the related Series Supplement;

- 15 -

Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT - Form 424B2

145



(cc)

any modifications of the thresholds contained in the definitions of "Holder Direction" and "Special Holder Direction";

(dd)

any additional terms and provisions with respect to, and any additional conditions, representations, covenants and Events of Default, if any, for,
such Debt Securities;

(ee)

any modification or elimination of any of the definitions, representations, covenants, conditions, Events of Default or other terms and provisions
of this Indenture to be applicable to such Debt Securities;

(ff)

any provisions granting special rights to Holders of such Debt Securities when a specified event occurs;

(gg)

whether and under what circumstances the Issuer will be required to pay any additional amounts for withholding or deducting Canadian taxes
with respect to Debt Securities and whether the Issuer will have the option to redeem the Debt Securities rather than pay the additional amounts;

(hh)

any special tax implications of, or any special tax provisions, representations, agreements or indemnities relating to, such Debt Securities,
including any provisions for withholding tax indemnities or gross-ups; and

(ii)

any other provisions, requirements, conditions, indemnities, enhancements or other matters of any nature or kind whatsoever relating to such
Debt Securities including any terms which may be required by, or advisable under, any Applicable Law or any rules, procedures or requirements
of any securities exchange on which any of such Debt Securities are, or are proposed to be, listed or of any over-the-counter market in which any
of such Debt Securities are, or are proposed to be, traded or which may be advisable in connection with the marketing of such Debt Securities.

All Debt Securities of a particular Series will be subject to identical Principal Terms except that the issue date, the issue price and the amount of
the first payment of interest may be different in respect of Debt Securities of such Series issued on different dates.

2.3

Currency and Denominations

Debt Securities shall be issuable only in the currency or currencies, and only in the denomination or denominations, prescribed in the related
Series Supplement.

2.4

Form of Definitive Debt Securities
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(a)

The definitive form or forms of a Debt Security, and the Trustee's certificate of authentication on such Debt Security, shall be substantially as set
forth in the related Series Supplement. The forms of all Debt Securities may contain such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and
other variations as are required or permitted by this Indenture and the related Series Supplement, and may have such letters, numbers or other
marks or identification or designation and such legends or endorsements placed thereon as are required to conform to usage or to comply with
any Applicable Law, or with the rules of any securities exchange on which any of such Debt Securities may be listed or any over-the-counter
market on which any of such Debt Securities may be traded, or as the Issuer may determine to be necessary, appropriate or desirable for any
other purpose.
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(b)

Debt Securities may be typewritten, printed, lithographed or engraved or otherwise produced, or be any combination of the foregoing, as the
Issuer may determine.

2.5

Form of Interim Debt Securities

(a)

Pending the delivery of Definitive Debt Securities of a Series to the Trustee, there may be issued, in lieu of such Definitive Debt Securities,
interim Debt Securities of such Series, in such forms and in such denominations and signed in such manner as the Issuer may approve, entitling
the Holders of such interim Debt Securities to Definitive Debt Securities of such Series when the same are ready for delivery; provided,
however, that the aggregate unpaid principal amount of interim Debt Securities of a Series so created and certified shall not exceed the aggregate
unpaid principal amount of Debt Securities of such Series for the time being authorized. The provisions of Section 2.7 regarding certification by
the Trustee shall apply to interim Debt Securities.

(b)

When issued, interim Debt Securities of a Series shall, for all purposes, be deemed to be Debt Securities of such Series and, pending the
exchange of such interim Debt Securities for Definitive Debt Securities of such Series, the Holders of such interim Debt Securities shall be
deemed to be Holders of Debt Securities of such Series and entitled to the benefit of this Indenture to the same extent and in the same manner as
though such exchange had been made.

(c)

Immediately after the delivery of Definitive Debt Securities of a Series to the Trustee, the Trustee shall call in for exchange all interim Debt
Securities of such Series and immediately after such exchange shall cancel the same. No charge shall be made by the Issuer or the Trustee to the
Holders of such interim Debt Securities for such exchange.

2.6

Execution
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(a)

Debt Securities shall be executed on behalf of the Issuer by a Responsible Officer of the Issuer. The signature of such Responsible Officer on
any Debt Securities may be manual or mechanically reproduced, and Debt Securities bearing such mechanically reproduced signature shall be as
valid and binding upon the Issuer as if a Responsible Officer had manually signed such Debt Securities. Debt Securities bearing the manual or
facsimile signature of an individual who was, at the time that such signature was affixed, a Responsible Officer of the Issuer shall, subject to
certification by the Trustee pursuant to Section 2.7, be valid and binding upon the Issuer notwithstanding that such individual ceased to be a
Responsible Officer of the Issuer prior to the certification and delivery of such Debt Securities.

(b)

The Issuer shall provide to the Trustee, the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent, as the case may be, a supply of certificates to evidence
Debt Securities for each Series in such forms (including interim, bearer, registered, global or definitive, as the case may be), in such amounts,
bearing such distinguishing letters and numbers, and as at such times as are necessary to enable the Trustee, the related Registrar and the related
Paying Agent to fulfil their respective responsibilities under this Indenture.

2.7

Certification By Trustee

(a)

At any time and from time to time after the execution and delivery of this Indenture (including the related Series Supplement), the Issuer may
deliver Debt Securities signed by a Responsible Officer of the Issuer to the Trustee for certification, pursuant to an Issuer Order applicable
thereto. Upon receipt by the Trustee of an Issuer Order applicable to such Debt Securities, accompanied by a Certificate of the Issuer and an
Opinion of Counsel, each stating that all conditions precedent provided for in this Indenture and any other Series Specific Document for the
issue of such Debt Securities have been
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complied with, the Trustee shall certify and deliver such Debt Securities in the manner specified in such Issuer Order, without receiving any
consideration for such certification and delivery.

(b)

No Holder shall be entitled to any right or benefit under this Indenture with respect to a Debt Security, and such Debt Security shall not be valid
or binding for any purpose, unless such Debt Security has been certified, substantially in the form provided for in the related Series Supplement,
by the Trustee, as evidenced by the manual signature of a Responsible Officer of the Trustee. Such certification upon any Debt Security shall be
conclusive evidence, and the only evidence, that such Debt Security has been issued under this Indenture.

(c)

Debt Securities bearing the manual or facsimile signature of an individual who was, at the time that such signature was affixed, a Responsible
Officer of the Trustee, shall be valid and binding on the Trustee notwithstanding that such individual ceased to be a Responsible Officer of the
Trustee prior to the delivery of such Debt Securities.

(d)
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The certification of the Trustee on a Debt Security shall not be construed as a representation or warranty by the Trustee as to the validity of this
Indenture (including the related Series Supplement) or such Debt Security or the authorization and execution of such Debt Security, and the
Trustee shall in no respect be liable or answerable for the use made of such Debt Security or the proceeds of such Debt Security. The
certification of a Debt Security by the Trustee shall, however, be a representation and warranty by the Trustee that such Debt Security is
Outstanding in accordance with the terms of this Indenture.

2.8

Paying Agent

If a Series Supplement provides for a Paying Agent with respect to the applicable Series, then, subject to any contrary provision in such Series
Supplement:

(a)

Such Paying Agent shall separately in respect of such Series maintain a record of all Bearer Debt Securities of such Series and of their
redemption, payment, exchange, forfeiture, cancellation, mutilation, defacement, alleged destruction, theft or loss or replacement, and make all
such records available for inspection at all reasonable times by the Issuer.

(b)

The Issuer may from time to time deliver to such Paying Agent Definitive Bearer Debt Securities of such Series for cancellation, whereupon the
Paying Agent shall forward the same to the Trustee for cancellation. The Issuer may from time to time deliver to such Paying Agent an interim
Global Bearer Debt Security or a permanent Global Bearer Debt Security of such Series with instructions to cancel a specified aggregate
principal amount of the Debt Securities represented thereby whereupon the Paying Agent shall note or cause to be noted on the Schedule to such
Global Bearer Debt Security the aggregate principal amount of Debt Securities so cancelled and the remaining principal amount of such Global
Bearer Debt Security thereof and shall acknowledge and confirm such notation by its signature or certification of the same.

(c)

As soon as practicable after each date on which Debt Securities of such Series are cancelled or forwarded to the Trustee for cancellation in
accordance with Section 2.8(b) or otherwise under this Indenture, and after each date on which the Bearer Debt Securities of such Series become
due for redemption, the Paying Agent shall notify the Trustee and the Issuer in writing (on the basis of the information available to it) of the
serial number of such Bearer Debt Securities so cancelled or forwarded to the Trustee for cancellation, and the serial numbers of any Bearer
Debt Securities of such Series against presentation or surrender of which payment has been made, and of the serial numbers of any Bearer Debt
Securities of such Series which have not yet been presented or surrendered for payment.

- 18 -

(d)

Such Paying Agent will forward to the Trustee for cancellation each Global Bearer Debt Security and Definitive Bearer Debt Security of such
Series (where there is no principal amount thereof remaining) delivered to it for cancellation in accordance with Section 2.8(b) or otherwise
under this Indenture and will as soon as reasonably practicable furnish to the Issuer, the related Registrar and the Trustee a certificate specifying
the serial numbers of the Global Bearer Debt Securities and Definitive Bearer Debt Securities in numerical sequence so forwarded to the Trustee
for cancellation.
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(e)

Such Paying Agent shall, at the request of the Holder of any Bearer Debt Security of such Series, issue voting certificates (including block,
global or omnibus voting certificates) and voting instructions in a form and manner which comply with the provisions of this Indenture (subject
to such regulations and procedures with respect to the same as may be established and agreed to from time to time by the Issuer, the Trustee and
such Paying Agent). Such Paying Agent shall keep a full record of voting certificates and voting instructions issued by it and will give to the
Issuer not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for any meeting or adjourned meeting full particulars of all voting certificates and voting
instructions issued by it in respect of such meeting or adjourned meeting.

(f)

Such Paying Agent shall make payments of principal, premium, if any, interest and other amounts, if any, in respect of Bearer Debt Securities of
such Series in accordance with the Principal Terms of such Bearer Debt Securities, provided that such Paying Agent shall not be obliged (but
shall be entitled) to make such payments if it is not able to establish that it has received from the Issuer (whether or not at the due time) the full
amount of suchpayment.

(g)

Such Paying Agent shall not exercise any lien, right of set-off or combination or similar claim against any Person to whom it makes any
payment under Section 2.8(f) above in respect of such payment, nor shall any commission or expense be charged by such Paying Agent to any
such Person in respect of such payment.

(h)

The Issuer shall provide to such Paying Agent for distribution:

(i)

specimen Bearer Debt Securities of such Series in definitive form; and

(ii)

sufficient copies of all documents required to be available at the Paying Agent for inspection as provided in any Offering Document relative to,
or in the related Series Supplement for, such Series.

(i)

Such Paying Agent shall make available for inspection during normal business hours at its specified office such documents as may be specified
as so available in any Offering Document relative to, or in the related Series Supplement for, such Series, or as may be required by any securities
exchange on which any of the Debt Securities of such Series may be listed or any over-the-counter market in which any of the Debt Securities of
such Series may be traded.

- 19 -

(j)

The Issuer shall be solely responsible for ensuring that each Debt Security of such Series to be issued or other transactions to be effected under
this Indenture complies with all Applicable Laws and that all necessary consents and approvals of, notifications to and registrations and filings
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with, any such authority in connection therewith are effected, obtained and maintained in full force and effect.

(k)

Such Paying Agent shall immediately notify the Issuer and the Trustee in writing of any notice delivered to it requesting a declaration that a
Debt Security of such Series is due and payable by reason of an Event of Default or requiring any breach of any provision of this Indenture or
the related Series Supplement to be remedied.

(l)

Such Paying Agent shall arrange, upon and in accordance with the instructions of, and at the expense of, the Issuer but not otherwise, for the
publication in accordance with the terms and conditions of such Series of any notice which is to be given to the Holders of any Bearer Debt
Securities of such Series and shall supply a copy of such publication to the Trustee.

(m)

If Bearer Debt Securities of such Series are exchangeable for Registered Debt Securities, such Paying Agent shall accept requests to effect such
exchanges, together with the applicable Bearer Debt Securities, inform the related Registrar specifying (i) the aggregate principal amount of
such Bearer Debt Securities, (ii) the names and addresses to be entered on the relevant Register for the Holders of such Registered Debt
Securities, and (iii) the denominations of such Registered Debt Securities and assist in the issue of such Registered Debt Securities in accordance
with the terms and conditions applicable thereto. Such Paying Agent shall, on the applicable exchange date forward such Bearer Debt Securities
to the Trustee for cancellation.

(n)

Such Paying Agent shall collect all forms, if any, from Holders (or from other relevant Persons) that are specified by the Issuer which are
required to exempt payments under the Bearer Debt Securities of such Series from Canadian federal withholding tax, and shall forward copies of
such forms to the Issuer.

(o)

Such Paying Agent shall carry out such other acts and duties, and provide such other services, as may be specified with respect to such Paying
Agent in the related Series Supplement.

If the applicable Series Supplement does not provide for a Paying Agent with respect to a Series, the Trustee shall (in the case of the duties
required to be performed by the Paying Agent under this Section) and may (in the case of the duties permitted to be performed by the Paying
Agent under this Section) itself perform the duties of the Paying Agent specified in this Section.

2.9

Registrar

If a Series Supplement provides for a Registrar with respect to the applicable Series, then, subject to any contrary provision in such Series
Supplement:

(a)

Such Registrar shall maintain a register (with respect to such Series, a "Register") in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Indenture.
The Register shall show the principal amount and date of issue of each Registered Debt Security of such Series, the names and addresses of the
initial Holders of such Registered Debt Securities, and the dates of all transfers to, and the names and addresses of, all subsequent Holders of
such Registered Debt Securities.

- 20 -
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(b)

So long as required by Trust Indenture Legislation, the Register for each Series shall be maintained in the Province of British Columbia.  Such
Registrar may from time to time provide additional facilities at its other offices or, with the approval of the Issuer, at the offices of third parties
for such registration and registration of exchange and transfer. No exchange or transfer of a Registered Debt Security of such Series nor any
transmission of a Registered Debt Security of such Series upon death will be valid unless made at one of the applicable offices of such Registrar
by the Holder or by the Holder's executors, administrators or other legal representatives, or by the Holder's attorney duly appointed by a
document in writing, in form and as to execution satisfactory to such Registrar and upon compliance with such reasonable requirements as such
Registrar may prescribe from time to time and upon surrender of such Registered Debt Security to such Registrar for delivery to the Trustee for
cancellation, whereupon a new Registered Debt Security of the same Series in the same principal amount and having identical terms will be
executed by the Issuer, certified by the Trustee, and delivered to the transferee.

(c)

By the issue of new Registered Debt Securities of such Series, the forwarding of old Registered Debt Securities of such Series to the Trustee for
cancellation, and the making of entries in the Register, such Registrar shall give effect to transfers of Registered Debt Securities of such Series in
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Indenture.

(d)

The Issuer may from time to time deliver to such Registrar for cancellation Registered Debt Securities of such Series of which the Issuer is the
Holder, whereupon the Registrar shall forward the same to the Trustee for cancellation and shall make the corresponding entries in the Register.

(e)

As soon as reasonably practicable but in any event within three months after each date on which Registered Debt Securities of such Series fall
due for redemption, such Registrar shall notify the Issuer of the serial numbers of such Registered Debt Securities against surrender of which
payment has been made and of the serial numbers of such Registered Debt Securities (and the names and addresses of the Holders thereof)
which have not yet been surrendered for payment.

(f)

Such Registrar shall, upon and in accordance with the instructions of, and at the expense of, the Issuer but not otherwise, arrange for the delivery
of any notice which is to be given to the Holders of Registered Debt Securities of such Series, and shall supply a copy of each such notice to the
Issuer, the Trustee and the Paying Agent for such Series.

(g)

The Issuer shall ensure that such Registrar has available to it supplies of such Registered Debt Securities of such Series as shall be necessary in
connection with the transfer of Registered Debt Securities of such Series and the exchange of Bearer Debt Securities of such Series for
Registered Debt Securities.

(h)

Such Registrar shall, at the request of the Holder of any Registered Debt Security of such Series, make available forms of proxy (including
block, global or omnibus forms of proxy) in a form and manner which comply with the provisions of this Indenture (subject to such regulations
and procedures with respect to the same as may be established and agreed to from time to time by the Issuer and such Registrar) and shall
perform and comply with the provisions for meetings of Holders as set out in this Indenture.
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(i)

Such Registrar shall make payments of principal, premium, interest and other amounts, in respect of Registered Debt Securities of such Series in
accordance with the Principal Terms thereof, provided that such Registrar shall not be obliged (but shall be entitled) to make such payments if it
is not able to establish that it has received from the Issuer (whether or not at the due time) the full amount of such payment.

(j)

Such Registrar shall not exercise any lien, right of set-off or combination or similar claim against any Person to whom it makes any payment
under Section 2.9(i) above in respect of such payment, nor shall any commission or expense be charged by such Registrar to any such Person in
respect of such payment.

(k)

The Issuer shall provide to such Registrar specimen Registered Debt Securities of such Series in definitive form, and sufficient copies of all
documents required to be available from the Registrar for inspection as provided in any Offering Document relative to, or in the related Series
Supplement for, the Debt Securities of such Series.

(l)

Such Registrar shall make available for inspection during normal business hours at its specified office such documents as may be specified as so
available in any Offering Document relative to, or in the related Series Supplement for, such Series or as may be required by any securities
exchange on which any of the Debt Securities of such Series may be listed or any over-the-counter market in which any of the Debt Securities of
such Series may be traded.

(m)

Such Registrar shall provide to the Paying Agent for such Series all such information in the Registrar's possession with respect to Registered
Debt Securities of such Series as such Paying Agent may reasonably require in order to perform its obligations with respect to such Series set out
in this Indenture.

(n)

If Bearer Debt Securities of such Series are exchangeable for Registered Debt Securities, such Registrar shall accept requests to effect such
exchanges, together with the applicable Bearer Debt Securities (or notifications from the Paying Agent for such Series of receipt by it of such
Bearer Debt Securities) and such Registrar shall effect the issue of Registered Debt Securities of such Series and the making of entries in the
Register, and shall give effect to exchanges of Bearer Debt Securities of such Series for Registered Debt Securities in accordance with the terms
and conditions applicable to such Debt Securities. Such Registrar shall immediately upon the receipt of the applicable Bearer Debt Securities,
together with a request for the exchange of such Bearer Debt Securities for Registered Debt Securities notify the Paying Agent for such Series of
such receipt specifying (i) the serial numbers of the Bearer Debt Securities, (ii) the aggregate principal amount of the Debt Securities, and (iii)
the applicable exchange date and shall on the applicable exchange date forward all Bearer Debt Securities received by it to the Trustee for
cancellation. Such Registrar shall notify the Issuer and the related Paying Agent promptly of the exchange of Bearer Debt Securities for
Registered Debt Securities, specifying the serial numbers of the Bearer Debt Securities and of the Registered Debt Securities issued in exchange
therefor, the aggregate principal amount involved and the applicable exchange date.

(o)

Such Registrar shall ensure that in no event shall Registered Debt Securities be exchanged for Bearer Debt Securities without the consent of the
Issuer.
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(p)

Such Registrar shall carry out such other acts and duties, and provide such other services, as may be specified with respect to such Registrar in
the related Series Supplement.

If the applicable Series Supplement does not provide for a Registrar with respect to a Series, the Trustee shall (in the case of the duties required
to be performed by the Registrar under this Section) and may (in the case of the duties permitted to be performed by the Registrar under this
Section) itself perform the duties of the Registrar specified in this Section.

2.10

Transfer Agent

If a Series Supplement provides for a transfer agent (a "Transfer Agent") with respect to the applicable Series, then, subject to any contrary
provision in such Series Supplement, such Transfer Agent shall:

(a)

receive requests from Holders of such Series for the transfer of Registered Debt Securities of such Series, inform the Registrar for such Series in
writing of the receipt of such requests, forward the deposited Registered Debt Securities to or to the order of such Registrar and assist in the
issuance of new Registered Debt Securities of such Series and in particular, without limitation, notify the Registrar for such Series in writing of
(i) the name and address of the Holders of the Registered Debt Securities to be transferred, (ii) the serial number and principal amount of the
Registered Debt Securities to be transferred, (iii) in the case of a transfer of part only, the principal amount of the Registered Debt Securities to
be transferred, and (iv) the names and addresses of the transferees to be entered on the Register;

(b)

make available for collection by each applicable Holder new Registered Debt Securities of such Series;

(c)

accept surrender of Registered Debt Securities of such Series and assist in effecting final payment of the Registered Debt Securities of such
Series;

(d)

keep the Registrar for such Series informed of all transfers;

(e)

carry out such other acts as may reasonably be necessary to give effect to the Principal Terms of such Series; and

(f)
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carry out such other acts and duties, and provide such other services, as may be specified with respect to such Transfer Agent in the related
Series Supplement.

If the applicable Series Supplement does not provide for a Transfer Agent with respect to a Series, the Trustee shall (in the case of the duties
required to be performed by the Transfer Agent under this Section) and may (in the case of the duties permitted to be performed by the Transfer
Agent under this Section) itself perform the duties of the Transfer Agent specified in this Section.

2.11

Registration of Exchanges and Transfers

(a)

Debt Securities of a Series may be exchanged for one or more Debt Securities of the same series in an equal aggregate principal amount and
having the same Principal Terms; provided, however, that each Debt Security issued in exchange for such original Debt Security shall have a
principal amount in an authorized denomination as provided for in the related Series Supplement.

- 23 -
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(b)

Where the Debt Securities of a Series may be issued in either bearer form or registered form: (i) Bearer Debt Securities of such Series may be
exchanged for either (or a combination of) Bearer Debt Securities or Registered Debt Securities of such Series, and (ii) Registered Debt
Securities of such Series may be exchanged only for Registered Debt Securities of such series.

(c)

Bearer Debt Securities shall be transferable by delivery.

(d)

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Section, the Registrar shall not be required to register the exchange or transfer of any Debt Security
during the period of 15 days preceding the date for any payment with respect to such Debt Security, including the date on which such Debt
Security is to be redeemed, if applicable.

(e)

The Registrar and the Trustee may make a charge to reimburse themselves for any stamp taxes or governmental charges required to be paid and
a reasonable charge for their services and a reasonable sum per Debt Security created and issued upon any exchange or transfer of Debt
Securities effected by them, other than an exchange of interim Debt Securities for permanent Debt Securities. Payment of such charges will be
made by the Person requesting the exchange or transfer as a condition precedent to such exchange or transfer.

2.12

Persons Entitled to Payment

(a)

Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer of any Registered Debt Security, the Issuer, the Trustee, the related Registrar, the related
Paying Agent and any other Person may treat the Person in whose name any Registered Debt Security is registered in the applicable Register
(including, in the case of a Global Registered Debt Security, the related Depositary or the nominee of such Depositary in whose name such
Global Registered Debt Security is registered) as the absolute and sole owner of such Registered Debt Security for all purposes including
receiving payment of the principal of and any premium, interest on or other amount on such Registered Debt Security, receiving any notice to be
given to the Holder of such Registered Debt Security, and taking any Holder Action with respect to such Registered Debt Security, whether or
not any payment with respect to such Registered Debt Security shall be overdue, and none of the Issuer, the Trustee, the related Registrar, the
related Paying Agent or any other Person shall be affected by notice to the contrary.

(b)

The Issuer, the Trustee, the related Registrar, the related Paying Agent and any other Person may treat the bearer of any Bearer Debt Security
(including, in the case of a Global Bearer Debt Security, the related Depositary or the nominee of such Depositary which is the bearer of such
Global Bearer Debt Security) as the absolute and sole owner of such Bearer Debt Security for all purposes including receiving payment of the
principal of and any premium, interest or other amount payable on such Bearer Debt Security, receiving any notice to be given to the Holder of
such Bearer Debt Security, and taking any Holder Action with respect to such Bearer Debt Security, whether or not any payment with respect to
such Bearer Debt Security shall be overdue, and none of the Issuer, the Trustee, the related Registrar, the related Paying Agent or any other
Person shall be affected by notice to the contrary.

(c)

Delivery of a Debt Security to the Trustee, the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent by or on behalf of the Holder thereof shall, upon
payment of such Debt Security, be a good discharge to the Issuer of all obligations evidenced by such Debt Security. None of the Issuer, the
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Trustee, the related Registrar, the related Paying Agent or any other Person shall be bound to inquire into the title of any such Holder nor shall
the Issuer, the Trustee, the related Registrar, the related Paying Agent or any other Person be bound to see to the execution of any trust affecting
the ownership of any Debt Security or be affected by notice of any equity that may be subsisting in respect any Debt Security.

- 24 -

(d)

In the case of the death of one or more joint registered Holders of a Registered Debt Security, the principal of, and premium, interest and other
amounts on such Debt Security may be paid to the survivor or survivors of such registered Holders whose receipt of such payment, accompanied
by the delivery of such Debt Security, shall constitute a valid discharge to the Issuer, the Trustee, the related Registrar and the related Paying
Agent.

2.13

Cancellation of Debt Securities

(a)

All Debt Securities surrendered to the Trustee for payment of the final amount required to be paid thereon or that have been redeemed by the
Issuer as contemplated by Section 3.1 or redeemed by way of mandatory sinking fund payment as contemplated by Section 3.2, or that have
been surrendered to the Trustee for registration of exchange or transfer, shall be promptly cancelled by the Trustee, and if surrendered to the
related Registrar or the related Paying Agent, shall be delivered by it to the Trustee for cancellation and shall be cancelled by the Trustee on
receipt. The Trustee shall give prompt written notice to the Issuer, the related Registrar and the related Paying Agent of the particulars of any
Debt Securities cancelled by it.

(b)

The Issuer may, in its discretion at any time deliver to the Trustee for cancellation any Debt Securities which the Issuer has purchased as
provided for in this Indenture, and all such Debt Securities so delivered shall be cancelled by the Trustee.

(c)

All Debt Securities which have been cancelled by the Trustee shall be destroyed by the Trustee, which shall furnish to the Issuer, the related
Registrar and the related Paying Agent a destruction certificate setting forth the numbers and denominations of the Debt Securities so destroyed.

2.14

Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Debt Securities

(a)

If any Debt Security has been mutilated or defaced or has or has been alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, then, on application by the
applicable Holder to the related Paying Agent (in the case of a Bearer Debt Security) or the related Registrar (in the case of a Registered Debt
Security) (each in such capacity a "Replacement Agent"), the Issuer may in its discretion, execute, and upon such execution the Trustee will
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certify and deliver, a new Debt Security of the same Series, date and the same Principal Terms as the defaced, mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed
Debt Security in exchange for and in place of the defaced or mutilated Debt Security, and in lieu of and in substitution for the lost, stolen or
destroyed Debt Security. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Debt Security shall be delivered as a replacement for any Debt Security which has
been mutilated or defaced otherwise than upon surrender of the mutilated or defaced Debt Security, and no Debt Security shall be delivered as a
replacement for any Debt Security which has been lost, stolen or destroyed unless the applicant for the replacement Debt Security has furnished
to the Issuer and the Trustee evidence, satisfactory in form and substance to the Issuer and the Trustee, of its ownership of, and of such loss, theft
or destruction of, such Debt Security and has indemnified (including by way of indemnity bond if so required) the Issuer, the Trustee, the related
Registrar and the related Paying Agent in amount, form and substance satisfactory to each of them. Any instructions by the Issuer to a
Replacement Agent under this Section shall include such indemnifications for the protection of such Replacement Agent as such Replacement
Agent may reasonably require.

(b)

If any mutilated, defaced, lost, stolen or destroyed Debt Security has become or is about to become due and payable, the Issuer, in its discretion,
may, instead of executing a replacement Debt Security, pay to the Holder thereof the full amount outstanding on such mutilated, defaced, lost,
stolen or destroyed Debt Security.
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(c)

Upon the issuance of a replacement Debt Security, the Issuer may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other
governmental charge that may be imposed in relation to such issuance and any other expenses (including the fees and expenses of the Trustee,
the related Registrar and the related Paying Agent) connected with such issuance.

(d)

Each replacement Debt Security shall bear a unique serial number and be in a form otherwise identical to the Debt Security it replaces and shall
be entitled to the benefits of this Indenture to the same extent and in the same manner as the Debt Security it replaces.

(e)

The Replacement Agent shall promptly deliver to the Trustee for cancellation, and on receipt thereof the Trustee shall cancel, each mutilated or
defaced Debt Security surrendered to it and in respect of which a replacement Debt Security has been delivered.

(f)

The Replacement Agent shall notify the Issuer, the Trustee, the related Registrar (unless the related Registrar is the Replacement Agent) and the
related Paying Agent (unless the related Paying Agent is the Replacement Agent) of the delivery by it of any replacement Debt Security,
specifying the serial number of such replacement Debt Security and the serial number (if any and if known) of the Debt Security which it
replaces and confirming whether or not that the Debt Security which it replaces has been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation.

(g)

Unless the Issuer instructs otherwise, the Trustee shall destroy each mutilated or defaced Debt Security surrendered to and cancelled by it and in
respect of which a replacement Debt Security has been delivered and shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, furnish to the Issuer, the related
Registrar and the related Paying Agent a certificate as to such destruction specifying in numerical sequence the serial numbers of the Debt
Securities so destroyed.
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2.15

Access to Lists of Holders

(a)

Each Register for a Series will, at all reasonable times, be open for inspection by the Issuer, the Trustee, the related Registrar and the related
Paying Agent.

(b)

The Trustee shall, and the Issuer shall upon demand of the Trustee furnish the Trustee with the information required to enable the Trustee to,
furnish to any Person any list of Holders of Registered Debt Securities of a Series that is required to be furnished to such Person under
applicable Trust Indenture Legislation, in accordance with the time periods and procedures prescribed by such Trust Indenture Legislation, upon
compliance by such Person with all applicable requirements of such Trust Indenture Legislation for the furnishing of such list.

(c)

Every Holder of a Registered Debt Security, by receiving and holding such Debt Security, agrees with the Issuer, the Trustee, the related
Registrar, the related Paying Agent and the related Other Series Agents that none of such Persons or their respective agents shall be held
accountable by reason of the disclosure of any information as to the names and addresses of such Holders, regardless of the sources from which
such information was derived.

2.16

Global Securities

(a)

The Issuer, at its option, may at any time and from time to time require that any or all Debt Securities of a Series be represented in the form of a
Bearer Global Debt Security or a Registered Global Debt Security held by or on behalf of the related Depositary as custodian of such Global
Debt Security. If the Issuer requires that the Debt Securities of a particular Series are to be issued as a Global Debt Security, then the Issuer shall
execute, and the Trustee shall certify and deliver, a Global Debt
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Security that: (i) shall represent, and shall be denominated in an amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of that Series; (ii) if in
registered form, shall be registered in the name of the related Depositary or its nominee; (iii) shall be delivered by the Trustee to the related
Depositary or pursuant to the related Depositary's instruction; and (iv) shall bear a legend substantially to the following effect: "Except as
otherwise provided in the Indenture, this Debt Security may be transferred, in whole but not in part, only to another nominee of the Depositary
or to a successor Depositary or to a nominee of such successor Depositary." Any endorsement of a Global Debt Security to reflect the principal
amount, or any increase or decrease in the principal amount, of the Debt Securities represented by such Global Debt Security shall be made by
the Trustee, the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent, as the case may be, in such manner and upon instructions given by such Person as
shall be specified in such Global Debt Security or in an Issuer Order.

(b)
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It is expressly acknowledged that any registrations of beneficial ownership, and transfers of beneficial ownership, of Debt Securities represented
by Global Debt Securities will be made only through the applicable Book-Based System. The rights of a holder of any interest in a Debt Security
represented by a Global Debt Security (including the right to receive a certificate or other instrument evidencing an ownership interest in such
Debt Security) shall be limited to those rights established by Applicable Law and by agreements between the related Depositary and its
applicable Participant and between such Participant and the holder of such interest. Accordingly, none of the Issuer, the Trustee, the related
Registrar, the related Paying Agent or any agent of any such Person shall be under any obligation to deliver to the holder of such interest, nor
shall such holder have any right to require the delivery of, a certificate evidencing any Debt Security (or interest therein) represented by a Global
Debt Security.

(c)

If:

(i)

required to do so by Applicable Law;

(ii)

the applicable Book-Based System ceases to exist;

(iii)

the Issuer determines that the applicable Depositary is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depositary and the
Issuer is unable to engage a qualified successor; or

(iv)

the Issuer at its option elects to terminate the applicable Book-Based System for any reason (including if the Issuer considers it impracticable or
inefficient to effect any distribution of the applicable Debt Securities through the applicable Book-Based System or through the facilities of the
applicable Depositary);

the Issuer, with the consent of the Trustee, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, shall have the right to allow Debt
Securities represented by a Global Debt Security to be issued in definitive form to holders other than the applicable Depositary and its nominees
and to allow transfers of such Debt Securities other than within the applicable Book-Based System and to allow any payments or distributions
required to be made under this Indenture with respect to such Debt Securities to be made other than to the related Depositary or to be distributed
other than through the applicable Book-Based System. In addition, the Issuer, with the consent of the Trustee, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, shall have the right to appoint one or more sub-custodians in the event that the Issuer determines that it is
impractical for the related Depositary to act as custodian for any Debt Securities which are, and which are permitted to be, beneficially owned by
non-residents of Canada.

(d)

Notwithstanding Section 2.11, a Global Debt Security may be transferred, in whole but not in part and in the manner provided in Section 2.11,
only to another nominee of the Depositary for the
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applicable Series, or to a successor Depositary for the applicable Series selected or approved by the Issuer or to a nominee of such successor
Depositary.

(e)

If at any time a Depositary notifies the Issuer that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for a Series or if at any time such Depositary
shall no longer be registered or in good standing under any Applicable Law, or be qualified as a Clearing Agency under any Applicable
Securities Law or under any Applicable Law regulating the transfer of securities, in each case as required in order to fulfil its duties and
obligations as Depositary for such Series, and a successor Depositary for such Series is not appointed by the Issuer within 120 days after the
Issuer receives notice, or becomes aware, of such condition, this Section shall no longer be applicable to such Series and the Issuer will execute,
and the Trustee will certify and deliver, Definitive Debt Securities of such Series in authorized denominations, and in an aggregate principal
amount equal to the principal amount of the Global Debt Securities of such Series in exchange for such Global Debt Securities. In addition, the
Issuer may at any time determine that a Series shall no longer be represented by Global Debt Securities and that this Section shall no longer
apply to such Series. In such event the Issuer will execute, and the Trustee, upon receipt of an Issuer's order evidencing such determination by
the Issuer, will certify and deliver, Definitive Debt Securities of such Series in authorized denominations, and in an aggregate principal amount
equal to the principal amount of such Global Debt Securities in exchange for such Global Debt Securities. Upon the exchange of the Global Debt
Securities of a Series for Definitive Debt Securities of such Series, such Global Debt Securities shall be cancelled by the Trustee. Such
Definitive Debt Securities shall be registered in such names and in such authorized denominations as the related Depositary, pursuant to
instructions from its Participants or otherwise, shall notify to the Trustee or the related Registrar, as the case may be. The Trustee shall deliver
such Definitive Debt Securities to the related Depositary for delivery to the Persons in whose names such Debt Securities have been so
registered.

ARTICLE 3
REDEMPTIONS AND PURCHASES, SINKING FUNDS

3.1

Redemption

Debt Securities that are, in accordance with their Principal Terms, redeemable before their Stated Maturity, shall be redeemable in accordance
with the following provisions:

(a)

Election to Redeem; Notice to Trustee, Registrar and Paying Agent. If the Issuer elects to redeem less all or than all of the Debt Securities of a
Series, the Issuer shall, at least 45 days prior to the Redemption Date (unless a shorter notice shall be satisfactory to the Trustee, the related
Registrar and the related Paying Agent), notify the Trustee, the related Registrar and the related Paying Agent of the Redemption Date and of the
principal amount of such Series to be redeemed;

(b)

Selection of Debt Securities to be Redeemed.

(i)

If less than all of a Series is to be redeemed, the particular Debt Securities to be redeemed shall be selected by the Trustee not more than 60 days
prior to the Redemption Date in any authorized denomination on a pro rata basis or by such other method (which may include random selection
by computer) that complies with Applicable Law or any rules, procedures or requirements of any securities exchange on which any of such Debt
Securities are listed or of any over-the-counter market in which any of such Debt Securities are traded and that the Trustee may deem
appropriate. For this purpose the Trustee may make, and from time to time amend, regulations with respect to the manner in which Debt
Securities may be so selected and regulations so made shall be valid and binding upon all Holders notwithstanding the fact that, as a result of
such regulations, any Debt Security becomes subject to redemption in part only;
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(ii)

The Trustee shall promptly notify the Issuer, the related Registrar and the related Paying Agent of the Debt Securities selected for redemption
and, in the case of any Debt Securities selected for partial redemption, of the principal amount of such Debt Securities to be redeemed; and

(iii)

Unless the context otherwise requires, all provisions hereof relating to the redemption of Debt Securities shall relate, in the case of any Debt
Security redeemed or to be redeemed only in part, to the portion of such Debt Security that has been or is to be redeemed.

(c)

Notice of Redemption.

(i)

Notice of redemption shall be given not less than 30 or more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date, to the Holders of the Debt Securities to
be redeemed;

(ii)

All notices of redemption shall state: (i) the Redemption Date; (ii) the Redemption Price; (iii) if less than all of the applicable Series is to be
redeemed, the identification (and, in the case of partial redemption, the principal amounts) of the particular Debt Securities to be redeemed; (iv)
that on the Redemption Date, the Redemption Price of each such Debt Security (or part thereof) to be redeemed will become due and payable,
and that interest on such Debt Security (or part thereof to be redeemed) shall cease to accrue on and after such date; (v) the Place of Payment
where such Debt Securities, together in the case of Bearer Debt Securities with all coupons, if any, of such Bearer Debt Securities maturing on
or after the Redemption Date, are to be surrendered; (vi) if applicable, that the redemption is for a sinking fund; and (vii) any other matter that
the Trustee, the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent reasonably requests in connection with such redemption; and

(iii)

Notice of redemption of Debt Securities at the election of the Issuer shall be given by the Issuer or, at the Issuer's request, by the Trustee, the
related Registrar or the related Paying Agent in the name and at the expense of the Issuer, provided that the Issuer has delivered the Trustee a
certificate of the Issuer, at least 35 days prior to the Redemption Date (or such shorter period as agreed to by the Trustee), which certificate shall
request that the Trustee give such notice and which sets forth the information to be stated in such notice as provided in clause (ii) above.

(d)

Deposit of Redemption Price.  On or prior to the Redemption Date, the Issuer shall deposit with the Trustee, the related Registrar or the related
Paying Agent (or, if the Issuer is acting as its own Paying Agent, it shall segregate and hold in trust as provided in Section 5.1(c)), an amount of
money sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of and (except as provided in clause (e)(i) below) accrued interest on, all the Debt Securities (or
parts thereof) that are to be redeemed on such date;
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(e)

Debt Securities Payable on Redemption Date.

(i)

If notice of redemption has been given as provided herein, the Debt Securities (or parts thereof) that are to be redeemed shall, become due and
payable on the Redemption Date, at the Redemption Price specified in such notice. From and after such date (unless the Issuer shall default in
the payment of the Redemption Price or any accrued interest) such Debt Securities (or parts thereof) shall cease to bear interest and the coupons
for such interest pertaining to any Bearer Debt Securities so redeemed, except to the extent provided below, shall be void. Upon surrender of any
Debt Security for redemption in accordance with a notice of redemption, the Redemption Price of such Debt Security shall be paid by the Issuer
together with accrued interest to the Redemption Date; provided, however, that instalments of interest (on Bearer Debt Securities) having a
Stated Maturity on or prior to the Redemption Date shall be payable only upon presentation and surrender of coupons for such interest (except as
otherwise provided in clause (e)(ii) below); and provided further that instalments of interest (on Registered Debt Securities) having a Stated
Maturity on or prior to the Redemption Date shall be payable to the Holders thereof registered as such on the applicable Regular Interest Record
Dates for such instalments;

(ii)

If a Bearer Debt Security surrendered for redemption is not accompanied by all coupons maturing on or after the Redemption Date, such Bearer
Debt Security may be paid after deducting from the amount that would otherwise be payable to the Holder thereof an amount equal to the face
amount of all such missing coupons, or the surrender of any such missing coupons may be waived by the Issuer, the Trustee, the related
Registrar and the related Paying Agent if they receive such security or indemnity as they may require in respect thereof. If thereafter the
applicable Holder shall surrender to the Trustee, the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent any missing coupons in respect of which such
a deduction was made, such Holder shall be entitled to receive the amount so deducted; and

(iii)

If a Debt Security called for redemption shall not be paid upon surrender of such Debt Security for redemption, the principal of and any
premium, interest and other amounts on such Debt Security shall, until paid, bear interest from the Redemption Date at the rate or rates
prescribed therefor in the related Series Supplement; and

(f)

Debt Security Redeemed in Part.  Any Registered Debt Security that is to be redeemed only in part shall be surrendered to the Issuer, the
Trustee or the related Registrar with, if such Person so requires, due endorsement by, or a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to
such Person duly executed by, the Holder or the Holder's attorney duly authorized in writing, and the Issuer shall execute, and the Trustee shall
certify and deliver to such Holder without charge, a new Registered Debt Security or Registered Debt Securities of the same Series, of any
authorized denomination as requested by such Holder in an aggregate principal amount equal to, and having the same Principal Terms as, and in
exchange for, the unredeemed portion of the Debt Security so surrendered. Any Bearer Debt Security that is to be redeemed only in part shall be
surrendered to the Issuer, the Trustee or the related Paying Agent as specified in the applicable notice of redemption, and the Issuer shall
execute, and the Trustee shall certify and deliver to the Holder of such Debt Security, without charge, one or more new Bearer Debt Securities of
the same Series (or one or more new Registered Debt Securities of the same Series if requested by the Holder and if such Series is issuable as
Registered Debt Securities), of any authorized denomination as requested by such Holder in an aggregate principal amount equal to and having
the same Principal Terms as, and in exchange for, the unredeemed portion of the Debt Security so surrendered.
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3.2

Sinking Fund

If the Principal Terms of a Series create an obligation for the Issuer to establish and fund a sinking fund for such Series, such sinking fund shall
be established and funded in accordance with the following provisions:

(a)

The minimum amount of any sinking fund payment required to be made is referred to herein as a "Mandatory Sinking Fund Payment", and
any payment in excess of such minimum amount is referred to as an "Optional Sinking Fund Payment". Unless otherwise specified in the
related Series Supplement, the cash amount of any Mandatory Sinking Fund Payment will be subject to reduction as provided Section 3.2(b).
Each sinking fund payment shall be applied to the redemption of such Series as specified in the related Series Supplement;

(b)

The Issuer may apply any Debt Securities of such Series that have previously been redeemed at the election of the Issuer (including by way of
any Optional Sinking Fund Payment) as permitted by the related Series Supplement, as a credit against and in satisfaction of an equal principal
amount of any Mandatory Sinking Fund Payment with respect to such Series, provided that such Debt Securities have not been previously so
credited. Such Debt Securities to be credited shall be delivered by the Issuer to the Trustee for such purpose, and the amount of such Mandatory
Sinking Fund Payment shall be reduced accordingly; and

(c)

Not less than 45 days prior to each sinking fund payment date, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a Certificate of the Issuer specifying the
amount of the sinking fund payment to be made on such date, the applicable Series, and the portion of such sinking fund payment, if any, that is
to be satisfied by delivering and crediting Debt Securities of such Series pursuant to Section 3.2(b), together with any Debt Securities to be so
delivered. Not less than 30 days prior to each such sinking fund payment date the Trustee shall select the Debt Securities to be redeemed on such
date in the manner specified in Section 3.1, and shall cause notice of the redemption to be given in the name of and at the expense of the Issuer
in the manner provided in Section 3.1.  Such notice having been duly given, the redemption of such Debt Securities shall be made as provided in
Section 3.1.  All Debt Securities redeemed by the Issuer pursuant to this Section shall be cancelled and shall not be reissued.

3.3

Purchase of Debt Securities

(a)

Subject to Applicable Law, the Issuer shall have the right at any time and from time to time to purchase Debt Securities in the market or by
tender or by private contract, at any price that is agreed upon between the Issuer and the applicable Holders.

(b)

Upon an invitation for tenders, if more Debt Securities of the applicable Series are tendered at the same lowest price that the Issuer is prepared to
accept, the Debt Securities to be purchased by the Issuer will be selected by the Trustee in such manner (which may include random selection by
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computer) that complies with Applicable Law or any rules, procedures or requirements of any securities exchange on which any of such Debt
Securities are listed or of any over-the-counter market in which any of such Debt Securities are traded and that the Trustee deems appropriate,
from the Debt Securities tendered at such price. For this purpose the Trustee may make, and from time to time amend, regulations with respect
to the manner in which Debt Securities may be so selected, and regulations so made shall be valid and binding upon all Holders notwithstanding
the fact that, as a result of such regulations, any Debt Security becomes subject to purchase in part only.  The Holder of any Debt Security of
which part only is purchased shall be entitled to receive, upon surrender of such Debt Security, without cost to such Holder, one or more new
Debt Securities for the unpurchased part so surrendered, and the Issuer shall execute, and the Trustee shall certify and deliver, such new Debt
Securities upon receipt of the Debt Security so surrendered.

ARTICLE 4
PAYMENTS, PRIORITY ARRANGEMENTS

4.1

Provisions for Payment

The principal of and any premium, interest and other amounts on a Series will be payable in the currency specified in the related Series
Supplement for such Series at the Place of Payment for such Series against surrender of the Debt Securities of such Series at the office of the
Trustee, the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent, as the case may be, in such Place of Payment. If no currency is specified in the related
Series Supplement, amounts payable with respect to such Series will be payable in United States Dollars. A Series will bear interest, if any,
payable on the Interest Payment Dates and at the rate or rates specified in, or determined in the manner provided in, the related Series
Supplement, and interest on such Series will be computed on the basis of a calendar year of 360 days.  With respect to any Series, whenever
interest is computed on a basis of a year (the "deemed year") which contains fewer days than the actual number of days in the calendar year of
calculation, such rate of interest shall be expressed as a yearly rate for the purpose of the Interest Act (Canada) by multiplying such rate of
interest by the actual number of days in the calendar year of calculation and dividing it by the number of days in the deemed year.  Each Debt
Security will be dated its Series Issuance Date or, if agreed upon by the Issuer and the Trustee, the date of its certification by the Trustee.

4.2

Interest Payments

(a)

Interest payable on a Registered Debt Security on an Interest Payment Date will be paid to the Holder thereof at the close of business on the
Regular Interest Record Date for such Interest Payment Date.  If a Bearer Debt Security is surrendered in exchange for a Registered Debt
Security after the close of business on a Regular Interest Record Date and before the opening of business on the related Interest Payment Date,
such Bearer Debt Security shall be surrendered without the coupon related to such Interest Payment Date and interest will not be payable on
such Interest Payment Date in respect of the Registered Debt Security exchanged for such Bearer Debt Security, but will be payable only to the
Holder of such coupon when due in accordance with this Indenture. Payment of interest on a Registered Debt Security will be made with respect
to all but not less than all of a Series, and upon payment by the Issuer of the additional fees and expenses of the Trustee, the related Registrar or
the related Paying Agent, as the case may be, with respect thereto, at the option of the Issuer: (i) at the Place of Payment for such Series; (ii) by
electronic funds transfer to an account designated by each Holder of such Series from time to time; or (iii) by cheque mailed not later than three
Business Days prior to the applicable Interest Payment Date to the address of the Person entitled to such payment as the address appearing in the
relevant Register. Interest on a Bearer Debt Security shall be payable only upon presentation and surrender of the applicable coupon for such
interest.
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(b)

If a Debt Security or a portion thereof is called for redemption and the Redemption Date is subsequent to a Regular Interest Record Date but
prior to the related Interest Payment Date, interest on such Debt Security will be paid upon presentation and surrender of such Debt Security as
provided in Section 3.1.

(c)

Interest on any Series that is partially paid or not duly provided for  following the applicable Interest Payment Date ("Default Interest") will be
paid in accordance with the following:

(i)

The Issuer may elect to pay the Default Interest to the Holders of such Series as at the close of business on a Special Interest Record Date for the
payment of the Default Interest, which shall be fixed in the following manner. The Issuer shall notify the Trustee in writing of the amount of
Default Interest proposed to be paid and the date of the proposed payment, which amount shall be confirmed by the Trustee, and at the same
time the Issuer shall deposit with the Trustee an amount of money equal to the amount of the Default Interest proposed to be paid, or shall make
arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for such deposit prior to the date of the proposed payment, and such money when deposited shall be
held in trust for the benefit of the Persons entitled thereto. The Trustee shall then fix a special record date (a "Special Interest Record Date")
for the payment of the Default Interest, which shall be not less than 10 days and not more than 15 days prior to the proposed payment date and
not less than 10 days after the receipt by the Trustee of the notice of the proposed payment. The Trustee will cause notice of the proposed
payment and the Special Interest Record Date to be given to the Holders of such Series not less than 10 days prior to such Special Interest
Record Date. Default Interest will be paid to the Holders as at the close of business on such Special Interest Record Date and will not be payable
pursuant to Section 4.2 (c)(ii) below.  If a Bearer Debt Security is surrendered to the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent in exchange
for a Registered Debt Security after the close of business on a Special Interest Record Date but before the opening of business on the date of
payment of the Default Interest, such Bearer Debt Security shall be surrendered without the coupon related to the Default Interest, and the
Default Interest will not be payable on such date of payment in respect of the Registered Debt Security exchanged for such Bearer Debt Security,
but will be payable only to the Holder of such coupon in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture; and

(ii)

The Issuer may pay Default Interest on any Series in any other lawful manner not inconsistent with the requirements of any securities exchange
on which such Series is listed or any over-the-counter market in which such Series is traded, and upon such notice as may be required by such
exchange or market, if, after notice given by the Issuer to the Trustee of the proposed payment pursuant to this Section, such manner of payment
shall be deemed practicable by the Trustee.

(d)

Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Section, each Debt Security delivered upon the transfer of or in exchange for or in lieu of any other
Debt Security shall carry the rights to interest accrued and unpaid, and to accrue, that were carried by such other Debt Security.

4.3

Currency Indemnity

The Issuer shall make payments relative to each Debt Security in the currency in which such Debt Security is denominated (the "Original
Currency"). If the Issuer makes payment relative to a
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Debt Security (whether to the Trustee, the related Registrar, the related Paying Agent or the applicable Holder) in a currency (the "Other
Currency") other than the original Currency (whether voluntarily or pursuant to an order or judgment of a court or tribunal of any jurisdiction),
such payment shall constitute a discharge of the liability of the Issuer in respect of such Debt Security only to the extent of the amount of the
original Currency which the recipient of such payment purchases, in accordance with its normal practice, with the amount of the Other Currency
received. If the amount of the Original Currency which the recipient is able to purchase is less than the amount of the Original Currency due, the
Issuer shall indemnify and save the Trustee, the related Registrar, the related Paying Agent and the applicable Holder harmless from and against
any loss or damage arising as a result of such deficiency. This indemnity shall constitute an obligation separate and independent from the other
obligations contained in this Indenture, shall give rise to a separate and independent cause of action, shall apply irrespective of any indulgence
granted by the Trustee, the related Registrar, the related Paying Agent or the applicable Holder, and shall continue in full force and effect
notwithstanding any judgment or order in respect of any amount due under this Indenture.

4.4

Ranking of Debt Securities

(a)

All Debt Securities of a Series shall rank pari passu and rateably with all other Debt Securities of such Series, and shall share all security, if any,
delivered to the Trustee or any Person on its behalf with respect to such Series equally and rateably with all other Persons for whom such
security, pursuant to its terms, is held by the Trustee, in each case without discrimination, preference or priority among such Debt Securities and
irrespective of their actual dates or terms of issue.

(b)

All Debt Securities of a Series shall rank pari passu and rateably with all Debt Securities of all other Series without discrimination, preference or
priority among such Debt Securities and irrespective of their actual dates or terms of issue, subject however to (i) any sinking fund or defeasance
provisions, if any, applicable to different Series, and (ii) any security provided for, and any subordination provisions of, any Series.

(c)

If so provided in the related Series Supplement, and subject to compliance with any terms of any other Series Supplement prohibiting the
granting, creation, incurring or suffering to exist of liens, the amounts payable under or with respect to a Series may be secured in such manner,
against such property and pursuant to such security documents as may be specified in the related Series Supplement (any such lien for a Series
being referred to herein as the "Series Specific Lien" for such Series).  In any such case, unless otherwise expressly provided by the applicable
security documents or by this Indenture, the Series Specific Lien for a Series will be separate and distinct from the Series Specific Lien, if any,
for any other Series, and will not secure the amounts payable under or with respect to any other Series.

(d)

If so provided in the related Series Supplement, the amounts payable under or with respect to a Series may be subordinated in such manner,
pursuant to such documents and to such other debts and liabilities of the Issuer and any other obligor in respect of such Series (including any
other Series) as may be specified in the related Series Supplement.

(e)

Each Holder by accepting a Debt Security, irrevocably authorizes and directs the Trustee on its behalf to take such action (including the
execution and delivery of documents of subordination) as may be necessary or appropriate to further assure the priority arrangements provided
for in this Indenture with respect to any Series, including regarding application of payments, the provision of security and the effecting of
subordination arrangements, and each Holder appoints the Trustee as its agent for any and all such purposes.
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(f)

A Holder may at any time extend any time of payment applicable to its Debt Securities, including waiver of any Event of Default applicable to
such Debt Securities, without notice to or consent from any creditor of the Issuer (including any other Holder) which is subordinate in right of
payment to such Holder.

ARTICLE 5
COVENANTS

5.1

Covenants

In relation to each Series, the Issuer covenants and agrees with the Trustee for the benefit of Holders of such Series that, so long as such Series is
Outstanding and except as otherwise permitted by the prior written consent of the Trustee in the case of any such covenant other than the
covenant in Section 5.1(a):

(a)

Pay Principal, Interest and Other Amounts.  The Issuer will duly and punctually pay or cause to be paid when due to every Holder of such
Series the principal, and premium, interest and other amounts, on such Series;

(b)

Maintenance of Office or Agency.

(i)

The Issuer will maintain or cause the related Registrar, Transfer Agent or the related Paying Agent, as the case may be, to maintain an Office or
Agency at each Place of Payment for such Series where Debt Securities of such Series may be presented or surrendered for payment, or for
registration of transfer or exchange, and where notices and demands to or upon the Issuer in respect of such Series, this Indenture and the related
Series Supplement may be served.  The Issuer will give prompt written notice to the Trustee of the location, and any change in the location, of
any such Office or Agency. If at any time the Issuer shall fail to maintain such required Office or Agency or shall fail to furnish to the Trustee
the address of any such office or Agency, such presentations, surrenders, notices and demands may be made or served at the principal corporate
trust office of the Trustee in Vancouver, British Columbia, except that Bearer Debt Securities of such Series and the related coupons may be
presented and surrendered for payment at the place specified for such purpose pursuant to the related Series Supplement or, if no such place is
specified, at the stock and bond transfer office of the Trustee in Vancouver, British Columbia, and the Issuer hereby appoints the Trustee as its
agent to receive all such presentations, surrenders, notices and demands; and

(ii)

The Issuer may from time to time designate one or more other offices or agencies (in or outside of such Place of Payment) where the Debt
Securities of such Series and, in the case of Bearer Debt Securities, any coupons of such Bearer Debt Securities, subject to Section 5.1(b)(i), may
be presented or surrendered for any or all of such purposes, and may from time to time rescind such designations; provided, however, that no
such designation or rescission shall in any manner relieve the Issuer of its obligation to maintain, or cause the related Registrar or the related
Paying Agent, as the case may be, to maintain for such purposes an Office or Agency in each Place of Payment for such Series. The Issuer will
give prompt written notice to the Trustee of any such designation and any change in the location of any such other Office or Agency;
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(c)

Money for Payments to be Held in Trust.

(i)

If the Issuer shall at any time act as its own Paying Agent for such Series it will, on or before each due date of the principal of and any premium,
interest or other amounts on such Series, segregate and hold in trust for the benefit of the Holders entitled to such payment a sum sufficient to
pay such principal, premium, interest or other amounts until such sums shall be paid to such Holders or otherwise disposed of as provided for in
this Indenture, and it will promptly notify the Trustee of its action or failure to so act;

(ii)

Whenever there exists one or more Paying Agents with respect to such Series, the Issuer will, prior to each due date of any principal of or
premium, interest or other amounts on such Series, deposit with the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent, as the case may be, a sum
sufficient to pay such principal, premium, interest or other amounts, such sum to be held in trust for the benefit of the Holders entitled thereto,
and (unless such related Registrar or related Paying Agent is the Trustee), the Issuer will promptly notify the Trustee of its action or failure to so
act;

(iii)

The Issuer will cause each Registrar and Paying Agent for such Series, other than the Trustee, to execute and deliver to the Trustee an instrument
in which such Registrar or related Paying Agent shall agree with the Trustee, subject to the provisions of this Section, that such Registrar or
Paying Agent will:

(A)

hold all sums received by it for the payment of any principal of or premium, interest or other amounts on such Series in trust for the benefit of
the Holders entitled thereto until such sums shall be paid to such Holders or otherwise disposed of as provided for in this Indenture or the related
Series Supplement;

(B)

give the Trustee notice of any default by the Issuer (or any other obligor upon such Series) in the making of any payment of any principal of or
premium, interest or other amounts on such Series; and

(C)

at any time during the continuance of any such default, upon the written request of the Trustee, immediately pay to the Trustee all sums so held
in trust by such Registrar or Paying Agent;

(iv)

The Issuer may at any time, for the purpose of obtaining the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture and the related Series Supplement or for
any other purpose, pay, or by Issuer Request direct the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent, to pay, to the Trustee all sums held in trust
by the Issuer or such Registrar or Paying Agent; such sums to be held by the Trustee upon the same trusts as those upon which such sums were
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held by the Issuer or such Registrar or Paying Agent, and upon such payment by such Registrar or Paying Agent to the Trustee, such Registrar or
Paying Agent, as the case may be, shall be released from all further liability with respect to such money; and

(v)

Any money deposited with the Trustee or the related Registrar or Paying Agent, or then held by the Issuer, in trust for the payment of any
principal of or premium, interest or other amount on such Series, and remaining unclaimed for six years after such principal, premium, interest
or other amount has become due and payable, shall be paid to the Issuer if so requested by an Issuer Request, or (if then held by the Issuer) shall
be discharged from such trust; and the applicable Holders shall thereafter, as unsecured general creditors, look only to the Issuer for payment
thereof, and all liability of the Trustee, the related Registrar and the related Paying Agent with respect to such trust money, and all liability of the
Issuer as trustee of such trust money, shall thereupon cease;
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(d)

Notice of Default.  The Issuer will notify the Trustee in writing within five Business Days after the Issuer becomes aware of the occurrence of
any Default or Event of Default with respect to such Series;

(e)

Financial Statements.  Unless such financial statements have been publicly filed by the Issuer pursuant to Applicable Laws, the Issuer will
deliver to the Trustee within 140 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Issuer audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for
such fiscal year including the consolidated balance sheet and statements of income, retained earnings and changes in financial position and
within 60 days after the end of each fiscal quarter, other than the last fiscal quarter, unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for
such fiscal quarter consisting of a consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and changes in financial
position.  The Trustee is under no obligation to review such financial statements.

(f)

Annual Certificate.  The Issuer shall furnish to the Trustee, on or before • in each year (commencing •) and otherwise upon the demand of the
Trustee a brief certificate of the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer certifying that the Issuer has complied with
every requirement of this Indenture which, if there had not been compliance, would, with the giving of notice, lapse of time or otherwise,
constitute an Event of Default, or if the Issuer has not complied, a statement to that effect and particulars of the failure to comply.

5.2

Trustee May Perform Covenants

If the Issuer shall fail to perform any of its covenants in this Indenture relative to a Series, the Trustee may in its discretion, but unless provided
to the contrary in this Indenture need not, notify the Holders of such Series of such failure, and itself may perform any such covenant that is
capable of being performed by it, and if any such performance requires the payment of money, it may make such payment with its own funds or
with money borrowed by to it for such purpose, but shall be under no obligation to do so; provided however that no such performance or
payment by the Trustee shall be deemed to release the Issuer from or be a waiver of any Default resulting from, the Issuer's failure to perform its
applicable covenant, and any amounts so paid or expended by the Trustee shall be immediately repaid to the Trustee by the Issuer and shall bear
interest until so repaid at a rate of interest that is 5% per annum above the interest payable on such Series (or if such Series does not bear
interest, at the highest rate of interest chargeable from time to time by the Trustee to its corporate trust customers), and shall be secured by the
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Series Specific Lien, if any, for such Series.
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ARTICLE 6
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

6.1

Events of Default

An Event of Default with respect to a Series means any one of the following events (whatever the reason for such Event of Default and whether
it is voluntary or involuntary or is effected by operation of law or pursuant to any judgment, decree or order of any Governmental Authority):

(a)

Default in Payment of Principal or Premium.  A default by the Issuer in making payment of principal or premium with respect to such Series
when due and payable at maturity, upon acceleration, redemption or otherwise, or in any obligation to repurchase Debt Securities of such Series
when required pursuant to this Indenture;

(b)

Default in Other Payments.  A default by the Issuer in making payment of any interest with respect to such Series when due and payable, which
default continues for a period of 30 days; provided that, for greater certainty, unless otherwise expressly provided in the related Series
Supplement, no such default shall be considered to occur as a result of amounts that may be required to be deducted or withheld under the
Income Tax Act (Canada) or any other applicable taxation statute by the Issuer, the Trustee, the related Registrar or the related Paying Agent
from any payment to be made to any Holder having been so deducted or withheld and such amounts having been remitted to the appropriate
Governmental Authority on behalf of such Holder;

(c)

Other Covenant Defaults.  A default by the Issuer in the performance of, or a breach of, any other covenant or agreement of the Issuer with
respect to such Series contained in this Indenture or any Series Specific Document for such Series, which default or breach continues for a
period of 60 days after the date on which written notice of such default has been given to the Issuer by registered mail by the Trustee or by the
Holders of at least 25% of the unpaid aggregate principal amount of such Series then Outstanding;

(d)

Voluntary Insolvency Proceedings.  The Issuer or a Material Subsidiary pursuant to or under or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law:

(i)

commences a voluntary case or proceeding;

(ii)
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consents to the entry of a Bankruptcy order in an involuntary case or proceeding or the commencement of any case against it;

(iii)

consents to the appointment of a Custodian of it or for any substantial part of its property;

(iv)

makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors or files a proposal or other scheme of arrangement involving the rescheduling or
composition of its indebtedness;

(v)

files a petition in bankruptcy or answer or consent seeking reorganization or relief; or

(vi)

consents to the filing of such petition or the appointment of or taking possession by a Custodian;
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(e)

Involuntary Insolvency Proceedings.  A court of competent jurisdiction in any involuntary case or proceeding enters a Bankruptcy Order
against the Issuer or a Material Subsidiary, and such Bankruptcy Order remains unstayed and in effect for 15 consecutive days; and

(f)

Appointment of Custodian.  A Custodian shall be appointed out of court with respect to the Issuer or a Material Subsidiary, or with respect to all
or any substantial part of the property of the Issuer or a Material Subsidiary, or any encumbrancer shall take possession of all or any substantial
part of the property of the Issuer or a Material Subsidiary.

6.2

Acceleration of Maturity; Rescission and Annulment.

(a)

If an Event of Default under Section 6.1(d) or 6.1(e) in relation to the Issuer occurs with respect to a Series, the aggregate unpaid principal
amount of all Debt Securities (together with all accrued and unpaid interest thereon and any other amounts owing under such Debt Securities)
shall become immediately due and payable and the Series Specific Lien, if any, with respect to such Series shall immediately become
enforceable.

(b)

Except as provided in Section 6.2(a), if an Event of Default is continuing with respect to a Series and the Trustee has received notice of such
Event of Default in accordance with Section 9.3, the Trustee may, in its discretion, and if requested by the Holders of at least 25% of the
aggregate unpaid principal amount of such Series shall, by written notice to the Issuer, declare such Series to be immediately due and payable,
and upon such Declaration of Acceleration the aggregate unpaid principal amount of such Series (together with all accrued and unpaid interest
thereon and any other amounts owing with respect thereto) shall become immediately due and payable and the Series Specific Lien, if any, with
respect to such Series shall immediately become enforceable.

(c)

At any time after a Declaration of Acceleration with respect to a Series has been made by the Trustee and before a judgment for payment of any
amount due under such Series has been obtained by the Trustee, such Declaration of Acceleration and its consequences may be rescinded and
annulled by a Holder Direction from the Holders of such Series. In such case the rescission and annulment will be effective on the date on
which:

(i)

written notice of such Holder Direction is given to the Issuer and the Trustee; and

(ii)

the Issuer has paid or deposited with the Trustee a sum sufficient to pay:

(A)

all principal, premium, interest and other amounts which, by the Principal Terms of such Series, are then due and payable otherwise than
pursuant to such Declaration of Acceleration; and
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(B)

all sums paid or advanced by the Trustee with respect to such Series and the reasonable compensation and expenses of the Trustee with respect
to such Series; and

there shall be continuing no Default or Event of Default with respect to such Series, other than the non-payment of principal, premium, interest
and other amounts with respect to such Series that became due solely by such Declaration of Acceleration.
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(d)

No such rescission and annulment shall affect any subsequent or other Event of Default with respect to such Series or impair any right of the
Trustee or the Holders of such Series with respect to such subsequent or other Event of Default. In addition, no such rescission and annulment
shall affect any Event of Default with respect to any other Series or impair any right of the Trustee or the Holders of any other Series with
respect thereto.

6.3

Remedies

Subject to Section 6.2(c) and subject to compliance with the provisions of Section 8.3 with respect to the giving of sufficient funds and an
indemnity, if an Event of Default with respect to a Series is continuing and a Declaration of Acceleration with respect to such Series has been
made, the Issuer will pay to the Trustee, for the benefit of the Holders of such Series, the whole amount then due and payable for principal,
premium, interest and other amounts with respect to such Series and, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, interest on any overdue
principal, premium interest and other amounts at the rate or rates prescribed in the related Series Supplement, and in addition thereto such further
amount as shall be sufficient to pay the costs and expenses of collection, including the compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of
the Trustee, its agents and counsel, and the Trustee may exercise any action, suit, remedy or Proceeding authorized or permitted by any Series
Specific Document or any other agreement, at law, in equity under statute or otherwise. If an Event of Default with respect to a Series is
continuing, the Trustee in its discretion may also protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Holders of such Series by such appropriate
Proceedings as the Trustee shall deem appropriate to protect and enforce any such rights, whether for the specific enforcement of any covenant
or agreement in any Series Specific Document or in aid of the exercise of any power granted in any Series Specific Document, or to enforce any
other proper remedy.

6.4

Trustee May File Proofs of Claim

In any Proceeding relative to the Issuer (or any other obligor upon the Debt Securities), or its property or its other creditors, the Trustee shall be
entitled and empowered, by intervention in such Proceeding or otherwise, to take any and all actions authorized by Applicable Law in order to
have the claims of the Holders and the Trustee allowed in such Proceeding. In particular, the Trustee shall be authorized to collect and receive
any moneys or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same; and any custodian, receiver, assignee,
trustee, liquidator, sequestrator or other similar official in any such Proceeding is hereby authorized by each Holder to make such payments to
the Trustee and, in the event that the Trustee shall consent to the making of such payments directly to the Holders, to pay to the Trustee any
amount due it for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel. No provision of
this Indenture or any Series Specific Document shall be deemed to authorize the Trustee to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf
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of any Holder any plan of reorganization, arrangement adjustment or composition affecting any of the Debt Securities or the rights of any Holder
or to authorize the Trustee to vote in respect of the claim of any Holder in any such proceeding; provided however that the Trustee may, on
behalf of the Holders, vote for the election of a trustee in bankruptcy or similar official and be a member of a creditors' or other similar
committee.

6.5

Enforcement Without Possession of Debt Securities

All rights of action and claims under this Indenture and the Debt Securities may be prosecuted and enforced by the Trustee without the
possession of any of the Debt Securities or the production of any of the Debt Securities in any Proceeding relating thereto, and any such
Proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its own name as trustee of an express trust, and any recovery of judgment shall, after
provision for the payment of the reasonable compensation, expenses,
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disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel, be for the rateable benefit of the Holders for whom such judgment has been
recovered (subject to any express provisions to the contrary in this Indenture or a Series Supplement in connection with security for the benefit
of, or subordination arrangements applicable to, one or more Series).

6.6

Application of Money Collected

Any money collected by the Trustee pursuant to this Article in respect of a Series shall be applied in the following order, at the date or dates
fixed by the Trustee and, in case of the distribution of such money on account of any principal, premium, interest or other amount, upon
presentation of the Debt Securities of such Series and the notation on such Debt Securities of the payment (if only partially paid) or surrender
thereof (if fully paid):

(a)

first, to the payment of all amounts due to the Trustee under this Indenture with respect to such Series;

(b)

second, if no principal of or premium on such Series shall have become due and payable and be unpaid, to the payment of the accrued and
unpaid interest on such Series;

(c)

third, if any principal of or premium on such Series shall have become due and payable and be unpaid, to the payment of the whole amount of
such principal of or premium on such Securities that shall have become due and be unpaid and the accrued and unpaid interest on such Series, if
any, without discrimination or preference of any one such applicable amount over another, rateably to the aggregate of such principal, premium
and accrued and unpaid interest, if any;
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(d)

fourth, to the payment of any other amounts with respect to such Series; and

(e)

fifth, to whomsoever may be lawfully entitled to receive the balance of such money.

6.7

Notice of Event of Default

(a)

The Trustee shall give written notice of the occurrence of every Event of Default with respect to a Series to the Holders of such Series within a
reasonable time but not exceeding 30 days after the Trustee obtains knowledge thereof, unless the Trustee in good faith determines that the
withholding of such notice is in the best interests of such Holders, collectively, and so advises the Issuer in writing.

(b)

Where notice of the occurrence of a Default with respect to a Series has been given by the Trustee and the Default is thereafter cured within the
time provided for, notice that the Default is no longer continuing shall be given by the Trustee to the Holders of such Series within a reasonable
time but not exceeding 30 days after the Trustee obtains knowledge that the Default has been cured.

6.8

Restoration of Rights and Remedies

If the Trustee, or any Holder of a Series, has instituted Proceedings in accordance with this Indenture to enforce any right or remedy with respect
to a Series and such Proceeding has been discontinued or abandoned for any reason or has been determined adversely to the Trustee or to such
Holder, then in every such case, but subject to such adverse determination, (i) the Issuer, the Trustee and the Holders of such Series shall be
restored severally and respectively to the fullest extent possible to their former positions under this Indenture, and (ii) all rights and remedies of
the Trustee and such Holders shall continue as though no such Proceeding had been instituted.
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6.9

Rights and Remedies Cumulative

Except as expressly provided herein, no right or remedy conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee is intended to be exclusive of any other right
or remedy, and every right and remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to every other right and remedy however existing.  Any single or
partial exercise of any right or remedy shall not preclude any other or further exercise of such right or remedy or the exercise of any other right
or remedy.
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6.10

Waiver of Defaults

(a)

Prior or subsequent to a Declaration of Acceleration with respect to a Series, the Holders of such Series shall be permitted to provide a Holder
Direction instructing the Trustee to waive, in which event the Trustee shall waive (on and subject to the conditions, if any, specified in such
Holder Direction), any prospective or existing Default or Event of Default with respect to such Series except: (i) an Event of Default described
in Section 6.1(a); or (ii) a Default in respect of a provision that under Section 12.2(b) cannot be amended without the consent of the Holders of
such Series by way of a Special Holder Direction.

(b)

Upon a waiver becoming effective with respect to a Series, the Issuer, the Trustee and the Holders of such Series shall be restored to the fullest
extent possible to their former positions and rights under this Indenture and the related Series Specific Documents; the applicable Default or
Event of Default shall be deemed to have been cured and with respect to such Series, and any Default or Event of Default with respect to such
Series arising therefrom shall be deemed to have been cured; but no such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other Default or Event of
Default with respect to such Series or impair any right with respect to any such subsequent or other Default or Event of Default, or extend to the
same or any subsequent or other Default or Event of Default with respect to any other Series or impair any right with respect thereto.

6.11

Holders May Direct Trustee's Action

Except as otherwise provided in this Indenture, and subject to compliance with Section 8.3 with respect to the giving of sufficient funds and an
indemnity to the Trustee, the Holders of a Series shall have the right, in each case by a Holder Direction, to direct the time, method and place of
conducting any Proceeding or any right or remedy available to the Trustee, or the exercise of any trust or power conferred on the Trustee under
the Series Specific Documents with respect to such Series; provided, however, that the Trustee shall have the right to decline to follow any such
direction if advised by Counsel that the action so directed may not lawfully be taken or if the Trustee in good faith shall determine that the
Proceeding so directed would be illegal or would be unduly prejudicial to the rights of Holders of such Series not parties to such Holder
Direction or not bound by such Holder Direction or would involve the Trustee in personal liability unless the Trustee shall have been provided
with reasonable security or indemnity against such liability satisfactory to it.  Nothing in this Indenture shall impair the right of the Trustee to
take any action deemed proper by it and which is not inconsistent with such Holder Direction.

6.12

Limitation of Trustee's Liability

The Trustee will not be bound to do, observe or perform or to see to the observance or performance by the Issuer or any Subsidiary of any of the
obligations imposed upon it under this Indenture or the related Series Specific Documents, or in any other way to supervise or interfere with the
conduct of any activities of the Issuer or any Subsidiary unless and until a Declaration of Acceleration
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with respect to such Series has occurred, and the Trustee has determined or become bound to enforce the same and has been supplied with
sufficient funds and an indemnity as provided in Section 8.3.

ARTICLE 7
SUITS BY HOLDERS AND TRUSTEE

7.1

Holders May Not Sue

No Holder shall have any right to institute any Proceeding with respect to, or otherwise pursue or enforce any remedy with respect to, any Series
Specific Document, or for the appointment of a Custodian of the Issuer unless:

(a)

such Holder shall previously have given to or received from the Trustee written notice of a continuing Event of Default with respect to the
applicable Series;

(b)

the Holders of more than 25% of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of such Series shall have made a written request to the Trustee and the
Trustee shall have been afforded reasonable opportunity itself to either proceed to exercise the powers granted in this Indenture, or institute a
Proceeding in its name for the purpose requested;

(c)

such Holders shall have provided to the Trustee sufficient funds and an indemnity as contemplated by Section 8.3;

(d)

the Trustee shall have failed to act within a reasonable time, which for the purposes of the related Series Specific Documents shall not exceed a
period of 60 days after such notification, request and offer of sufficient funds and indemnity by such Holders;

(e)

during the period referred to Section 7.1(d):

(i)

such Event of Default has not been waived as provided herein;

(ii)

the Declaration of Acceleration in respect of such Event of Default has not been rescinded and annulled as provided herein; and

(iii)

the Trustee has not received a contrary Holder Direction from the Holders of such Series,

it being understood and intended that no Holder shall have any right in any manner whatever to take any action to affect, disturb or prejudice the
rights of any other Holders (whether of the same Series or any other Series) or to obtain or seek to obtain priority over or preference to any other
Holders (whether of the same Series or any other Series) (subject to any applicable subordination provisions or defeasance or sinking fund
provisions applicable to one or more Series), or to enforce any right under any related Series Specific Documents, other than in the manner
provided in this Indenture and for the equal, rateable and common benefit of all Holders of such Series.
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ARTICLE 8
TRUSTEE

8.1

Acceptance of Trust

The Trustee hereby accepts the trusts declared in this Indenture and covenants and agrees to perform the same upon the terms and conditions set
out in this Indenture and the other Series Specific Documents.

8.2

Standard of Care of Trustee

In the exercise of the powers and duties prescribed or conferred by the terms of this Indenture and the other Series Specific Documents, the
Trustee shall exercise the degree of care, diligence and skill of a reasonably prudent trustee, in good faith and in the best interests of the Holders.
 No provision of this Indenture shall be construed to relieve the Trustee from its duties, except that to the extent permitted by Trust Indenture
Legislation.

8.3

Conditions Precedent to Trustee's Obligations to Act

Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Trustee shall not be bound to give any notice or do or take any act, action or proceeding by
virtue of the powers conferred on it in this Indenture or any other Series Specific Document unless and until it shall have been required so to do
under the terms of this Indenture or any other Series Specific Document and provided with such evidence of compliance with any covenant,
condition or other requirement specified in this Indenture or any other Series Specific Document, to be furnished to the Trustee in connection
with such notice, act, action or proceeding or in connection with the exercise of its rights and duties under this Indenture or any other Series
Specific Document and such other evidence of compliance with the provisions of this Indenture and other Series Specific Documents as the
Trustee may reasonably require by written notice to the Issuer; nor shall the Trustee be required to take notice of any default under this Indenture
or any other Series Specific Document, other than payment of any moneys required by any provision hereof to be paid to it, unless and until
notified in writing of such default, which notice shall distinctly specify the default desired to be brought to the attention of the Trustee, and in the
absence of any such notice the Trustee may for all purposes of this Indenture and the other Series Specific Documents conclusively assume that
the Issuer is not in default hereunder and that no default has been made with respect to the payment of principal of or interest on the Debt
Securities or in the observance or performance of any of the covenants, agreements or conditions contained herein. Any such notice shall in no
way limit any discretion herein given to the Trustee to determine whether or not the Trustee shall take action with respect to any default.

The obligation of the Trustee to commence or continue any act, action or Proceeding for the purpose of enforcing any rights of the Trustee or the
Holders hereunder shall be conditional upon the Holders furnishing, when required by notice in writing by the Trustee, sufficient funds to
commence or continue such act, action or Proceeding and an indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee to protect and hold harmless the
Trustee against the costs, charges, and expenses and liabilities to be incurred thereby and any loss and damage it may suffer by reason thereof.
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None of the provisions contained in this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial liability
in the performance of any of its, duties or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers unless indemnified as aforesaid.
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The Trustee shall retain the right not to act and shall not be liable for refusing to act if, due to a lack of information or for any other reason
whatsoever, the Trustee, in its sole judgment, determines that such act might cause it to be in non-compliance with any applicable anti-money
laundering or anti-terrorist legislation, regulation or guideline.  Further, should the Trustee, in its sole judgment, determine at any time that its
acting under this Indenture or any Series Specific Document has resulted in its being in non-compliance with any applicable anti-money
laundering or anti-terrorist legislation, regulation or guideline, then it shall have the right to resign on 10 days' written notice to the other parties
to this Indenture or any Series Specific Document provided (i) that the Trustee's written notice shall describe the circumstances of such
non-compliance; and (ii) that if such circumstances are rectified to the Trustee's satisfaction within such 10-day period, then such resignation
shall not be effective.

Nothing in this Indenture shall impose any obligation on the Trustee to see to or to require evidence of the registration or filing (or renewal
thereof) of this Indenture or any instrument ancillary or supplemental hereto.

8.4

Delegation; Experts and Advisers

The Trustee may delegate to any Person the performance of any of the trusts and powers vested in it under the Series Specific Documents for
each Series and any such delegation may be made upon such terms and conditions and subject to such regulations, not including however any
power to sub-delegate, as the Trustee may think to be in the interests of the Holders.  The Trustee shall be responsible for the performance or
non-performance of any of the trusts and powers delegated to any such Person.

The Trustee may employ or retain such counsel, auditors, accountants, consultants, engineers, appraisers or other experts or advisers, whose
qualifications give authority to any opinion or report made by them, as it may reasonably require for the purpose of discharging its duties
hereunder.

The Trustee may pay reasonable remuneration for all services performed for it in the discharge of the trusts hereof by any such agent or attorney,
or expert or adviser.

8.5

Protection of the Trustee

(a)

In the exercise of its rights, duties and obligations hereunder, the Trustee may, if it is acting in good faith, act and rely upon the truth of the
statements and the accuracy of the opinions expressed in the evidence of compliance furnished pursuant to any covenant, condition or other
requirement of this Indenture, or reasonably required by notice in writing to the Issuer by the Trustee to be furnished to it in the exercise of its
rights and duties under this Indenture where such evidence of compliance is in accordance with the provisions herein and the Trustee examines
the evidence of compliance furnished to it in order to determine whether such evidence indicates compliance with the applicable requirements of
this Indenture.
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(b)

Prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder and after the curing of all Events of Default, the Trustee shall not be bound to make any
investigation into the facts or matters stated in any document, unless requested in writing to do so:

(i)

by the Holders of not less than a majority in Principal Amount of the Debt Securities then outstanding; or
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(ii)

by adoption of a resolution, at a meeting of Holders of Debt Securities at which a quorum is present, by Holders of not less than a majority in
aggregate Principal Amount of Debt Securities outstanding at such time represented at such meeting,

 provided, however, that if the payment within a reasonable time to the Trustee of the costs, expenses or liabilities likely to be incurred by it in
the making of such investigation is, in the opinion of the Trustee, not reasonably assured to the Trustee, the Trustee may require reasonable
indemnity against such expense or liability as a condition to so proceeding.  The reasonable expense of every such examination shall be paid by
the Issuer or, if paid by the Trustee, shall be repaid by the Issuer upon demand.

(c)

The Trustee shall not be liable for or by reason of any statement of fact in this Indenture, the Debt Securities or any other Series Specific
Document, or required to verify the same (except for the representations contained in Section 8.9 hereof and in the certificate of the Trustee on
the Debt Securities), but all such statements of fact are and shall be deemed to have been made by the Issuer.  The Trustee shall not incur any
liability or responsibility whatever or be in any way responsible for the consequence of any breach on the part of the Issuer of any covenants
herein contained.

(d)

Subject to Section 8.4, the Trustee may act through agents and shall not be responsible for the misconduct or negligence of any agent appointed
with due care.

(e)

The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith that it believes to be authorized or within its rights or powers.

(f)

Money held by the Trustee in trust hereunder need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.  The Trustee (acting
in any capacity hereunder) shall be under no liability for interest on any money received by it hereunder unless otherwise agreed.

8.6

Individual Rights of Trustee
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The Trustee in its individual or any other capacity may become the owner or pledgee of Debt Securities and may otherwise deal with the Issuer
or its Affiliates with the same rights it would have if it were not a Trustee.  Any Paying Agent, Registrar or Other Series Agent may do the same
with like rights. However, the Trustee must comply with Sections 8.12 and 8.13.

8.7

Trustee's Disclaimer

The Trustee makes no representation as to the validity or adequacy of this Indenture, the Debt Securities or any other Series Specific Document;
it shall not be accountable for the Issuer's use of the proceeds from the Debt Securities; and it shall not be responsible for any statement in any
offering Document or in the Indenture or the Debt Securities (other than its certificate of authentication and Section 8.9) or the determination as
to which beneficial owners are entitled to receive any notices hereunder.

8.8

Compensation and Indemnity

The Issuer agrees:

(a)

to pay to the Trustee from time to time reasonable compensation for all services rendered by it hereunder (which compensation shall, to the
extent permitted by law, not be limited by any provision of law in regard to the compensation of a trustee of an express trust);
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(b)

to reimburse the Trustee, upon its request and submission of reasonable documentation, for all reasonable expenses, disbursements and advances
incurred or made by the Trustee in accordance with any provision of this Indenture (including the reasonable compensation and the expenses,
advances and disbursements of its agents and counsel) except any such expense, disbursement or advance as may be attributable to its
negligence or bad faith; and

(c)

in addition to and without limiting any other protection of the Trustee hereunder or otherwise by law, to indemnify and save harmless the
Trustee from and against any and all liabilities, losses, claims, damages, penalties, actions, suits, demands, levies, costs, expenses and
disbursements, including any and all reasonable legal and advisor fees and disbursements of whatever kind or nature, which may at any time be
suffered by, imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Trustee, whether groundless or otherwise, howsoever arising from or out of any act,
omission or error of the Trustee, in connection with its acting as trustee hereunder, provided the Trustee has acted in good faith, without
negligence and in accordance with its obligations hereunder.  Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, this indemnity shall survive the
removal or resignation of the Trustee, the discharge of this Indenture and the termination of any trust created hereby.

To secure the Issuer's payment obligations in this Section 8.8, the Trustee shall have a lien prior to the Debt Securities on all money or property
held or collected by the Trustee, except that held in trust to pay the principal, premium or accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as the case may be,
on particular Debt Securities.
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The Issuer's obligations pursuant to this Section 8.8 shall survive the discharge of this Indenture. When a Trustee incurs expenses after the
occurrence of a Default specified in Section 6.1(d), (e) or (f) the expenses are intended to constitute expenses of administration under any
Bankruptcy Law.

8.9

Conflict of Interest

(a)

The Trustee represents to the Issuer that at the date of execution and delivery by it of this Indenture, there exists no material conflict of interest
between its role as Trustee hereunder and its role in any other capacity.  A Trustee shall, within three months after ascertaining that such a
material conflict of interest exists, either eliminate such conflict of interest or resign in the manner and with the effect specified in Section 8.10.

(b)

If, notwithstanding the provisions of Section 8.9(a), the Trustee has such a material conflict of interest, the validity and enforceability of this
Indenture and of the Debt Securities issued hereunder shall not be affected in any manner whatsoever by reason only of such material conflict of
interest.

(c)

If at any time the Trustee fails to comply with the provisions of Section 8.9(a), the Trustee shall within 10 days after the expiration of the three
month period referred to therein, transmit notice of such failure to the Holders of Debt Securities in the manner provided for notices to the
Holders Debt Securities in Section 9.2.

8.10

Replacement of Trustee

The Trustee may resign its trust and be discharged from all further duties and liabilities hereunder by giving to the Issuer 90 days' notice in
writing or such shorter notice as the Issuer may accept as sufficient provided that no such resignation shall be effective until a successor Trustee
has accepted its appointment pursuant to this Section 8.10.  The Holders of a majority in aggregate Principal Amount of the Debt Securities at
the time outstanding shall have power at any time to remove the Trustee
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by so notifying the Trustee and the Issuer (subject to the consent of the Issuer if there is no Event of Default continuing, such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed).  In the event of the Trustee: (a) failing to comply with the provisions of Section 8.9(a) or (c); (b) ceasing to
be eligible in accordance with the provisions of Section 8.12 and failing to resign after written request by the Issuer or any Holder; (c) resigning
or being removed as aforesaid or being dissolved; (d) becoming bankrupt, going into liquidation; or (e) otherwise becoming incapable of acting
hereunder, then, in any such case, (i) the Issuer shall appoint a new Trustee or (ii) the retiring Trustee (except in the case of (a) above) or any
Holder may apply to the British Columbia Supreme Court, on such notice as such Court may direct, for the appointment of a new Trustee; but
any new Trustee so appointed by the Issuer or by the Court shall be subject to removal as aforesaid by the Holders.  Any new Trustee appointed
under any provision of this Section shall be a trust company meeting the requirements for eligibility herein. On any new appointment, the new
Trustee shall be vested with the same powers, rights, duties and responsibilities as if it had been originally named herein as Trustee, without any
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further assurance, conveyance, act or deed; but there shall be immediately executed, at the expense of the Issuer, all such conveyances or other
instruments as may, in the opinion of Counsel, be necessary or advisable for the purpose of assuring the same to the new Trustee.

If the Trustee resigns or is removed or if a vacancy exists in the office of Trustee for any reason (other than as contemplated in the foregoing
paragraph), the Issuer shall promptly appoint a successor Trustee.

The Issuer shall give notice of each resignation and removal of the Trustee with respect to the Debt Securities and each appointment of a
successor Trustee with respect to the Debt Securities to the Holders of Debt Securities in the manner provided for notices to the Holders of Debt
Securities in Section 9.2.  Each notice shall include the name of the successor Trustee with respect to the Debt Securities and the address of its
corporate trust office.

A successor Trustee shall deliver a written acceptance of its appointment to the retiring Trustee and the Issuer.  Thereupon the resignation or
removal of the retiring Trustee shall become effective, and the successor Trustee shall, without further act, become vested with all the rights,
powers, trusts and duties of the retiring Trustee under this Indenture.  On request of the Issuer or the successor Trustee, such retiring Trustee
shall, upon payment of its charges, execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor Trustee all the rights, powers and trusts of
the retiring Trustee.  The retiring Trustee shall promptly duly assign, transfer and deliver all property and money held by it as Trustee to the
successor Trustee, subject to the lien provided for in Section 8.8.

No successor Trustee shall accept its appointment unless at the time of such acceptance such successor Trustee shall be qualified and eligible
under this Article 8.

If written acceptance by a successor Trustee shall not have been delivered to the retiring Trustee and the Issuer within 30 days after the retiring
Trustee resigns or is removed, the retiring Trustee, the Issuer or any Holder who has been a bona fide Holder of a Debt Security for at least six
months may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee.

8.11

Successor Trustee by Merger

If the Trustee consolidates or amalgamates with, merges or converts into, or transfers all or substantially all its corporate trust business or assets
to, another corporation, the resulting, surviving or transferee corporation without any further act shall be the successor Trustee provided such
corporation shall be eligible and qualified under the provisions of Section 8.12.
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Upon the written request of the successor Trustee or of the Issuer, the Trustee ceasing to act shall execute and deliver an instrument assigning
and transferring to such successor Trustee, upon the trusts herein expressed, all the rights, powers and trusts of the Trustee so ceasing to act, and
shall duly assign, transfer and deliver all property and money held by such Trustee to the successor Trustee so appointed in its place. Should any
deed, conveyance or instrument in writing from the Issuer be required by any new Trustee for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming
to it such estates, properties, rights, powers and trusts, then any and all such deeds, conveyances and instruments in writing shall, on request of
such new Trustee, be made, executed, acknowledged and delivered by the Issuer.

8.12

Eligibility; Disqualification
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For so long as required by Trust Indenture Legislation, there shall be a Trustee under this Indenture.  The Trustee shall at all times be a
corporation organized under the laws of Canada or any province thereof and authorized under such laws and the laws of British Columbia (and
the laws of each province in which a prospectus is filed relating to the offering of the Debt Securities and to which the Indenture will be subject)
to carry on trust business therein.  If at any time the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with this Section, it shall immediately notify
the Issuer.  However, notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 8.12, if at any time the Trustee ceases to be eligible to act as Trustee in
accordance with this Section, the validity and enforceability of this Indenture, the other Series Specific Documents and the Debt Securities
issued hereunder shall not be affected in any manner whatsoever by reason only of such event but the Trustee shall forthwith become authorized
to, or upon written request by the Issuer or any Holders shall, resign in the manner and with the effect specified in Section 8.10.

8.13

Trustee Not to be Appointed Receiver

Neither the Trustee nor any affiliate, as defined in the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), to the Trustee shall be appointed a receiver
or receiver and manager or liquidator of all or any part of the assets or undertaking of the Issuer.

8.14

Adoption of Certification

In case any of the Debt Securities contemplated to be issued under this Indenture have been certified but not delivered, any successor Trustee
may adopt the certificate of authentication of any predecessor Trustee so authenticating the Debt Securities and deliver the Debt Securities so
authenticated, and in case any of the Debt Securities shall not have been authenticated, any successor Trustee may authenticate the Debt
Securities in the name of the predecessor Trustee, or in the name of the successor Trustee.

8.15

Compliance with Privacy Laws

The parties acknowledge that federal and/or provincial legislation that addresses the protection of individuals' personal information (collectively,
"Privacy Laws") applies to obligations and activities under this Indenture or any Series Specific Document.  Despite any other provision of this
Indenture or any Series Specific Document, neither party shall take or direct any action that would contravene, or cause the other to contravene,
applicable Privacy Laws.  The Issuer shall, prior to transferring or causing to be transferred personal information to the Trustee, obtain and retain
required consents of the relevant individuals to the collection, use and disclosure of their personal information, or shall have determined that
such consents either have previously been given upon which the parties can rely or are not required under the Privacy Laws.  The Trustee shall
use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that its services hereunder comply with Privacy Laws.  Specifically, the Trustee agrees:  (a) to
have a designated chief privacy officer; (b) to maintain policies and procedures to protect personal
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information and to receive and respond to any privacy complaint or inquiry; (c) to use personal information solely for the purposes of providing
its services under or ancillary to this Indenture and not to use it for any other purpose except with the consent of or direction from the Issuer or
the individual involved; (d) not to sell or otherwise improperly disclose personal information to any third party; and (e) to employ
administrative, physical and technological safeguards to reasonably secure and protect personal information against loss, theft, or unauthorized
access, use or modification.

Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT - Form 424B2

186



ARTICLE 9
NOTICES

9.1

Notice to Issuer

Any notice, document or other communication (a "Notice") required or permitted to be given to the Issuer under this Indenture or any other
Series Specific Document shall be in writing and shall be valid and effective if delivered or sent by facsimile transmission (with receipt
confirmed), to the Issuer, at:

Pan American Silver Corp.
1500 - 625 Howe Street
Vancouver, British Columbia
Canada  V6C 2T6

Attention: Robert Pirooz, Vice President, Legal Affairs

Fax No.:(604) 684-0147

and such Notice shall be deemed to have been received, where given by delivery, on the day of delivery, and, where sent by facsimile
transmission, on the day of transmittal of such Notice if given on a Business Day during normal business hours of the recipient and on the next
succeeding Business Day if not transmitted on a Business Day or during such business hours.  The Issuer may from time to time notify the
Trustee of a change in address or facsimile number by notice given as provided in Section 9.3.

9.2

Notice to Holders

(a)

Any Notice required or permitted to be given under this Indenture or any other Series Specific Document to Holders of a Series shall be given by
means of publication in one Authorized Newspaper in each Place of Payment for such Series at least once, and any Notice so published shall be
deemed to have been given on the date when the publication has appeared in each such Authorized Newspaper.  Any Notice required or
permitted to be given under this Indenture to Holders of Registered Debt Securities of a Series may be effectively given if delivered or if sent to
a destination within Canada by first class mail or to a destination outside Canada by airmail, postage prepaid, in each case addressed to the
applicable Holder at its post office address appearing in the relevant Register for such Series, and shall be deemed to have been be given on the
date of delivery or mailing, as the case may be.

(b)

If publication of any Authorized Newspaper is suspended or it shall be impractical to publish any notice to Holders of Bearer Debt Securities as
provided above, then such notification to such Holders may be given in any other manner approved by the Trustee, and any notice so given shall
constitute sufficient notice to such Holders for every purpose under the Series Specific Documents.

(c)

Neither the failure to give notice by publication to Holders of Bearer Debt Securities as provided above nor any defect in any notice so published
shall affect the sufficiency of any notice given to Holders of Registered Debt Securities as provided above.  Any notice sent to the Holders of
Registered
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Debt Securities as provided above shall be effective notwithstanding that any such notice has accidentally or inadvertently not been delivered or
mailed to one or more such Holders.

9.3

Notice to Trustee

Any Notice required or permitted to be given to tile Trustee under this Indenture or any other Series Specific Document shall be in writing and
shall be valid and effective if delivered or sent by facsimile transmission (with receipt confirmed), to the Trustee, at:

·

Attention: •

Facsimile No.: •

and such Notice shall be deemed to have been received, where given by delivery, on the day of delivery and, where sent by facsimile
transmission, on the day of transmittal of such Notice if given on a Business Day during normal business hours of the recipient and on the next
succeeding Business Day if not transmitted on a Business Day or during such business hours.  The Trustee may from time to time notify the
Issuer of a change in address or facsimile number by notice given as provided in Section 9.1.

ARTICLE 10
HOLDERS' ACTIONS AND MEETINGS

10.1

Holder Actions

(a)

Any Holder Action to be made, given or taken by Holders of one or more Series may be made, given or taken by such Holders by way of a
Holder Direction, or where expressly required by this Indenture or another Series Specific Document, by a Special Holder Direction, from the
Holders of such one or more Series.  Every Holder Direction and Special Holder Direction given in accordance with this Indenture or a related
Series Specific Document, shall be binding upon all Holders of the applicable Series whether or not they were present at any applicable meeting
or otherwise themselves made, gave or took the Holder Action effected by such Holder Direction or Special Holder Direction, as the case may
be, and the Trustee (subject to compliance with Section 8.3 with respect to the giving of sufficient funds and indemnity) shall be bound to give
effect accordingly to every such Holder Direction and Special Holder Direction.

(b)

A Holder, including a Depositary that is a Holder of a Global Debt Security, may make, give or take, by proxies duly appointed in writing, any
Holder Action to be made, given or taken by such Holder, and, a Depositary that is the Holder of a Global Debt Security may provide for the
beneficial owners of interests in any such Global Debt Security (including, where applicable, the Participants in any Depositary which own
beneficial interests in such Global Debt Security) to direct such Depositary in taking such action through such Depositary's standing instructions
and customary practices, including the delivery of proxies, directions or voting certificates (including any omnibus, global or block proxy,
direction or voting certificate) satisfactory to the Trustee under which such Depositary, any agent for or nominee of such Depositary, or the
beneficial owners of interests in any such Global Debt Security (including, where applicable, the Participants in such Depositary which own
beneficial interests in such Global Debt Security) themselves take such action by means of additional proxies, directions or voting certificates
(including any omnibus, global or block proxy, direction or voting certificate) satisfactory to the Trustee, in each case through standing
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instructions and customary practices applicable to such Depositary or such Participant or an agent or nominee of such Depositary or such
Participant.  The
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Depositary (including, where applicable, the Participants in such Depositary which own beneficial interests in such Global Debt Security), or
such agent or nominee may, in its discretion report to the Trustee the result of its solicitation of proxies, directions and voting certificates on an
aggregate basis.

(c)

The fact and date of the execution by any Person of an instrument or writing effecting or approving a Holder Action may be proved by the
affidavit of a witness of such execution or by the certificate of a notary public or other Person authorized by Applicable Law to take
acknowledgements of deeds, certifying that the individual signing such instrument or writing acknowledged to such witness or notary the
execution of such instrument or writing.  Whenever such execution is by a signer acting in a capacity other than such signer's individual
capacity, such certificate or affidavit shall also constitute sufficient proof of such signer's authority.  The facts and date of the execution of any
such instrument or writing, or the authority of the Person executing the same, may also be proved in any other manner which the Trustee deems
sufficient.

(d)

The ownership, principal amount and serial numbers of Registered Debt Securities held by any Person, and the date of the commencement and
the date of the termination of such holding, shall be proved by the relevant Register.

(e)

The ownership, principal amount and serial numbers of Bearer Debt Securities held by any Person, and the date of the commencement and the
date of the termination of such holding, may be proved by the production of such Bearer Debt Securities or by a certificate executed, as
depositary, by any trust company, bank, banker or other depositary acceptable to the Issuer, wherever situated, if such certificate shall be deemed
by the Trustee to be satisfactory, showing that at the date mentioned in such certificate such Person had on deposit with such depositary, or
exhibited to it, the Bearer Debt Securities described in such certificate; or such facts may be proved by the certificate or affidavit of the Person
holding such Bearer Debt Securities, if such certificate or affidavit is deemed by the Trustee to be satisfactory.  The Trustee and the Issuer may
assume that ownership of any Bearer Debt Security continues until another certificate or affidavit bearing a later date issued in respect of the
same Bearer Debt Security is produced, or such Bearer Debt Security is produced to the Trustee by some other Person, or such Bearer Debt
Security is surrendered in exchange for a Registered Debt Security, or such Bearer Debt Security is no longer Outstanding.  The ownership,
principal amount and serial numbers of Bearer Debt Securities held by the Person so executing such instrument or writing and the date of the
commencement and the date of the termination of such holding may also be proved in any other manner which the Trustee deems sufficient.

(f)

Any Holder Action of, or which is binding on, any Holder of a Debt Security shall bind every future Holder of such Debt Security and the
Holder of every Debt Security issued upon the registration or transfer of such Debt Security or in exchange for or in lieu of such Debt Security in
respect of anything done, omitted or suffered to be done by the Trustee or the Issuer in reliance on such Holder Action, whether or not notation
of such action is made upon such Debt Security.

(g)
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If the Issuer or the Trustee shall solicit any Holder Action, the Issuer or the Trustee, as the case may be, may fix in advance a record date for the
determination of Holders entitled to make, give or take such Holder Action. Such Holder Action may be given before or after such record date,
but only the Holders of record at the close of business on such record date shall be deemed to be Holders for the purpose of determining whether
the requisite Holders have authorized or agreed or consented to such Holder Action.  No Holder Action shall be deemed effective unless it shall
become effective pursuant to this Indenture not later than six months after the applicable record date.
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10.2

Meetings of Holders

(a)

Calling of Meetings.  At any time and from time to time, the Issuer or the Trustee may, and the Trustee shall on receipt of a written request
signed by Holders representing not less than 25% of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the applicable one or more Series, and upon
receiving sufficient funds and being indemnified to its satisfaction by the Issuer or by the Holders signing such request, as the case may be,
against the costs which may be incurred by it in connection with the calling and holding of such meeting, call a meeting of the Holders of such
Series.  If the Trustee fails within 20 days after receipt of such written request, such funds and such indemnity to give notice calling such
meeting, such Holders may themselves call such meeting and the notice calling such meeting may be signed by such Person as those Holders
specify.  Every such meeting shall be held in Vancouver, British Columbia or at such other place as the Issuer, the Trustee or the Holders, as the
case may be, calling such meeting approve or determine.

(b)

Notice of Meetings.  At least 20 days', and no more than 90 days', prior notice of any meeting of Holders of one or more Series shall be given by
such Holders to the Issuer (unless the meeting has been called by the Issuer) and to the Trustee (unless the meeting has been called by the
Trustee). Such notice shall state the time and the place of the meeting and shall specify, in general terms, the nature of the business to be
transacted at such meeting.  It shall not be necessary to specify in the notice the text of any resolution to be passed at such meeting.  Such notice
shall also state that any Holder may be represented at any such meeting by a proxy duly appointed by document in writing in accordance with
the regulations made from time to time by the Trustee pursuant to Section 10.5, and that the appointment of any proxy may be revoked at any
time before the commencement of the meeting to which the appointment relates.  Subject to Section 10.2(c), notices shall be given in the manner
set forth in Article 9.

(c)

Quorum.  At a meeting of Holders of one or more Series:

(i)

Persons entitled pursuant to this Indenture to vote Debt Securities representing more than 33 1/3% of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of
such one or more Series shall constitute a quorum.  No business shall be transacted in the absence of a quorum, unless a quorum is present when
the meeting is called to order.  If a Quorum is not present on the date for which the meeting is called within 30 minutes after the time fixed for
the holding of the meeting, then the meeting, if called pursuant to a request of Holders, will be dissolved; but in any other case the meeting shall
be adjourned to the same day in the next calendar week (unless such day is not a Business Day in which case it will be adjourned to the next
Business Day thereafter) at the same time and place, and no notice will be required to be given in respect of such adjourned meeting.  At the
adjourned meeting, the Holders of the Series present in person or by proxy will constitute a quorum and may transact the business for which the
meeting was originally convened, notwithstanding that such Holders may not represent 33 1/3% of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the
applicable Series.  Any meeting of Holders duly called at which a quorum is present may be adjourned from time to time, and the meeting may
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be held as so adjourned without further notice;

(ii)

Notwithstanding Section 10.2(a) above, for the purpose of a Special Holder Direction, Persons entitled pursuant to this Indenture to vote Debt
Securities representing more than 50% of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the applicable one or more Series shall constitute a quorum.
 No business shall be transacted in connection with any Special Holder Direction in the absence of a Special Quorum.  If a Special Quorum is
not present within 30 minutes after the time fixed for the holding of such meeting, then the meeting, if called pursuant to a request of Holders,
will be dissolved; but in any other case the meeting with respect only to such Special Holder Direction (but for greater certainty not with respect
to any other matters unless so determined at such meeting) shall be adjourned to the same day in the next calendar week (unless such day is not a
Business Day in which case it will be adjourned to the next Business Day thereafter) at the same time and place, provided that notice of such
adjourned meeting is given to the Holders in accordance with Section 9.2 prior to such adjourned meeting.  At the adjourned meeting, if a
Special Quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time fixed for the holding of such meeting, the meeting will be dissolved with respect
to such Special Holder Direction; and

- 53 -

(iii)

Any Holder who has executed a document in writing appointing a Person as proxy shall be deemed to be present for the purposes of determining
a Quorum or a Special Quorum and be deemed to have voted; provided, that such Holder shall be considered as present or voting only with
respect to the matters covered by such document.

(d)

Chairperson.  The Trustee shall appoint in writing an individual, who need not be a Holder, to be the chairperson of the meeting; provided
however that Holders representing more than 50% of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the applicable one or more Series present in
person or by proxy at the meeting may elect at such meeting another individual, who need not be a Holder, to be the chairperson of the meeting.
 No vote shall be cast or counted at any meeting in respect of any Debt Securities challenged as not outstanding and ruled by the chairperson of
the meeting to be not Outstanding.  The chairperson of the meeting shall have no right to vote except as a Holder or proxy of a Holder.

(e)

Voting.  At a meeting of Holders:

(i)

In order to be entitled to vote, a Person shall be: (i) a Holder of the applicable Series; or (ii) a Person appointed by a document in writing as
proxy by a Holder of the applicable Series.  A Person acting as a proxy need not be a Holder.  In the case of joint registered Holders, any one of
them present in person or by proxy at the meeting may vote in the absence of the other or others, but in case more than one of them is present in
person or by proxy, they will vote together in respect of the Debt Securities of which they are joint registered Holders; and

(ii)

The vote upon any resolution submitted to any meeting of Holders shall be by written ballot on which shall be subscribed the name and
signatures of Holders or proxies entitled to vote at such meeting and on which shall be inscribed the serial number or numbers of the Debt
Securities held or represented by them.  The chairperson of the meeting shall appoint two scrutineers who shall count all votes cast at the
meeting for or against any resolution and who shall make and file with the chairperson of the meeting their verified written reports in duplicate
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of all votes cast at the meeting.  A record in duplicate of the proceedings of each meeting of Holders shall be prepared by the chairperson of the
meeting and there shall be attached to such record the original reports of the scrutineers on any vote by ballot taken at such meeting and
affidavits by one or more Persons having knowledge of the facts setting forth a copy of the notice of the meeting and showing that such notice
was given as provided in this Section.  The record shall be signed and verified by the chairperson of the meeting and one of the duplicates shall
be delivered to the Issuer and the other to the Trustee to be preserved by the Trustee, the latter to have attached thereto the ballots voted at the
meeting.  Any record so signed and verified shall be conclusive evidence of the matters stated in such record.
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(f)

Minutes.  Minutes of all resolutions and proceedings at every such meeting shall be made and duly entered in books to be provided from time to
time for that purpose by the Trustee at the expense of the Issuer, and any such minutes if signed by the chairperson of the meeting at which such
resolutions were passed or proceedings had, or by the chairperson of the next succeeding meeting of Holders of the applicable one or more
Series, shall be prima facie evidence of the matters therein stated and, until the contrary is proved, every such meeting in respect of the
proceedings of which meetings shall have been made shall be deemed to have been duly called and held and all resolutions passed or
proceedings had at such meeting to have been duly passed and had.

(g)

Persons Who May Attend.  The only Persons who shall be entitled to be present or to speak at any meeting of Holders shall be the Persons
entitled to vote at such meeting and their counsel, the Issuer and the Trustee and their respective Counsel and any other Person specified in any
related Series Supplement.

10.3

Additional Powers Exercisable by Holder Direction

In addition to any powers granted elsewhere in this Indenture or by law, the Holders of a Series shall have the following powers exercisable
from time to time by a Holder Direction of the Holders of such Series:

(a)

to restrain any Holder of such Series from taking or instituting any Proceeding for the recovery of amounts payable under such Series or any
Series Specific Document for such Series or for the execution of any trust or power under any Series Specific Document for such Series;

(b)

to direct any Holder of such Series who, as such, has brought any Proceeding, to stay or discontinue or otherwise deal with such Proceeding in
the manner directed by such direction upon payment, if the taking of such Proceeding shall have been permitted by Section 7.1, of the costs,
charges and expenses reasonably and properly incurred by such Holder in connection with such Proceeding;

(c)

to appoint a committee to consult with the Trustee and to delegate to the committee (subject to the limitations, if any, as may be prescribed in
such Holder Direction) the power to give to the Trustee any or all of the actions or directions which the Holders of such Series could give by
way of a Holder Direction; such Holder Direction may provide for payment of the expenses and disbursements of and compensation to such
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committee; such committee will consist of such number of Persons as shall be prescribed by such Holder Direction appointing it and the
members need not be themselves Holders; except as otherwise provided in such Holder Direction, every such committee may elect its
chairperson and may make regulations respecting its quorum, the calling of its meetings, the filling of vacancies occurring in its number, the
manner in which it may act and its procedures generally; such regulations may provide that the committee may act at a meeting at which a
quorum is present or may act by minutes signed by the number of members of such committee necessary to constitute a quorum or by an
instrument or instruments in writing signed by all or a specified majority of such members; all acts of any such committee within the authority
delegated to it shall be binding upon all Holders of such Series; neither the committee nor any member of such committee shall be liable for any
loss arising from or in connection with any action taken or omitted to be taken by them in good faith;
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(d)

amend, modify or repeal any Holder Direction previously passed or approved by the Holders of such Series, or any committee appointed
pursuant to Section 10.3(c) above (subject to any limitations prescribed in such Holder Direction); and

(e)

to remove the Trustee from office and appoint a successor Trustee, provided that such removal is consented to by a Holder Direction from the
Holders of all Series.

10.4

Powers Cumulative

The powers granted in this Indenture shall be deemed to be several and cumulative and not dependent on each other and the exercise of one or
more of such powers, or any combination of such powers, from time to time, shall be deemed to not exhaust the rights of the Holders to exercise
such power or powers, or combinations of powers, thereafter from time to time.

10.5

Regulations

The Trustee may from time to time make reasonable regulations and may make reasonable variations to the regulations as it thinks fit with
respect to:

(a)

the voting by proxy by Holders and the form or forms of instrument appointing proxies and the manner in which such instruments will be
executed and with respect to the production of the authority of any Person signing on behalf of the giver of the proxy;

(b)

the delivery (whether in original, facsimile, electronic or other form) or lodging of instruments appointing proxies at any place or places and in
such custody as the Trustee directs and the time, if any, before the holding of the meeting or adjourned meeting by which the same must be
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deposited;

(c)

the forwarding by the custodian of proxies of particulars of instruments appointing proxies by letter, cable, telegraph, facsimile, electronic
messaging system or other means before the meeting to the Issuer or to the Trustee or to the chairperson of the meeting;

(d)

the issue of voting certificates to Holders of Global Debt Securities which voting certificates shall entitle the Persons named in such certificate to
be present and vote at any such meeting and at any adjournment of such meeting or to appoint a proxy or proxies to represent them and vote for
them at any such meeting and at any adjournment of such meeting, in the same manner and with the same effect as though the Holders so named
in such voting certificates were the actual registered Holders of Debt Securities represented by such Global Certificate; and

(e)

any and all other matters respecting the execution and delivery of any documents or instruments evidencing any Holder Action by or on behalf
of a Holder making, giving or taking such Holder Action.

Any regulations so made will be binding and effective and votes given, and the Holder Actions made, given or taken, in accordance with such
regulations will be valid and will be counted.  Instruments appointing proxies, the particulars of which are forwarded in accordance with the
regulations, will confer
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the same right to vote, and to make, give or take such Holder Action, as though the instruments themselves were produced at the meeting or
made, given or taken by the applicable Holder, as the case may be.  Except as otherwise specified in this Indenture, the only Persons who will be
recognized at any meeting of Holders or as entitled to vote or be present at any such meeting will be Holders and holders of proxies (or also in
the case of Global Debt Certificate voting certificates) of such Holders.

ARTICLE 11
AMALGAMATION, CONSOLIDATION, CONVEYANCE, TRANSFER OR LEASE

11.1

Consolidation, Amalgamation, Merger or Sale of Assets Permitted

The Issuer will not amalgamate with, consolidate with or merge into any other person (except an amalgamation with a wholly-owned
Subsidiary) or sell, transfer or lease all or substantially all of its assets to any person (except a Subsidiary), unless:

(a)

either:

(i)
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the Issuer shall be the continuing corporation; or

(ii)

the successor (if other than the Issuer) formed by such consolidation or amalgamation or into which the Issuer is merged or to which all or
substantially all of the assets of the Issuer are sold or leased:

(A)

shall be a corporation, partnership, limited liability corporation, joint venture, association, joint stock company, unincorporated organization,
agency or trust organized and existing under the laws of Canada or any province or territory thereof or the laws of the United States of America
or a State thereof or the District of Columbia; and

(B)

shall expressly assume by supplemental indenture executed and delivered to the Trustee the obligation to make due and punctual payment of all
amounts with respect to all Debt Securities, according to their tenor, and the due and punctual performance and observance of all of the
covenants and obligations of the Issuer under all Debt Securities, this Indenture and all other Series Specific Documents; and

(b)

immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.

11.2

Succession by Successor Issuer

In case of any such merger, consolidation, amalgamation, sale, transfer or lease and upon any such assumption of the obligations of the Issuer by
a successor as provided in Section 11.1, such successor shall succeed to and be substituted for the Issuer, with the same effect as if it had been
named as a party hereto and as obligor under the Debt Securities and all such obligations of the Issuer shall terminate.  Such successor thereupon
may cause to be signed, and may issue either in its own name or in the name of Pan American Silver Corp., any or all of the Debt Securities
issuable under the Indenture and the other Series Specific Documents that theretofore shall not have been signed by the Issuer and delivered to
the Trustee; and, upon the order of such successor (instead of Pan American Silver Corp.) and subject to all terms, conditions and limitations in
this Indenture prescribed, the Trustee shall certify and deliver any Debt Securities that previously shall have been signed and delivered by
Responsible
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Officers of the Issuer to the Trustee for certification, and any Debt Securities that such successor thereafter shall cause to be signed and delivered
to the Trustee for that purpose.  All the Debt Securities so issued shall in all respects have the same legal rank and benefit under this Indenture as
the Debt Securities theretofore or thereafter issued in accordance with the terms of this Indenture as though all of such Debt Securities had been
issued at the date of the execution hereof.

In case of any such merger, consolidation, amalgamation, sale, transfer or lease, such changes in phraseology and form (but not in substance)
may be made in the Debt Securities thereafter to be issued as may be appropriate.

Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT - Form 424B2

195



11.3

Evidence to be Furnished to Trustee

The Trustee shall receive a Certificate of the Issuer as conclusive evidence that any such merger, consolidation, amalgamation, sale, transfer or
lease, and any such assumption, complies with the provisions of this Article 11.

ARTICLE 12
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES AND AMENDMENTS

12.1

Series Supplements

Without the consent of any Holders, but subject to the terms and conditions of this Indenture, the Issuer and the Trustee may, and Trustee shall,
upon the written request of the Issuer or when so directed by this Indenture, make, execute, acknowledge and deliver Series Supplements from
time to time establishing the Principal Terms of the Series which the Issuer wishes to be able to issue under this Indenture.

12.2

Supplemental Indentures

(a)

Without the consent of any Holders, the Issuer and the Trustee may, and the Trustee shall, upon the written request of the Issuer or when so
directed by this Indenture, make, execute, acknowledge and deliver deeds or indentures supplemental to this Indenture (provided that, for the
purpose of this Section, such deeds or indentures supplemental to this Indenture shall not include Series Supplements) (any such deed or
indenture is sometimes referred to herein as an "Indenture Amendment") for any one or more of the following purposes:

(i)

to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency, provided that the amendment to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency does not adversely
affect the rights of any Holder;

(ii)

to provide for the succession of another person to the Issuer, or successive successions, and the assumption by the successor person of the
covenants, agreements and obligations of the Issuer, in compliance with Article 11;

(iii)

giving effect to any Holder Direction or Special Holder Direction or any other direction from Holders permitted to be given under this Indenture,
and to any other Holder Action made, given to or taken by the Holders of one or more Series in accordance with this Indenture;
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(iv)

to provide for uncertificated Debt Securities in addition to or in place of certificated Debt Securities so long as such uncertificated Debt
Securities are in registered form for United States federal income tax purposes;

(v)

to add to the covenants, obligations or Events of Default of the Issuer hereunder or to surrender any right, power or option herein conferred upon
the Issuer;

(vi)

upon the advice of Counsel, to make any change to maintain the qualification of this Indenture under the TIA or to comply with any Canadian
federal or provincial Trust Indenture Legislation or any Applicable Law or applicable requirement of any Governmental Authority;

(vii)

to change or eliminate any provisions of this Indenture, provided that there are no Debt Securities outstanding under this Indenture at the time
when such change or elimination takes effect;

(viii)

to add a guarantor to guarantee the payment of any Series of Debt Securities; or

(ix)

make any other change that does not, based upon the advice of Counsel, adversely affect the rights of any Holder.

(b)

The Issuer and the Trustee may, and the Trustee shall upon written request of the Issuer or when so directed by this Indenture, in any such case
subject to the receipt of the consent thereto by the Holders of all Series which would be materially adversely affected, by a Holder Direction
from the Holders of all such Series, make, execute, acknowledge and deliver Indenture Amendments for any purpose that is not authorized by
Section 12.2(a) or by a Series Supplement; provided, however, that no such Indenture Amendment shall:

(i)

reduce the percentage of the unpaid principal amount of any Series whose Holders must consent to any amendment or waiver under this
Indenture or modify the provisions relating to such amendment or waiver;

(ii)

reduce the percentage specified in the definition of "Holder Direction" or "Special Holder Direction" or change the percentage of Holders
which may otherwise require any notice, information or action or effect any action under a Series Specific Document for any such Series;

(iii)

reduce in any manner the amount of, or change the currency of payment of, or delay the time of, any payments (whether of principal, premium,
interest or otherwise) to be made to the Holders of any such Series or deposits of amounts to be so paid;

(iv)

change the definition of or the manner of calculating amounts (including any change in the applicable rate or rates of interest) to which any
Holder of any such Series is entitled under this Indenture;

(v)
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make any change that adversely affects the redemption, conversion or exchange rights of Holders of any Series;

(vi)

make any change that would result in the issuer being required to make any deduction or withholding from payments to be made to Holders of
any Series; or
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(vii)

impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment with respect to any Series,

without in any such case the consent of the Holders of each such Series by way of a Special Holder Direction.  Any Indenture Amendment made
to this Indenture as a whole (as opposed to an Indenture Amendment to a Series Supplement only) made pursuant to this Section shall be deemed
to materially adversely affect all Series, other than any Series which an Opinion of Counsel for the Issuer, addressed and delivered to the Issuer
and the Trustee, states is not materially adversely affected thereby.  Any Indenture Amendment to any Series Supplement made pursuant to this
Section shall be deemed not to materially adversely affect the interest of any Holder of any other Series.  The Trustee may decline, in its
discretion, to enter into any Indenture Amendment which would adversely affect its own rights, duties or immunities under this Indenture or any
other Series Specific Document or otherwise.

(c)

It shall not be necessary for the consent of the Holders of any Series to approve the particular form of any proposed Indenture Amendment, but it
shall be sufficient if such consent shall approve the substance of such Indenture Amendment.  The manner of obtaining such consents and of
evidencing the authorization of the execution of such consents shall be subject to such reasonable requirements as the Trustee may prescribe
from time to time.

(d)

Any one of the purposes in Sections 12.2(a) and (b) and in any Series Supplement may from time to time be exercised independently or in
combination with one or more other such purposes and none of such purposes are exclusive of or dependent on any of the other purposes.

(e)

Every Indenture Amendment executed pursuant to this Section 12.2 shall comply with Trust Indenture Legislation as then in effect.

(f)

Any Series Supplement executed in accordance with this Indenture shall not be considered an Indenture Amendment for the purposes of
Sections 12.2(a) and (b) above.

ARTICLE 13
DEFEASANCE; SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE

13.1

Defeasance

If the related Series Supplement provides that a Series is defeasable, the following provisions shall apply:

(a)

Option for Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance.  The Issuer may elect at any time, by giving an Issuer Request to the Trustee, to apply the
provisions of Section 13.1(b) or (c) to such Series;

(b)

Defeasance.  The Issuer shall be discharged from its obligations with respect to such Series upon satisfaction of the applicable conditions set
forth in Section 13.1(d) (hereinafter called "Defeasance"). For this purpose, Defeasance means that the Issuer shall be deemed to have paid and
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discharged the entire indebtedness represented by all Debt Securities of such Series then Outstanding and to have satisfied all its other
obligations with respect to such Series, and the Trustee, at the expense of the Issuer, shall execute instruments acknowledging the same, subject
to the following which shall survive until otherwise terminated or discharged under this Indenture:
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(i)

the rights of Holders of such Series to receive, solely from the trust fund in Section 13.1(d), payments in respect of the principal of and any
premium, interest and other amounts on such Series when due;

(ii)

the Issuer's obligations with respect to such Series under Sections 2.5, 2.11 and 2.14 and Sections 5.1(b) and (c); and

(iii)

the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the Trustee under this Indenture.

The Issuer may exercise its option to apply this Section to a Series notwithstanding the prior exercise of its option to apply Section 13.1(c) to
such Series;

(c)

Covenant Defeasance.   The Issuer shall (i) be released from its obligations under its covenants (other than its covenant to pay the principal,
premium, interest and other amounts on the Debt Securities of such Series), and (ii) on the occurrence of any event specified in Section 6.1(b)
and in Section 6.1(c) (with respect to any of such covenants), be deemed not to be in Default, nor shall such release result in a Default or an
Event of Default with respect to such Series, upon satisfaction of the applicable conditions set forth in Section 13.1(d) (hereinafter called
"Covenant Defeasance").  For this purpose, Covenant Defeasance means that the Issuer may omit to comply with and shall have no liability in
respect of, any of the provisions of this Indenture and the related Series Supplement, whether directly or indirectly by reason of any reference
elsewhere in any Series Specific Document to any such provision, but the remainder of this Indenture (including the related Series Supplement)
and such Series Specific Documents shall be unaffected thereby;

(d)

Conditions.  The following shall be the conditions of the application of Section 13.1(b) or (c) to any Series:

(i)

At least 91 days prior to the time such Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance is to become effective, the Issuer shall have irrevocably deposited
with the Trustee, as specific security pledged for, and dedicated solely to, the due payment and ultimate satisfaction of all of the obligations of
the Issuer under this Indenture with respect to such Series, and free and clear of any lien:

(A)

funds in the currency or currencies in which such Series is payable and in an amount;
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(B)

direct obligations of, or obligations the payment of principal of and interest, if any, on which are fully guaranteed by, the government that issued
the currency or currencies in which such Series is payable, and that are not subject to prepayment, redemption or call, as will provide, money in
the currency or currencies in which such Series is payable and in an amount; or

(C)

any combination of money or direct or guaranteed obligations referred to in clause (B) above in the currency or currencies in which such Series
is payable and in an amount,

- 61 -

which would be, together with the certain and predetermined income to accrue thereon without consideration of any reinvestment thereof,
sufficient to pay and discharge, and which shall be applied by the Trustee to pay and discharge, the principal of and any premium, interest and
other amounts on such Series, on the respective Stated Maturities thereof, in accordance with the Principal Terms of such Series;

(ii)

The Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel stating that the Holders of such Series will not recognize income, gain or
loss for Canadian federal and provincial (and any other jurisdiction specified for such purpose in the related Series Supplement) income tax
purposes as a result of the Defeasance and will be subject to Canadian federal and provincial (and any other jurisdiction specified purpose in the
related Series Supplement) income tax on the same basis as would be the case if the Defeasance had not occurred;

(iii)

If such Series is listed on a securities exchange, the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that such
Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance will not cause such Series to be delisted;

(iv)

No Default or Event of Default with respect to such Series shall have occurred and be continuing at the time of the deposit under clause
13.1(d)(i);

(v)

Such Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance shall not result in a breach or violation of, the Indenture or any other material agreement or material
instrument to which the Issuer is a party or by which the Issuer is bound; and

(vi)

The Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee a Certificate of the Issuer and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that all conditions precedent to
such Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance have been satisfied;

(e)
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Holding and Payments.  All money and Canadian and U.S. Government Obligations (including all proceeds thereof) deposited with the Trustee
under Section 13.1(d)(i) in respect of a Series shall be held in trust and applied by the Trustee, in accordance with the provisions of this
Indenture, to the payment, either directly or through any related Registrar or Paying Agent (including the Issuer acting as its own Paying Agent)
as the Trustee may determine, to the Holders of such Series, of all sums due and to become due in respect of the principal of and any premium,
interest and other amounts on such Series, but money so held in trust need not be segregated from other funds of the Trustee unless required by
Applicable Law;

(f)

Indemnity.  The Issuer shall pay and indemnify the Trustee against any tax, fee or other charge imposed on or assessed against the Canadian or
U.S. Government Obligations deposited under Section 13.1(d)(i) or the principal and interest received in respect thereof, other than any such tax,
fee or other charge which by Applicable Law is for the account of the Holders of the applicable Series;

(g)

Return of Excess.  The Trustee shall deliver or pay to the Issuer from time to time upon Issuer Request any money or Canadian or U.S.
Government Obligations deposited with it under Section 13.1(d)(i) which, in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public
accountants expressed in a written certification thereof delivered to the Trustee, are in excess of the amount thereof which would then be
required to be deposited under Section 13.1(d)(i) to effect Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance, as the case may be, of the applicable Series;
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(h)

Reinstatement.  If the Trustee or the related Registrar or related Paying Agent is unable to apply any money in accordance with this Section by
reason of any order or judgment of a Governmental Authority enjoining, restraining or otherwise prohibiting such application, then the
indebtedness and obligations from which the Issuer was discharged or released as a result of the applicable Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance
shall be revived and reinstated as though no such deposit had been made, until such time as the application of such money is no longer enjoined,
restrained or otherwise prohibited.  During such period all money and Canadian or U.S. Government Obligations deposited with the Trustee
under Section 13.1(d)(i) with respect to the applicable Series shall be retained in trust by the Trustee, but the Trustee shall apply the same to
payment of the sums due and to become due on such Series as contemplated by Section 13.1(e); and

(i)

Repayment to the Issuer.  Subject to Applicable Law, the Trustee shall deliver to the Issuer upon Issuer Request any money and Canadian or
U.S. Government Obligation deposited with the Trustee under Section 13.1(d)(i) that remains unclaimed for six years after the Maturity of the
applicable Series. After such delivery to the Issuer, the Holders of such Series and of any related coupons, as general unsecured creditors, shall
look only to the Issuer for payment thereof.

13.2

Satisfaction and Discharge

Upon proof being given to the reasonable satisfaction of the Trustee that the principal of and all premium, interest and other amounts (if any) on
a Series has been paid or satisfied, and that all other claims (if any) of the Holders of such Series against the Issuer under the related Series
Specific Documents have been paid or satisfied, and upon payment of all costs, charges and expenses properly incurred by the Trustee with
respect to such Series, the Trustee shall, at the request and the expense of the Issuer, accompanied by a Certificate of the Issuer and Opinion of
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Counsel, each stating that all conditions precedent provided in this Indenture and the other Series Specific Documents for the satisfaction and
discharge of such Series have been complied with, execute and deliver to the Issuer such deeds and other instruments as shall be requisite to
evidence the satisfaction and discharge of such Series and the discharge and release of any Series Specific Security Interest with respect thereto.
 No Purchaser from the Issuer or its successors or assigns shall be obliged to inquire into the necessity, expediency, authority or regularity of or
for any deeds or other instruments of release or reconveyance delivered pursuant to this Section.

ARTICLE 14
GENERAL

14.1

Trust Indenture Legislation Controls

This Indenture is subject to the provisions of the Trust Indenture Legislation and shall, to the extent applicable, be governed by such provisions.
 Without limiting the foregoing, the Trustee and the Issuer each agree to comply with all provisions of the Trust Indenture Legislation applicable
to or binding upon each of them in connection with this Indenture.
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14.2

Binding Effect

All the covenants and agreements in this Indenture shall bind the successors and assigns of the parties hereto, whether or not so expressed.

14.3

Counterparts

This Indenture may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts together shall
constitute one and the same document.

IN WITNESS OF WHICH each of the Issuer and the Trustee has duly executed this Indenture as of the date first set forth above.

PAN AMERICAN SILVER CORP.

By: •
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Name:
Title:

•
•

By: •

Name:
Title:

•
•

By:     •

Name:
Title:

•
•
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